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45

571 XV

40

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHAN, Hoi-wan, aged 45, has been appointed as an Executive 

Director of the Company since 2017 and acts as the Chief Executive 

Officer of the Company since 2021. Ms. Chan is also the chairman of 

the investment committee of the Company. She also acts as a director 

of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chan had joined the then 

associate of the Group (the Company together with its subsidiaries, 

collectively the “Group”) from 2002 to 2005 and participated in its 

cosmetics business, including Two Girls products. Since 2016, she has 

been appointed as the director of trustee of The Joseph Lau Luen Hung 

Charitable Trust; she has also been appointed as Conservation Advocate 

of the Ocean Park Conservation Foundation Hong Kong (OPCFHK) since 

2022. She also possessed of more than 3.5 years’ work experience 

in media field in Hong Kong and gained experience in properties and 

securities investments through her investments. Ms. Chan is the elder sister 

of Ms. Chan, Lok-wan, the step-mother of Mr. Lau, Ming-wai and the sister-

in-law of Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai . As at the date of this annual report, Ms. 

Chan is a director of certain substantial shareholders of the Company within 

the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 

571 of the laws of Hong Kong).

Ms. CHAN, Lok-wan, aged 40, joined the Group in 2008 and has 

been appointed as an Executive Director of the Company since 2015. 

She is the Manager of Sales and Leasing Department. Ms. Chan is also a 

member of the investment committee of the Company and acts as the 

chief investment officer. She also acts as a director of certain subsidiaries 

of the Company. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Science in Business 

and Management (Marketing) from Brunel University London and a Master 

Degree of Science in Communication, Information and Society from The 

London School of Economics and Political Science. She is responsible for 

the Group’s marketing affairs, overseeing the Group’s cosmetics business, 

including Two Girls products, and participated in the Group’s properties’ 

sales and leasing businesses. Ms. Chan has over 16 years of experience in 

sales and marketing. She is the younger sister of Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan and 

the aunt of Mr. Lau, Ming-wai .
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS 

44

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. Longview 

Partners LP

(Chartered Financial Analyst)

71

66

National 

Electronics Holdings Limited

Far East Consortium International Limited

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAU, Ming-wai, aged 44, has been appointed as a Director of 

the Company since 2006 and appointed as the Chairman of the board 

of Directors since 2014. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws from 

King’s College London, a Master Degree of Laws from The London School 

of Economics and Political Science, and a Doctor Degree of Philosophy 

in Laws from King’s College London. He worked at The Goldman Sachs 

Group, Inc. and Longview Partners LP, both in London prior to joining the 

Group. Mr. Lau is a registered attorney in the State of New York and a CFA 

(Chartered Financial Analyst) charterholder. He is the step-son of Ms. Chan, 

Hoi-wan, and the nephew of Ms. Chan, Lok-wan and Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai .

Ms. Amy LAU, Yuk-wai, aged 71, has been appointed as a Non-

executive Director of the Company since 2004. Ms. Lau is also a non-

executive director of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited, the shares 

of this company were previously listed on the Main Board of The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and had withdrawn 

from listing with effect from 20 December 2022. She is a retired dentist. 

Ms. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Science and a Doctor Degree of Dental 

Surgery from the University of Toronto, Canada. She is the sister-in-law of 

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan and the aunt of Mr. Lau, Ming-wai .

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN, Kwok-wai, aged 66, has been appointed as an Independent 

Non-executive Director of the Company since 2004. He is the chairman 

of the audit committee and remuneration committee, and a member of 

the nomination committee and investment committee of the Company. 

Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration from the 

Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA Australia and a 

member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Chan 

has over 45 years of experience in finance and accounting industries. He 

is currently a director of High Progress Consultants Limited. Mr. Chan is 

also an independent non-executive director of Hing Yip Holdings Limited, 

National Electronics Holdings Limited and Tern Properties Company Limited 

respectively; and was an independent non-executive director of Far East 

Consortium International Limited for the period from 18 November 2005 

to 30 August 2022, the shares of all these companies are listed on the 

Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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67
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Holdings Limited

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
(Cont’d)

Mr. LEUNG, Yun-fai, aged 67, has been appointed as an Independent 

Non-executive Director of the Company since 2023. He is a member of 

the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee 

and investment committee of the Company. Mr. Leung holds a Degree 

of Bachelor of Business Administration, Finance and Accountancy from 

Newport University, United States of America. He is a member of the 

Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Leung has over 44 

years of experience in auditing, finance, accounting and corporate advisory 

industries, including 20 years audit experience at Kwan Wong Tan & Fong 

and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. He is currently a director of Safestyle 

Consulting Limited.

Mr. MA, Tsz-chun, aged 59, has been appointed as an Independent 

Non-executive Director of the Company since 2008. He is a member of 

the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and 

investment committee of the Company, and has been appointed as the 

chairman of the nomination committee of the Company since 12 June 

2024. Mr. Ma holds a Master Degree in Business Administration and a 

Master of Science Degree in E-Commerce (Business Programme), both 

from The Chinese University of Hong Kong as well as a Master of Science 

Degree in China Business Studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic 

University. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified 

Accountants in the United Kingdom and an associate member of Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma has over 37 years of 

experience in auditing, finance and accounting industries. He is currently 

a director and the general manager of Sino-Bridge China Consulting 

Limited. Mr. Ma is also an independent non-executive director of Lotus 

Horizon Holdings Limited and was an independent non-executive director 

of In Technical Productions Holdings Limited (now known as Brightstar 

Technology Group Co., Ltd) for the period from 19 May 2017 to 10 May 

2022, the shares of these companies are listed on the Main Board and the 

Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange respectively.
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PROFILES OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES

60

43

Ms. Rhoda CHAU, Yuen-fun, aged 60, first joined the Group (the 

Company together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) in 1993 

(thereafter left the Group for a short duration during 2009 and re-joined the 

Group in the same year) and is the Group Financial Controller. Ms. Chau 

holds a Master of Professional Accounting degree from The Hong Kong 

Polytechnic University. She is a fellow member of both of the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered 

Certified Accountants. Ms. Chau is responsible for the accounting, financial 

reporting and taxation affairs. She has over 35 years of experience in the 

fields of auditing, accounting, financial reporting and taxation. Ms. Chau also 

acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Simon CHEUNG, Sung-fung, aged 43, joined the Group in 2007 

and is the Head of Leasing Department. Mr. Cheung is a chartered 

surveyor. He holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) 

in Marketing from the City University of Hong Kong and a Master Degree 

of Science in Real Estate from The University of Hong Kong. He is also 

a member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Cheung 

is responsible for the real estate asset management. He has over 21 

years of relevant experience. Mr. Cheung also acts as a director of certain 

subsidiaries of the Company.

Various businesses and functions of the Company are significantly under 

the direct responsibilities of the Executive Directors who are also regarded 

as senior executives of the Company.
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I would like to present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”) to the 

shareholders of the Company.

RESULTS

Loss for the Year attributable to owners of the Company was HK$2,108.3 

million as compared to profit of HK$76.8 million for last year. The turning 

from profit to loss was mainly arising from decrease in fair value of 

investment properties during the Year. Loss per share for the Year was 

HK$1.11 (2023: earnings per share of HK$0.04).

If the net loss on the major non-cash items of HK$1,834.5 million (2023: 

net gain of HK$144.5 million) is excluded, but the accumulated realised fair 

value loss recognised in prior years on disposals of investment properties of 

HK$215.5 million (2023: accumulated realised fair value gain and related 

deferred tax of HK$0.5 million) is included, the Group will have a core loss 

for the Year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$489.3 million 

(2023: HK$67.2 million) and a core loss per share of HK$0.26 (2023: 

HK$0.04).

The major non-cash items represented the attributable net unrealised fair 

value loss on investment properties together with their respective deferred 

tax (if applicable) from the Group and its associates of HK$1,834.5 million 

(2023: net gain of HK$144.5 million).

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”) 

has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents per share 

(2023: nil) for the Year (the “Final Dividend”).

The Company did not declare any interim dividend for the six months 

ended 30 June 2024 (2023: nil). At present, we have maintained a 

healthy cash flow and have sufficient resources to support our ongoing 

operations. Having considered the Company’s dividend policy, the Board 

has recommended the payment of the Final Dividend of HK3 cents per 

share (2023: nil).

Despite the unrealised fair value loss on investment properties, our Group’s 

operating cash flow will not be affected. The overall financial and business 

position of the Group remains positive.

Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting of the Company to be held on 23 May 2025 (the “2025 AGM”), 

dividend warrants for the Final Dividend will be posted on or about 10 June 

2025 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of 

the Company on 30 May 2025.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 

183

17 1712 1716

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and vote 

at the 2025 AGM, and entitlement to the recommended Final Dividend, 

the register of members will be closed during the following periods 

respectively:

(1) For ascertaining eligibility to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM:

(1) 

Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration 19.5.2025

16:30  

Closure of register of members 20.5.2025–23.5.2025

(both days inclusive)  

(2) For ascertaining entitlement to the recommended Final Dividend:

(2) 

Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration 28.5.2025

16:30  

Closure of register of members 29.5.2025–30.5.2025

(both days inclusive)  

Record date 30.5.2025

  

To be eligible to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, and to qualify for 

the recommended Final Dividend, all properly completed share transfers 

documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 

for registration with the Company’s Branch Registrar and Transfer Office in 

Hong Kong, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, 

at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road 

East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than the respective latest time as stated 

above.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 

100

 

Fleet Street 120

CULTURE

With over 100 years of establishment, Chinese Estates instils a culture 

that emphasises on quality and strives for perfection in all aspects of its 

operations; innovation and creativity. Historically, the Group specialised in 

developing mid to high-end commercial and residential property projects 

and earned its reputation for place making its investment properties 

through redevelopment and renovation.

Directors play a leading role in promoting the Company’s desired culture. 

Management and employees instil the culture across the Group through 

different channels from time to time. The desired culture is developed 

and reflected consistently in the operating practices of the Group. The 

Company’s purpose, values and strategy align with the Company’s culture.

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND BUSINESS 
MODEL

The Group‘s core businesses comprise property investments for rental 

and property development as well as securities investments. Investment 

properties are primarily located in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom.

The Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong include retail and office 

assets. Most of the investment properties of the Group are highly accessible 

and strategically located in prime commercial areas and generate stable 

and recurrent rental income for the Group. The Group also participates in 

developing modern industrial properties in Hong Kong.

In the United Kingdom, all the Group’s commercial and residential 

properties are located in the prestigious areas. The Group aims at 

enhancing value and recurrent revenue of investment properties through 

conceptualising and implementing redevelopment, renovation works and 

repackaging programmes for properties as well as actively managing a 

balanced tenant mix for retail properties to achieve long-term sustainable 

growth. Through the redevelopment and revitalisation of its “120 Fleet 

Street” project, the Group strives to achieve exceptionally high standard of 

environmental sustainability and develop a business platform with art and 

commerce thriving in unison. In view of the pioneer design and the new 

feature of the redevelopment, the Group looks forward to attracting top 

grade international financial corporations and first tier professional firms to 

occupy the office floors.

Apart from the aforesaid, the Group has conducted variety of securities 

investment business, such as equity investments, debt investments and 

other treasury products, with the aim to yield enhancement for treasury 

management.

183

17 1712 1716
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PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND BUSINESS 
MODEL (Cont’d)

Meanwhile, the Group has been monitoring the property markets of Hong 

Kong and overseas closely, in order to capture investment opportunities at 

opportune times. The Group continues its strategy in quality partnerships 

with property developers or other parties to the extent commercially 

feasible and beneficial to the Group’s development.

The Group believes that the stable rental income from its investment 

properties, together with the property development and trading as well as 

securities investments, forms a diversified cash flow stream which allows 

the Group to weather the cyclicality of the real estate business.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hong Kong Property Investment and Development

As at 31 December 2024, the occupancy rate of the shops of Causeway 

Place in Causeway Bay was approximately 92.80%.

During the Year, the average occupancy rate of the office property, Harcourt 

House in Wanchai was approximately 71.56%. Together with the retail 

portion, the average occupancy rate of Harcourt House was approximately 

73.39% during the Year.

Nos. 14-18 Ma Kok Street is an industrial site in Tsuen Wan. It will be 

redeveloped into a 25-storey industrial building (including 2 basement 

levels for parking and loading/unloading facilities). Its total gross floor 

area is approximately 227,950 square feet. Construction of the new 

development is currently underway, with the main contract works 

(basement and superstructure) in progress. The new building is expected 

to be completed by the second quarter of 2025.

Nos. 86 and 88 Apliu Street is a 25-storey residential-cum-commercial 

building in Sham Shui Po. During the Year, ground floor retail portion was 

fully let while other floors were let to a non-governmental organisation to 

operate a youth hostel in the name of Joseph’s House under the “Youth 

Hostel Scheme – Subsidy Scheme for Using Hotels and Guesthouses as 

Youth Hostels” approved by the Government. Joseph’s House consists a 

total of 42 rooms with up to 84 hostel places.

No. 1 Hung To Road (33.33% interest), a 33-storey industrial building 

in Kwun Tong, the occupancy rate was approximately 99.44% as at 31 

December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(Cont’d)

Hong Kong Property Investment and Development (Cont’d)

Olympian City 3 (25% interest), the retail mall in The Hermitage residences 

in West Kowloon, the average occupancy rate was approximately 94.15% 

during the Year.

Coronation Circle (15% interest), the retail mall in The Coronation 

residences in West Kowloon, the average occupancy rate was approximately 

29.85% during the Year.

Grand Central (10% interest) is a joint venture development project of 

the Group in Kwun Tong awarded by the Urban Renewal Authority, with a 

total gross floor area of around 1,853,561 square feet. It comprises two 

phases with 4 residential tower blocks and provides 1,999 residential units 

in aggregate. As at 31 December 2024, all residential units of two phases 

were sold and completed.

Kai Tak Project (Kai Tak Area 2A Site 2 and Site 3) (10% interest) is a 

joint venture development project of the Group awarded by Government 

tender. Its total site area is approximately 145,303 square feet and its total 

gross floor area is around 992,279 square feet. It will be developed into a 

residential and retail development together with government, institution or 

community facilities. The development is expected to be completed by the 

fourth quarter of 2030.

Mainland China Property Investment

Hilton Beijing (50% interest), a five-star international hotel having 506 

rooms. 5th to 14th floors of the hotel main tower were pending for 

renovation. Therefore, as at 31 December 2024, there were 308 rooms 

available for rent and the occupancy rate was approximately 91.60%.

Oriental Place (50% interest), a 10-storey office building next to Hilton 

Beijing. As at 31 December 2024, the occupancy rate was approximately 

84.28%.
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Fleet Street 120 Fleet Street 116-
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Daily Express Building
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21
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(Cont’d)

Overseas Property Investment and Development

“120 Fleet Street” consists of a freehold office building known as River 

Court and the Grade II* listed Daily Express Building, situated at 116-129 

Fleet Street, London, United Kingdom. River Court will be redeveloped 

into a 21-storey high rise Grade A office led, mixed use building with 2 

basement levels, and is expected to comprise approximately 540,800 

square feet of office space and approximately 18,600 square feet of retail 

space and will be renamed as Evergo Tower, while Daily Express Building 

will be retained and refurbished.

“14 St George Street” is a freehold office building located in London, 

United Kingdom with total net internal area of around 51,861 square feet. 

Office accommodation is arranged over lower ground, ground and four 

upper floors. The Group disposed the company holding the property to an 

independent third party on 14 August 2024.

“61-67 Oxford Street and 11-14 Soho Street” is a mixed use freehold 

building located in London, United Kingdom, comprising approximately 

55,151 square feet in aggregate. The building provides retails, office and 

residential accommodation, occupying approximately 33,843 square feet, 

13,694 square feet and 7,614 square feet respectively, over lower ground, 

ground and six upper floors. As at 31 December 2024, it was fully let.

“11 and 12 St James’s Square and 14 to 17 Ormond Yard” is a mixed use 

freehold building located in London, United Kingdom. Its total net internal 

area is around 82,374 square feet. Office accommodation is arranged 

over lower ground, ground and six upper floors. The Group disposed the 

property to an independent third party on 19 December 2024.
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4,400,000

 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(Cont’d)

Securities Investment

The Group’s strategy is to maintain securities investment portfolio for 

treasury management. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s securities 

investment portfolio comprised of listed equity investments, bonds and 

treasury products. The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital 

are to safeguard the abilities of the entities in the Group to continue as a 

going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders of 

the Company. The Group’s strategy for future investments is to invest in a 

diversified portfolio to minimise risks with attractive yield, good liquidity and 

issuers from reputable entities, so as to maintain a healthy financial status 

and grasp every good investment chance.

The net loss recognised from securities investments and treasury products 

for the Year was approximately HK$4.4 million. Details of the performance 

of securities investments are disclosed in the “Financial Operation Review” 

of this annual report.

The Group will continue to closely monitor its portfolio of securities 

investment to achieve satisfactory returns.

OTHER INFORMATION

Resignation of Independent Non-executive Director and  

Change in Member of Board Committees

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping (“Ms. Loh”) resigned as an Independent Non-

executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination 

Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company respectively, 

and the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company with 

effect from 12 June 2024. In light of the resignation of Ms. Loh, the Board 

appointed Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun, an Independent Non-executive Director, as 

the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect 

from 12 June 2024. The Company had made relevant announcement on 

12 June 2024.

The Board currently comprised seven Directors with Independent Non-

executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board.
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Appleby Global Corporate Services 

(Bermuda) Limited Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, 

PO Box HM 1179, Hamilton HM EX, Bermuda

OTHER INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Disposal of a Subsidiary Holding a Property in the United Kingdom 

– Major Transaction

On 14 August 2024, the Group and an independent third party (the 

“Purchaser”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to 

the disposal of the entire issued share capital of an indirect wholly-owned 

subsidiary of the Company (the “Target Company”) that held the property 

located at 14 St George Street, London, United Kingdom, and repayment 

of bank debt and intra group debt by the Purchaser on behalf of the Target 

Company at a final consideration of GBP125,533,471.82 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$1,259.5 million) (the “Disposal”). Completion of the 

Disposal had been taken place immediately after signing of the sale and 

purchase agreement. The Disposal constituted a major transaction of 

the Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Details of the 

Disposal were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 15 August 

2024 and circular dated 17 September 2024.

Disposal of a Property in the United Kingdom  

– Major Transaction

On 19 December 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase 

agreement in relation to the disposal of the property located at 11 and 12 

St James’s Square and 14 to 17 Ormond Yard, London, United Kingdom 

to an independent third party at a consideration of GBP162,000,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$1,590.8 million) (the “St James’s Square 

Disposal”). Completion of the St James’s Square Disposal had been 

taken place on the date of signing of the sale and purchase agreement. 

The St James’s Square Disposal constituted a major transaction of the 

Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the St James’s Square Disposal 

were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 December 2024 

and circular dated 21 January 2025.

Change of Bermuda Principal Registrar and Transfer Office

As announced on 31 December 2024, the Company’s principal registrar 

and transfer office in Bermuda has been changed to Appleby Global 

Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited of Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, 

PO Box HM 1179, Hamilton HM EX, Bermuda with effect from 1 January 

2025.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 

(https://www.chineseestates.com)

investor.relations@chineseestates.com

investor.relations@chineseestates.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is cont inuously commit ted to mainta in ing good 

communication with shareholders, investors and analysts in order to ensure 

their thorough understanding of the Group’s strategies and business 

development, thereby enhancing transparency and investor relations.

The Company maintains a Company’s website (https://www.chineseestates.com) 

to make the Company’s information available on the internet, including the 

dissemination of statutory announcements and circulars etc., to facilitate its 

communication with shareholders and to provide important information to the 

investing public on corporate governance structure, policies and systems, profiles 

of the Directors and senior executives as well as terms of reference of Board 

committees.

The up-to-date information of the Group is avai lable for publ ic 

access on the Company’s website. The Company encourages its 

shareholders to take advantage of the Company’s website and 

welcomes suggestions from investors and shareholders, and invites 

them to share their views and suggestions by contacting the Company at 

investor.relations@chineseestates.com.

Shareholders can raise their enquiries to the Board or the company 

secretary of the Company in writing by sending such written enquiries 

to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at the address 

disclosed in “Corporate Information” of this annual report or by email at 

investor.relations@chineseestates.com. Shareholders also have right to raise 

questions at general meetings.

PROSPECTS

At the beginning of 2025, the global economic landscape exhibits signs 

of recovery and steady improvement. Despite new challenges such as the 

pace of United States interest rate cut, escalation of geopolitical tensions 

and trade conflicts under the new United States administration, as well 

as the growing impacts of climate change, over the past few years, major 

global economies, such as Mainland China, have built stronger resilience 

underpinning the economies’ trajectory.

Domestically, the Group has observed a promising increase in economic 

activity, which has been supported by various government policies. This 

improvement is partly attributed to a series of high-profile mega-events 

organised by the Government that have significantly boosted public 

engagement, resulting in an increase in local consumption, investment in 

real estate, and ultimately, benefiting the Group’s businesses. The public 

sector’s commitment to hosting global attractions is expected to further 

amplify consumption and investments and invigorate key sectors such as 

retail and food and beverage service, directly enhancing the profitability of 

our retail investment properties.
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PROSPECTS (Cont’d)

As interest rates decline gradually, property developers will accelerate 

the launching their project sales to sell off their stock and inventory. It is 

expected that the local residential property market sentiment will improve 

in 2025, while home prices will remain soft due to the ample supply.

Given the change in leadership, uncertainty surrounding new measures 

from the United Kingdom Government poses concerns for its economic 

landscape, which have, in turn, created compelling reasons for us to adopt 

a more asset light approach in the near future. Despite this, the Group will 

continue to monitor the challenges and capture investment opportunities at 

opportune times.

Looking to the future, the persistence of geopolitical tension and climate 

change risks are indeed expected to influence the global stage in the short 

to medium term. Nevertheless, with a trend toward decreasing interest 

rates initiated by the United States, we remain optimistic about the resultant 

positive stimulus on business and investment activities. It is anticipated 

that such dynamics may induce variability across different property sectors 

and segments. The Group steadfastly maintains its prudence in business 

planning and operational execution, ensuring that stakeholders’ values 

are both protected and enhanced. In parallel, we remain committed to 

integrating corporate social responsibilities into our business strategies, 

underpinning our long-term vision for sustainable success.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the 

shareholders for their continuing support. I would also like to express 

my sincere thanks to my fellow directors and all staff members for their 

dedication and hard work.

Lau, Ming-wai

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 February 2025
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RESULTS

Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 (“Year”) amounted to 

HK$336.8 million (2023: HK$479.6 million), a decrease of 29.8% over 

last year and comprised gross rental income of HK$204.6 million (2023: 

HK$257.2 million), gain on sales of investments held-for-trading on a net 

basis of HK$15.9 million (2023: HK$65.8 million), dividend income from 

listed and unlisted equity investments of HK$40.5 million (2023: HK$81.7 

million), interest income from bonds and structured products of HK$10.3 

million (2023: HK$9.1 million), building and property management 

services income of HK$52.0 million (2023: HK$51.7 million) and others 

of HK$13.5 million (2023: HK$14.1 million). The decrease in revenue 

was mainly due to decrease in (a) gross rental income of HK$52.6 million; 

(b) net gain on sales of investments held-for-trading of HK$49.9 million; 

and (c) dividend income from an investee company engages in property 

development and trading of HK$38.0 million for the Year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the Year amounted to HK$280.2 million (2023: HK$430.3 

million), a decrease of 34.9% as compared with last year which was also 

mainly due to decrease in (a) net rental income; (b) net gain on sales of 

investments held-for-trading; and (c) dividend income from an investee 

company for the Year.

Property Leasing

For property leasing, the rental revenue in non-retail section declined by 

29.1% to HK$138.3 million while retail section increased by 6.8% to 

HK$66.3 million during the Year. The total rental income in revenue for the 

Year recorded a decrease of 20.5% to HK$204.6 million as compared with 

last year of HK$257.2 million.

Together with the attributable rental revenue generated from associates 

and investee companies of HK$121.4 million (2023: HK$121.3 million), 

the total attributable rental revenue to the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively the “Group”) amounted to HK$326.0 mill ion (2023: 

HK$378.5 million), which represents a decrease of 13.9% over last year.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Property Leasing (Cont’d)

Attributable net rental income for the Year showed HK$269.2 million, a 

decrease of 16.7% over HK$323.1 million in last year.

The decline in attributable rental revenue and net rental income was mainly 

due to (a) disposal of a subsidiary holding 14 St George Street, London, 

United Kingdom in August 2024; (b) the decreased occupancy of the 

property located at 11 and 12 St James’s Square and 14 to 17 Ormond 

Yard, London, United Kingdom for upgrading works on part of the property, 

of which the property was disposed in December 2024; and (c) drop in 

rental income from office portion in Hong Kong.

Property Development and Trading

During the Year, the Group did not dispose of any trading property (2023: 

no disposal).

In respect of properties held by an investee company, sales of certain 

units and parking spaces of Grand Central in Kwun Tong (10% interest) 

were recorded by the investee company during the Year. Following the 

recognition of sales and profits by the investee company, the investee 

company declared dividend and hence dividend income from the investee 

company had contributed HK$38.0 million (2023: HK$76.0 million) to the 

Group’s revenue and results during the Year.

The Group’s investee company recorded an attributable sales of HK$12.4 

million (2023: HK$120.2 million) for the Year.

Securities Investments

The Group has in the ordinary and usual course of business conducted 

its securities investment activities, as at 31 December 2024, comprised 

listed equity investments, bonds and treasury products. During the Year, 

the net loss (excluding gain/loss recognised in financial assets measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) reserve) 

recognised from securities investments and treasury products representing 

net loss on investments and treasury products at fair value through profit or 

loss (“FVTPL”) of HK$4.4 million (2023: HK$22.2 million).
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Securities Investments (Cont’d)

Investments and Treasury Products at Fair Value Through Profit 

or Loss

During the Year, the Group disposed of listed investments held-for-trading 

and recognised a realised gain of HK$15.9 million (2023: HK$65.8 million) 

(the gains/losses of which was included in revenue) with gross proceeds of 

HK$118.3 million (2023: HK$617.3 million). In addition, realised gain on 

bonds of HK$1.5 million (2023: realised loss HK$5.9 million) and realised 

loss on derivative financial instruments of HK$1.8 million (2023: realised 

loss on structured products and derivative financial instruments of HK$0.6 

million) were recorded during the Year.

During the Year, the Group recorded an unrealised loss of HK$33.0 million 

(2023: HK$95.8 million) representing the changes in fair value of listed 

equity investments, bonds and derivative financial instruments, comprised 

unrealised loss on listed investments held-for-trading of HK$20.5 million 

(2023: HK$29.8 million), unrealised loss on bonds of HK$12.6 million 

(2023: HK$65.9 million) and unrealised gain on derivative financial 

instruments of HK$0.1 million (2023: unrealised loss of HK$0.1 million), 

which had no effect on the cash flow of the Group.

During the Year, interest income from bonds (which were included in 

revenue) of HK$10.3 million (2023: from bonds of HK$8.8 million 

and structured products of HK$0.3 million). Together with dividend 

income from listed equity investments at FVTPL (which were included in 

revenue) of HK$2.5 million (2023: HK$5.1 million), the Group recognised 

interest/dividend income from investments and treasury products at FVTPL 

of HK$12.8 million (2023: HK$14.2 million) for the Year.

Summing up the realised and unrealised gain/loss and adding the net 

income from net dividend income, interest income and other investment 

income/expenses of HK$13.0 million (2023: HK$14.3 million), the net 

loss recognised from securities investments and treasury products was 

HK$4.4 million (2023: HK$22.2 million) for the Year.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Other Income and Expenses

During the Year, the Group recorded other income of HK$25.8 million 

(2023: HK$24.9 million).

During the Year, administrative expenses increased by 4.3% to HK$348.2 

million (2023: HK$333.9 million). Finance costs decreased by 4.5% to 

HK$213.4 million (2023: HK$223.4 million) during the Year.

Other gains and losses recorded a net loss of HK$110.5 million mainly 

comprised loss on disposal of the entire issued share capital of State 

Smart Limited (“State Smart”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company (“State Smart Disposal”) of HK$100.1 million for the Year (2023: 

net gain of HK$6.6 million mainly comprised reversal of allowance for credit 

loss recognised in respect of advance to an associate of HK$7.4 million).

Major Disposals

Disposal of a Subsidiary

On 14 August 2024, Capital Castle Global Limited (“Capital Castle”), an 

indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and Oval Gymkhana 

Holdco Limited (“Oval”), which is an independent third party, entered into 

a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Capital Castle agreed 

to sell and Oval agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital of State 

Smart. At the time of disposal, State Smart held the property located at 

14 St George Street, London, United Kingdom. Completion of the State 

Smart Disposal took place immediately after signing of the sale and 

purchase agreement. At completion, Oval repaid on behalf of State Smart 

its bank debt (including principal, interest and related fees) equivalent 

to approximately HK$230.0 million and amount due to the Group 

equivalent to approximately HK$967.3 million to its respective creditors. 

The consideration for sale share amounted to equivalent to approximately 

HK$62.2 million. Upon completion, State Smart ceased to be a subsidiary 

of the Company and its financial results, assets and liabilities were ceased 

to be consolidated with those of the Group. The Group recorded a loss on 

the State Smart Disposal of HK$100.1 million and an other comprehensive 

income in respect of reclassification adjustment related to foreign operation 

disposed of HK$98.2 million. As a result, the Group recorded a net loss of 

HK$1.9 million in total comprehensive expenses for the Year.

Details of the State Smart Disposal were set out in the announcement 

of the Company dated 15 August 2024 and the circular of the Company 

dated 17 September 2024.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Major Disposals (Cont’d)

Disposal of a Property

On 19 December 2024, KNIGHTLIGHTS PROPERTY INTERNATIONAL S.A., 

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale 

and purchase agreement in relation to the disposal of the property located 

at 11 and 12 St James’s Square and 14 to 17 Ormond Yard, London, 

United Kingdom to an independent third party at a consideration of Pound 

Sterling (“GBP”)162.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,590.8 

million) (“St James’s Square Disposal”). The Group recorded a realised 

loss on fair value changes of investment property and impairment loss 

of land and building of HK$104.1 million. Completion of the St James’s 

Square Disposal took place on the date of signing of the sale and purchase 

agreement.

Detai ls of the St James’s Square Disposal were set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 19 December 2024 and the circular 

of the Company dated 21 January 2025.

Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method

The share of results of investments accounted for using the equity method 

for the Year recorded a loss from the share of results of associates of 

HK$111.2 million (2023: profit of HK$296.3 million). The turning from 

profit to loss on share of results of associates was mainly due to fair value 

changes of investment properties held by associates turned from gain to 

loss during the Year.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

Investment properties of the Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China were 

revalued at 31 December 2024 by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak 

Vision Appraisals”) whereas investment properties in the United Kingdom 

were revalued by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited (“LCH (Asia-

Pacific)”). Peak Vision Appraisals and LCH (Asia-Pacific) are independent 

qualified professional property valuers. An unrealised loss and realised 

loss on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$1,654.7 million 

(2023: HK$31.0 million) and HK$77.1 million (2023: nil) respectively 

were recorded during the Year. The unrealised fair value change is a non-

cash item and will not affect the cash flow of the Group.



 

24 CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FINANCIAL OPERATION REVIEW 

 

2,108,300,000

76,800,000

1.11 0.04

(i)

(ii)

1,834,500,000

144,500,000

215,500,000

500,000

489,300,000 67,200,000

0.26 0.04

1,834,500,000

144,500,000
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REPURCHASE AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 
EXPENSES/INCOME

Loss/Profit

Loss for the Year attributable to owners of the Company was HK$2,108.3 

million as compared to profit of HK$76.8 million for last year. The turning 

from profit to loss was mainly arising from decrease in fair value of 

investment properties during the Year. Loss per share for the Year was 

HK$1.11 (2023: earnings per share of HK$0.04).

Core Loss

Core profit/loss is a non-Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(“HKFRS”) measure, is arrived at by adding (i) reported profit/loss 

excluding unrealised fair value changes of investment properties and other 

properties together with their respective deferred tax (if applicable) during 

the Year; and (ii) accumulated realised fair value changes of investment 

properties and other properties together with their respective deferred 

tax (if applicable) recognised in prior years. The Group believes that the 

presentation of non-HKFRS measure facilitates comparisons of operating 

performance from period to period by eliminating potential impact of 

certain items.

If the net loss on the major non-cash items of HK$1,834.5 million (2023: 

net gain of HK$144.5 million) is excluded, but the accumulated realised fair 

value loss recognised in prior years on disposals of investment properties of 

HK$215.5 million (2023: accumulated realised fair value gain and related 

deferred tax of HK$0.5 million) is included, the Group will have a core loss 

for the Year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$489.3 million 

(2023: HK$67.2 million) and a core loss per share of HK$0.26 (2023: 

HK$0.04).

The major non-cash items represented the attributable net unrealised fair 

value loss on investment properties together with their respective deferred 

tax (if applicable) from the Group and its associates of HK$1,834.5 million 

(2023: net gain of HK$144.5 million).
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Dividends

No dividend was paid during the Year (2023: nil).

A final dividend of HK3 cents per share (2023: nil) for the Year has been 

recommended.

Repurchase

During the Year, the Company had not repurchased any of the Company’s 

share.

Total Comprehensive Expenses/Income

Total comprehensive expenses for the Year attributable to owners of the 

Company was HK$2,144.8 million or HK$1.12 per share (2023: total 

comprehensive income of HK$227.5 million or HK$0.12 per share), 

which comprised (a) loss for the Year attributable to owners of the 

Company of HK$2,108.3 million (2023: profit of HK$76.8 million); and 

(b) other comprehensive expenses for the Year attributable to owners of 

the Company of HK$36.5 million (2023: other comprehensive income 

of HK$150.6 million) which mainly included (i) GBP exchange loss of 

foreign operations of HK$73.4 million (2023: exchange gain of HK$284.6 

million); (ii) unrealised loss of HK$34.4 million (2023: HK$49.7 million) 

on fair value change of an unlisted equity security at FVTOCI as a result of 

the decrease in the carrying amount of the unlisted equity security by the 

corresponding amount upon declaration of dividend of HK$38.0 million 

(2023: HK$76.0 million) (as disclosed in the sub-paragraph headed 

“Property Development and Trading” of paragraph headed “Results” 

above); despite of (iii) reclassification adjustment related to foreign 

operation disposed of recognised as other comprehensive income of 

HK$98.2 million (2023: nil).



 

26 CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FINANCIAL OPERATION REVIEW 

12,066,700,000

14,211,500,000

2,144,800,000 15.1%

1,907,619,079

6.33 7.45

2,144,800,000

Fleet Street 

120

41

St George Street 14

St James’s Square 

11 12 Ormond Yard 14 17

365,700,000 342,400,000

2.3% 1.8%

NET ASSET VALUE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net asset value attributable to 

owners of the Company amounted to HK$12,066.7 million (2023: 

HK$14,211.5 million), a decrease of HK$2,144.8 million or 15.1% when 

compared with 31 December 2023. With the total number of ordinary 

shares in issue of 1,907,619,079 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, 

the net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company was 

HK$6.33 (2023: HK$7.45). The movement in net asset value represented 

total comprehensive expenses for the Year attributable to owners of the 

Company of HK$2,144.8 million.

In view of the redevelopment plan of properties in Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong 

and “120 Fleet Street” in London, United Kingdom, certain redevelopment 

expenditures which have been authorised and contracted for have been 

disclosed in “Capital Commitments” in Note 41 to the consolidated 

financial statements. Going forward, further investment in capital 

expenditures for these two redevelopment properties are planned.

Other than disposal of a subsidiary holding 14 St George Street, London, 

United Kingdom and disposal of a property located at 11 and 12 St James’s 

Square and 14 to 17 Ormond Yard, London, United Kingdom (as disclosed 

in paragraph headed “Other Information” in the section headed “Chairman’s 

Statement” of this annual report), the existing projects and those disclosed 

in the final results, the Group did not have material acquisition or disposal 

of assets and any future plans for material investment or capital assets.

SECURITIES INVESTMENTS

The Group’s strategy is to maintain securities investment portfolio for 

treasury management and invest in securities investments and treasury 

products with attractive yield and good prospect in order to bring stable and 

satisfactory realised return in long run.

Securities Investments and Treasury Products

As at 31 December 2024, the portfolio of securities investments and 

treasury products of HK$365.7 mill ion (2023: HK$342.4 mill ion) 

comprised listed investments held-for-trading, bonds and derivative 

financial instruments (presented as financial assets/liabilities measured 

at FVTPL (non-current and current assets/liabilities)), representing 2.3% 

(2023: 1.8%) of total assets.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established adequate risk management procedures that 

enable it to identify, measure, monitor and control various types of risk it 

faces. This is supplemented by active management involvement, effective 

internal controls and adequate internal audit in the best interests of the 

Group.

EQUITY

The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 

were 1,907,619,079.

DEBT AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a strong financial position, the 

Group had cash and deposits at banks of HK$2,779.5 million (2023: 

HK$745.1 million), comprised unpledged cash and deposits HK$1,742.3 

million (2023: HK$592.2 million) and pledged deposits of HK$1,037.2 

million (2023: HK$152.9 million). After netting off the total debt of 

HK$2,967.2 million (2023: HK$3,933.8 million), comprised bank and 

other borrowings of HK$2,928.5 million (2023: HK$3,851.8 million) and 

lease liabilities of HK$38.7 million (2023: HK$82.0 million), the net debt 

(including lease liabilities) amounted to HK$187.7 million, a decrease 

of HK$3,001.0 million when compared with 31 December 2023 of 

HK$3,188.7 million.

Total debt to equity ratio (including lease liabilities) was 24.5% (2023: 

27.6%) and net debt to equity ratio (including lease liabilities) was 1.6% 

(2023: 22.4%), which are expressed as a percentage of total debt, and 

net debt, respectively, over the total equity of HK$12,090.7 million (2023: 

HK$14,235.1 million). The net debt to equity ratio decreased significantly 

was mainly due to decrease in net debt as a result of significant increase in 

cash and deposits at banks.
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DEBT AND GEARING (Cont’d)

If the securities investments and treasury products of HK$365.7 million 

(2023: HK$342.4 million) are included, there would be a net cash position 

of HK$178.0 million (2023: net debt of HK$2,846.3 million and net debt 

to equity ratio of 20.0%).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank and other borrowings of 

HK$2,928.5 million, 56.5%, 30.5% and 13.0% were on demand and/or 

repayable within 1 year, more than 1 year but within 2 years and more 

than 2 years but within 5 years respectively. Of which the Group’s bank and 

other borrowings were denominated in HK$ (83.4%) and GBP (16.6%). 

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were 

carried at interest rates calculated with reference to cost of funds, Hong 

Kong Interbank Offered Rate or compounded reference rate and all the 

Group’s bank and other borrowings were on floating rate basis. No hedging 

for interest rate is subsisted at the end of the reporting period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had pledged the following assets with 

their respective carrying amounts:

(a) The Group’s investment properties of HK$4,054.5 million (2023: 

HK$9,281.6 million), bank deposits of HK$112.3 million (2023: 

HK$152.9 million) and properties of nil (2023: HK$40.3 million) 

were pledged to the banks to secure general banking facilities 

granted to the Group.

(b) The Group’s bonds and listed equity investments at FVTPL with 

carrying amounts of HK$231.7 million (2023: nil) and cash deposits 

of HK$924.9 million (2023: nil) were pledged to a financial 

institution to secure margin facility granted to the Group.

(c) Interests in certain subsidiaries of the Company have been pledged 

as part of the security to secure certain bank borrowings granted to 

the Group.
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FINANCIAL AND INTEREST INCOME/EXPENSES

Interest income was included in revenue and investment income 

(expenses), net. Interest income for the Year increased to HK$68.1 million 

(2023: HK$46.4 million), representing an increase of 46.8% as compared 

with last year which was mainly due to increase in interest income from 

bank deposits as a result of the increase in bank deposits during the Year.

Finance costs included interest expenses on bank and other borrowings 

and lease liabilities; exchange difference on translation of foreign 

currency borrowings; and arrangement fee and facility and commitment 

fee expenses. Interest expenses (excluding interest expenses on lease 

liabilities) for the Year amounted to HK$202.9 million, representing a 

decrease of 7.0% over last year of HK$218.1 million. Interest capitalised 

for the Year was HK$21.5 million (2023: HK$11.0 million). The average 

interest rate over the year under review was 6.09% (2023: 5.93%), which 

was expressed as a percentage of total interest paid (excluding interest on 

lease liabilities) over the average total interest-bearing borrowings.

REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 476 staff (2023: 

495 staff) including about 241 staff (2023: 249 staff) employed under the 

estate management company in Hong Kong and 8 staff (2023: 9 staff) in 

the United Kingdom.

Employees were remunerated on the basis of their performance, 

experience and prevailing industry practice. Remuneration packages 

comprised salary and year-end discretionary bonus based on market 

conditions and individual performance. The executive directors of the 

Company continued to review employees’ contributions and to provide 

them with necessary incentives and flexibility for their better commitment 

and performance.
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UNITED KINGDOM AND MAINLAND CHINA

During the Year, the Group disposed two investment properties in the 

United Kingdom in August 2024 and December 2024. As at 31 December 

2024, the Group’s investment properties in the United Kingdom amounted 

to GBP395.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$3,856.9 million) 

(2023: GBP705.4 million (equivalent to approximately HK$7,023.7 

million) (excluding properties occupied for own use)). During the Year, the 

Group incurred a net loss of HK$412.5 million (2023: HK$297.6 million) 

in respect of its business in the United Kingdom, the loss mainly included 

in gross profit, other income, fair value changes on investment properties, 

administrative expenses, finance costs and taxation. Due to depreciation of 

GBP against HK$ during the Year, GBP exchange loss of foreign operations 

included in other comprehensive expenses for the Year amounted to 

HK$73.4 million (2023: exchange gain of HK$284.6 million). As at 

31 December 2024, the Group’s net investment in the United Kingdom 

amounted to HK$3,401.8 million (2023: HK$5,517.3 million) representing 

28.1% (2023: 38.8%) of the Group’s total equity.

In addition, upon completion of the State Smart Disposal, the Group 

recorded a loss on the State Smart Disposal of HK$100.1 million and an 

other comprehensive income in respect of reclassification adjustment 

related to foreign operation disposed of HK$98.2 million (as disclosed in 

the sub-paragraph headed “Total Comprehensive Expenses/Income” of 

paragraph headed “Loss/Profit, Core Loss, Dividends, Repurchase and Total 

Comprehensive Expenses/Income” above). As a result, the Group recorded 

a net loss of HK$1.9 million in total comprehensive expenses for the Year.

Loss incurred by the Group’s investment in Mainland China (mainly 

included in gross profit, fair value changes on investment properties, 

administrative expenses, share of results of investments accounted 

for using the equity method and taxation) for the Year amounted to 

HK$3.6 million (2023: profit of HK$156.9 million). Due to depreciation 

of Renminbi (“RMB”) against HK$ during the Year, RMB exchange loss 

of foreign operations included in other comprehensive expenses for the 

Year amounted to HK$9.7 million (2023: HK$4.0 million). The Group’s 

net investment in Mainland China as at 31 December 2024 amounted to 

HK$345.0 million (2023: HK$352.5 million) representing 2.9% (2023: 

2.5%) of the Group’s total equity.
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PROPERTY VALUATION

Property valuations in respect of the Group’s investment properties in 

Hong Kong and Mainland China were carried out by Peak Vision Appraisals 

for both 31 December 2024 and 2023, whereas property valuations of 

investment properties in the United Kingdom were carried out by LCH 

(Asia-Pacific) as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Moore Transaction Services 

Limited), all are independent qualified professional property valuers. The 

valuations were based on investment method and/or direct comparison 

method and/or residual method as the valuation methodologies and were 

used in preparing 2024 final results.

The Group’s investment properties were valued at HK$9,719.2 million 

(2023: HK$13,957.7 million), a decrease of 14.6% over 2023 after 

adjusted for the additions, disposals and exchange adjustments of 

investment properties during the Year. The unrealised fair value loss of 

HK$1,654.7 million was recognised in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income for the Year. The Group also shared unrealised fair 

value loss of investment properties of associates of HK$179.8 million for 

the Year.

The unrealised fair value loss of HK$1,654.7 million was mainly derived 

from the decrease in fair value of properties located in Hong Kong. The 

unrealised fair value change is a non-cash item and will not affect the cash 

flow of the Group.
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MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

As one of the principal activities of the Group, the Group conducted its 

money lending business through its wholly-owned subsidiary (the “Money 

Lending Subsidiary”), to grant loans to individuals and corporations in return 

for interest income. The Money Lending Subsidiary has either maintained a 

valid money lenders licence granted by the Licensing Court or made loans 

which are exempted under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Cap. 163) (the 

“MLO”). The licensing of money lenders and regulation of money-lending 

transactions are governed by the MLO. The Group is required to and has, 

at all times, strictly complied with all relevant laws and regulations including 

the MLO, Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-

Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money Lenders as well 

as Guidelines on Licensing Conditions of Money Lenders Licence issued 

by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong in conduct of money lending 

business. The Group has followed all forms and procedures prescribed 

under the provisions of the MLO when making relevant application for the 

renewal of money lenders licence and conducting money lending business.

During the Year, the Group has no money lending transaction transacted 

(2023: nil) and no loan outstanding as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

The Group has put in place procedural manual on money lending 

business which sets out policies and procedures including (a) customer 

due diligence check and reporting suspicious transactions; (b) ongoing 

monitoring of existing borrower; (c) loan drawdown control; (d) loan 

repayment control; (e) record keeping; and (f) staff training.

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending 

business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and 

regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and the potential 

borrower’s assets, the credibility, the necessity in obtaining collaterals 

and determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the risk level of the 

provision of loan. The Group has adopted various commercial terms for 

granting loan facilities to its potential borrowers, such commercial terms 

will depend on the credit assessment and/or collateral level of particular 

borrower. Where collaterals are required, such loans are generally secured 

by properties by first or second mortgages, equitable mortgages or other 

assets as collaterals.
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MONEY LENDING BUSINESS (Cont’d)

Under the Group’s current credit policy, unless otherwise approved by the 

directors of the Company under special circumstances (i) no loan, whether 

secured or unsecured, shall be granted by the Group that exceeds the 

maximum loan amount preset by the Group, (ii) for secured loans, the 

loan to collateral value ratios shall not exceed 90% and the tenor shall 

not exceed 30 years, and (iii) for unsecured loans, they should meet the 

requirement that the debt to income ratio of a borrower shall not exceed 

70% and the tenor shall not exceed 36 months.

The Group will only provide money lending services and grant loan facilities 

to a relevant borrower after the borrower has passed the Group’s due 

diligence process and other applicable internal control procedures. Due 

diligence performed by the Group generally involves know your client 

procedures including obtaining information as to source and amount of 

income, proof of other net assets, identity document copy and address 

proof.

Most of the potential borrowers of the Group’s money lending services are 

the Group’s potential customers interested in acquiring properties sold by 

the Group who during commercial negotiation with the Group has indicated 

that they will require financing arrangements in purchasing the properties.

For ongoing monitoring of the loan performance and their risk levels, 

the Group will closely monitor the status of interest and loan principal 

collections and perform annual valuation of the collaterals held by the 

Group to assess the recoverability of the loans granted by the Group.

There is also internal audit function within the Group to examine the 

operation of money lending business to ensure proper procedures and 

control are implemented, and reported the result of the audit to the audit 

committee of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) and management of 

the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are committed to 

principles of good corporate governance so as to safeguard the interests of 

shareholders and enhance value to the shareholders.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the Company 

had applied the principles and complied with substantial code provisions 

(the “Code Provisions”) and certain recommended best practices set out in 

the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 

C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

CULTURE

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy aligned with the Company’s 

culture. Directors play a leading role in promoting the Company’s 

desired culture. Management and employees instil the culture across 

the Group through different channels from time to time. The desired 

culture is developed and reflected consistently in the operating practices 

of the Group. Description of the Company’s culture can be found in the 

“Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprised two Executive Directors (“ED(s)”), two 

Non-executive Directors (“NED(s)”) and three Independent Non-executive 

Directors (“INED(s)”), with INEDs representing more than one-third of the 

Board. Names of each member of the Board are set out in this “Corporate 

Governance Report”. Changes of the composition of the Board during the 

Year are set out in the “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

During the Year, Mr. Lau, Ming-wai acted as the Chairman of the Board (the 

“Chairman”) and Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan acted as the Chief Executive Officer 

(“CEO”).

“List of Directors and their Role and Function” has been maintained at 

the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Directors’ 

biographies and the relationship among the Board members, if any, are 

set out in the “Profiles of Directors” of this annual report and available on 

the Company’s website. Save as disclosed in such profiles, there is no 

financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship among the 

Directors.
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Responsibilities of Directors

The NEDs and INEDs with diversified expertise, skills and experience play 

an important role on formulating strategy and ensuring that the Board 

maintains high standards of corporate governance as well as taking the lead 

where potential conflict of interests arises. INEDs bring strong independent 

judgment, knowledge and experience to the Board.

On monthly basis, senior management provides the Directors with 

operational and financial reports of the Group’s performance, position and 

prospects. All Directors are kept informed of and duly briefed of major 

changes and information that may affect the Group’s businesses in a timely 

manner.

Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional advice 

in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged 

to access and consult with the Company’s senior management or the 

company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) independently.

Directors had provided their annual confirmation to confirm they were able 

to devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities to the Board.

Retirement by Rotation and Specific Term of Office

The Company’s Bye-laws provides that no Director (save for the executive 

chairman and any managing director) shall hold office for a continuous 

period in excess of three years, or past the third annual general meeting, 

following the Directors’ appointment or re-election, whichever is longer, 

without submitting himself/herself for re-election by the shareholders at 

the annual general meetings. Accordingly, Directors shall retire by rotation 

at least once every three years and a specific term of office has been fixed 

for appointment of Directors. During the Year, there was no executive 

chairman or managing director in the Board.
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Board Meetings

The Board met regularly throughout the Year to discuss the overall strategy, 

the operational and financial performance of the Group. Four regular Board 

meetings were held during the Year. Advance notices of not less than 

fourteen days were served upon each Director for regular Board meetings. 

Agenda and accompanying Board papers were sent to Directors in a timely 

manner and at least three days before the meetings (or such other period 

as agreed). Adequate explanation and information were provided to the 

Directors by the management to facilitate the Directors in decision-making. 

Each Director has to declare his/her interest and abstain from voting on 

any resolution in which he/she or any of his/her associate has a material 

interest in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing 

Rules.

The agenda of each Board meeting is set by the Chairman in consultation 

with members of the Board such that they are given an opportunity to 

include agenda items. Draft and executed Board minutes were sent in 

good time to all Directors for their comments and records. Minutes of the 

Board meetings recorded in sufficient details were kept by the Company 

Secretary.

Board and Management Functions

The functions reserved to the Board are basically provided in the Bye-

laws of the Company and the Board from time to time delegates certain 

functions to senior management whenever required. In short, the Board 

has reserved for its decision on matters relating to the Group’s strategy, 

major acquisitions and disposals, major capital expenditure, annual and 

interim results, Directors’ appointment and other significant financial and 

operational issues.

On top of daily business operation, senior management is responsible for 

the preparation of annual and interim consolidated financial statements 

for the Board’s approval, execution of business strategies and initiatives 

adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate system of internal 

control and sound risk management practices and is required to report to 

the Board and obtain its prior approval on important matters at all times. 

Notwithstanding the delegation, the Directors acknowledge that it is the 

responsibility of the Board for preparing the financial statements, which give 

a true and fair view of the financial results of the Group.
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Board Independence

As part of the established governance framework, the Company has in 

place mechanisms that underpin a strong independent Board and that 

independent views and input from Directors are conveyed to the Board. 

The governance framework and mechanisms are kept under regular review 

to ensuring their effectiveness.

The composition of the Board (more than one-third of the members were 

INEDs), the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration 

Committee (collectively the “Board Committees”) (all of the members 

were INEDs) exceeded the independence requirements under the Listing 

Rules during the Year. The Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and 

Remuneration Committee were chaired by INED. The Company’s selection, 

nomination and appointment/re-appointment process for Directors 

(including INEDs) is set out in this “Corporate Governance Report”. The 

Directors’ fees of INEDs were subject to annual assessment with reference 

to their duties and responsibilities and the prevailing market conditions 

as appropriate. None of the INEDs receives remuneration based on 

performance of the Group.

In performing their duties, Directors (including INEDs) could consult 

independent professional advice as and when required and to access the 

Company’s senior management or the Company Secretary independently. 

Management updates and all material information on performance, key 

activities and projects were given to the Directors to facilitate decision-

making. For Board and Board Committees meetings, proper meeting 

arrangements and procedures were in place to facilitate open, constructive, 

informed discussions and thoughtful consideration of relevant issues.

The INEDs have historically and consistently demonstrated strong 

commitment, and the ability to devote sufficient time to discharge 

their responsibilities at the Board. Their commitment is subject to self-

confirmation each year. The Board has received from each INED a 

written annual confirmation of his/her independence and satisfied that 

the independence of INEDs up to the date of this annual report is in 

accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Board has conducted an annual review in December 2024 and 

considered the existing mechanism to ensure Directors’ independent view 

and input are available to the Board was effective and adequate during the 

Year.
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Directors’ Training and Support

The Company encourages its Directors to possess up-to-date knowledge 

in order to discharge their duties. Information regarding major changes in 

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Listing Rules as well as other 

laws/rules/regulations had been provided to the Directors.

During the Year, the Company has arranged a training session for the 

Directors regarding “Consultation Paper on Corporate Governance Code 

Enhancements, New Treasury Share Regime, and Market Update for 

Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Requirements”. The 

training was delivered by professionals. Meanwhile, Directors had provided 

their record of trainings to the Company. The Board considered the 

trainings attended by the Directors are sufficient to discharge their duties. 

A summary of the trainings attended by the Directors during the Year is as 

follows:

Training Matters 

Name of Directors

Corporate 

Governance

Regulatory/

Legal

Accounting/

Tax/

Finance

Business/

Economic/

Management

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan

Ms. Chan, Lok-wan

a

b

a

b

–

–

b

b

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

b

a

b

a

–

–

b

b

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai

Mr. Leung, Yun-fai

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping*

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun

*

a & b

a

b

a & b

a & b

a

b

a & b

a & b

a

–

a & b

b

b

b

b

Notes:

Training Method
a: attending seminar/webinar/virtual conference/course
b: self-reading

* Resigned on 12 June 2024

a  
b  

* 
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee 

and Nomination Committee with clear written terms of reference which 

are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. Details 

of the respective committee’s terms of reference are available at the 

Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites. All the INEDs, i.e. Mr. 

Chan, Kwok-wai, Mr. Leung, Yun-fai, Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping (up to 12 

June 2024) and Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun are members of the Board Committees 

with Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai acts as chairman of the Audit Committee and 

the Remuneration Committee while Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping acts as 

chairman of the Nomination Committee up to 12 June 2024 and Mr. Ma, 

Tsz-chun acts as chairman of the Nomination Committee since 12 June 

2024. The members of Audit Committee possess appropriate professional 

qualifications, accounting or related financial management expertise, which 

is higher than the Listing Rules’ requirement.

Agenda and accompanying meeting papers were sent to the members 

in a timely manner and at least three days before the meetings (or such 

other period as agreed). Draft and executed minutes of the meetings were 

sent in good time to all members for their comments and records. Minutes 

of the meetings recorded in sufficient details were kept by the Company 

Secretary. Professional advice and sufficient resources would be given 

whenever necessary to allow the Board Committees to discharge their 

duties.

Audit Committee

Role and Function

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s corporate 

governance, financial reporting, risk management and internal control. It 

plays an advisory role and makes relevant recommendations to the Board.

Meetings

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Year, with the presence 

of the representative(s) of the Group’s internal audit department (“Internal 

Audit Department”) in those meetings involving discussion on internal 

audit reports prepared by Internal Audit Department. Senior management 

was co-opted to join the meetings of the Audit Committee to explain the 

financial and business conditions of the Group to the committee members 

from time to time.
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Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed

The works performed by the Audit Committee in the Year are summarised 

below:

(1) reviewed the Group’s final and interim results and draft consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 

and for the six months ended 30 June 2024 respectively before 

recommending them to the Board for approval, with the presence of 

the Company’s external auditors (the “Independent Auditors”) in the 

meeting reviewing final results;

(2) reviewed the overall performance including the performance of 

investment properties and development properties of the Group;

(3) reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the 

Group and the requirements of the Listing Rules and statutory 

compliance;

(4) recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the Independent 

Auditors for shareholders’ approval;

(5) reviewed the Group’s internal control, risk management, financial 

reporting and auditing matters;

(6) reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting with 

the presence of Independent Auditors;

(7) prepared and submitted to the Board an audit committee report 

detailing the works performed by the Audit Committee during the 

year 2023, presented its findings and made recommendations to 

the Board for consideration;

(8) carried out annual review on the continuing connected transactions 

of the Group;

(9) reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience 

of staff of the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and internal 

audit functions as well as environmental, social and governance 

performance and reporting, and their training programmes and 

budget;

(10) discussed with Independent Auditors the nature and scope of the 

annual audit and reporting obligations of the Independent Auditors 

for the Year;

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

(9) 

(10) 



41二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed (Cont’d)

(11) reviewed and approved the terms of engagement letters, and fees 

for audit and non-audit services for the Year;

(12) reviewed the arrangement for employees and those who deal with 

the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in 

financial reporting, internal control or other related matters;

(13) reviewed and discussed internal audit reports prepared by Internal 

Audit Department;

(14) considered and approved the internal audit plan for the year 2025;

(15) reviewed the effectiveness of internal audit function;

(16) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate 

governance, compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the 

Corporate Governance Report;

(17) reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on compliance 

with legal and regulatory requirements and the compliance of such 

policies and practices;

(18) reviewed the code of conduct for the Directors and the compliance 

of such code;

(19) reviewed the code of practice for employees;

(20) reviewed the sufficiency of training and continuous professional 

development for the Directors and senior executives;

(21) reviewed the progress of risk management;

(22) reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management and 

internal control systems;

(23) reviewed the impact of adoption of new Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards; and

(24) noted the change of member in the Audit Committee.

(11) 

(12) 

(13) 

(14) 

(15) 

(16) 

(17) 

(18) 

(19) 

(20) 

(21) 

(22) 

(23) 

(24) 
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Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed (Cont’d)

In February 2025, the Audit Committee reviewed (i) the Group’s final 

results and draft audited consolidated financial statements for the Year; 

(ii) the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the Year and 

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; (iii) the sufficiency of 

training and continuous professional development for Directors and 

senior executives for the Year; (iv) the effectiveness and adequacy of risk 

management (include material environmental, social and governance risks, 

if any) and internal control systems for the Year; and (v) the effectiveness 

of internal audit function of the Group for the Year. The Audit Committee 

also made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of retiring 

Independent Auditors for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting (the “2025 AGM”).

Independent Auditors

In order to enhance independent reporting by the Independent Auditors, 

the engagement director of the Independent Auditors is subject to 

periodical rotation, and the nature and ratio of annual fees payable to the 

Independent Auditors for non-audit services and for audit services are 

subject to scrutiny by the Audit Committee. A policy of non-audit services 

from the Independent Auditors was established. The Audit Committee 

considers whether there is clear efficiency and value-added benefit to the 

Company from that work being undertaken by the Independent Auditors; 

whether there is adverse effect on the independence of their audit work or 

the perception of such independence; the nature of the non-audit services 

envisaged to be provided by the Independent Auditors; and the related fee 

levels individually and in aggregate relative to the audit fees. In addition, a 

policy restricting the employment of employees or former employees of 

the Independent Auditors as senior executives or financial positions with 

the Group has also been in place.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Independent Auditors (Cont’d)

During the Year, the Independent Auditors had been engaged in providing 

non-audit services in relation to (i) annual review of continuing connected 

transactions of the Company at a fee of HK$100,000; (ii) a project in 

relation to disposal of a subsidiary at a fee of HK$315,000; and (iii) a 

project in relation to disposal of a property at a fee of HK$230,000. The 

audit fees of the Independent Auditors for auditing the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group for the Year was HK$2,050,000. The 

relevant engagement letters had been reviewed and approved by the Audit 

Committee.

Prior to the commencement of the audit of accounts of the Group, the 

Audit Committee had reviewed the Independent Auditors’ independence 

and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants, reviewed the terms of their engagement as well as the nature

and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee was satisfied with the findings of their review of the 

engagement process, effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the 

Independent Auditors.

Remuneration Committee

Role and Function

The Remunerat ion Committee is responsible for reviewing the 

remuneration policies for all Directors and senior executives. The 

Remuneration Committee is also responsible to review regularly and make 

recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of individual 

EDs and senior executives as well as the remuneration of NEDs. It would 

consult the Chairman or the CEO on the remuneration proposals whenever 

it thinks fit.

The objective of remunerating the Directors and senior executives of the 

Company is to ensure that there is an appropriate level of remuneration to 

attract and retain experienced businessmen or professionals of high caliber 

to act as the Directors and senior executives to oversee the Company’s 

businesses and development.

(i)

100,000 (ii)

315,000 (ii i)

230,000

2,050,000
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(i)

100,000 (ii)

68,000

BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Remuneration Committee (Cont’d)

Meetings

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during the Year.

Works Performed

The works performed by the Remuneration Committee in the Year are 

summarised below:

(1) assessed the performance of EDs;

(2) reviewed and recommended to the Board the EDs’ and senior 

executives’ remuneration packages for the Year;

(3) noted the annual discretionary bonus to employees;

(4) recommended to the Board to fix the Directors’ fee of NEDs for the 

Year;

(5) noted the change of member in the Remuneration Committee;

(6) recommended to the Board the renewal of service agreement with a 

director of a subsidiary of the Company; and

(7) reviewed and recommended to the Board the ED’s and senior 

executives’ remuneration packages for the year ending 31 December 

2025, including (i) the fixing of annual salary of Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan 

at HK$100,000; and (ii) the adjustment of monthly salary of Ms. 

Chan, Lok-wan to HK$68,000 and such adjustment has approved 

by the Board with reference to their duties and responsibilities in the 

Group as well as the prevailing market conditions.

Remuneration Policy for EDs

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on EDs’ remuneration package 

is to enable the Company to retain and motivate EDs by linking their reward 

with performance as measured against corporate objectives. In determining 

guidelines for each reward element, the Company refers to remuneration 

surveys on companies operating in similar businesses.
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Remuneration Committee (Cont’d)

Remuneration Policy for NEDs and INEDs

The Directors’ fees of NEDs and INEDs are subject to annual assessment 

with reference to their duties and responsibilities and the prevailing market 

conditions as appropriate. Reimbursement is allowed for out-of-pocket 

expenses incurred in connection with performance of their duties. None of 

the INEDs receives remuneration based on performance of the Group.

Nomination Committee

Role and Function

The role of the Nomination Committee is to lead the process and make 

recommendations for appointments to the Board, whether as additional 

appointment or to fill up the casual vacancy of directorship as and when 

they arise, in the light of challenges and opportunities facing the Company, 

as well as business development and requirements of the Company.

Meeting

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year.

Works Performed

The works performed by the Nomination Committee in the Year are 

summarised below:

(1) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

(2) recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors for 

shareholders’ approval;

(3) assessed the independence of INEDs, who served more than nine 

years and were subject to re-election at the relevant annual general 

meeting; and

(4) noted the change of member and chairman in the Nomination 

Committee.

After the Year end, the Nomination Committee made recommendation 

to the Board on the re-appointment of retiring Directors for shareholders’ 

approval at the 2025 AGM.
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57:43 25:75

58:42

BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Nomination Committee (Cont’d)

Nomination Policy, Procedures, Process and Criteria

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size, composition 

and diversity (including the evaluation of skills, knowledge, professional 

experience, cultural and educational background, gender and age of the 

Board members and assessment on the independence of the INEDs) of 

the Board at least annually. It is responsible for making recommendations 

on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s 

corporate strategy and succession planning for the Directors from time 

to time and selecting suitable and qualified individuals to become Board 

members. In evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, 

the Nomination Committee considers the character and integrity; skills 

and expertise; professional and educational background; potential time 

commitment for the board and/or committee responsibilities; and the 

elements of the Board Diversity Policy as stated below etc. The Nomination 

Committee makes recommendation to the Board to appoint the 

appropriate person among the candidates nominated for directorship. The 

Board appoints suitable candidate(s) in accordance with the Bye-laws of 

the Company and the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefit of having a diverse 

board, and sees increasing diversity at board level as an essential element 

in maintaining a competitive advantage and achieving long-term sustainable 

growth for the Group. A board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity 

Policy”) had been adopted since September 2013. Elements of the Board 

Diversity Policy include gender, age, cultural and educational background, 

professional experience, skills and knowledge of Directors. Under the Board 

Diversity Policy, candidates are selected based on merit and contribution 

such candidate can bring to the Board. The Board currently comprised 

four males and three females. The elements of the Board Diversity Policy 

have substantially been included in the current Board composition. It was 

concluded in the Board’s yearly review that the Board Diversity Policy was 

effective during the Year.

The Board put emphasis on gender diversity across all levels of the Group. 

As at 31 December 2024, the male-to-female ratio in the Board, senior 

executives and workforce of the Group are 57:43, 25:75 and 58:42 

respectively. It was considered that the overall gender diversity of the 

Group was above average. The Board targets to maintain the current level 

of gender diversity at all levels of the Group.
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Investment Committee had been established since 2014 with written 

terms of reference in place. During the Year, it comprised Ms. Chan, Hoi-

wan as chairman, Ms. Chan, Lok-wan as chief investment officer, Mr. Chan, 

Kwok-wai, Mr. Leung, Yun-fai and Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun as members. It is 

empowered to manage the investment business of the Group (other than 

real estate investment) and to make recommendations and provide advice 

to the Board in relation to investment or potential investment.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS

Attendance record of each of the Board members is as follows:

Attendance Record of Directors 

No. of meetings attended/held in 2024 (Percentage of attendance in total) 

Name of Directors

Regular 
Board Meeting

Ad hoc 
Board Meeting^

^

Audit 
Committee 

Meeting

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meeting

Nomination 
Committee 

Meeting

Investment 
Committee 

Meeting

Annual 
General 
Meeting

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan

Ms. Chan, Lok-wan

4/4 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

4/4 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai 

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

2/4 (50%)

4/4 (100%)

0/1 (0%)

1/1 (100%)

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

N/A 

Absent 

1/1 (100%)

Independent  
 Non-executive Directors  

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai

Mr. Leung, Yun-fai

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping*

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun

*

4/4 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

2/2 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

2/2 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

3/3 (100%)

3/3 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

3/3 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

4/4 (100%)

N/A 

4/4 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

1/1 (100%)

Notes:

^ To avoid conflict of interest, Director(s) was/were absent at ad hoc Board 
meeting(s) that he/she was required to abstain from voting.

* Resigned on 12 June 2024
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities 

transactions by Directors on terms without deviation from the required 

standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 

of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model 

Code”). All Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed 

that they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model 

Code and the said code of conduct during the Year.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities 

transactions by relevant employees on terms no less exacting than the 

required standard set out in the Model Code. All the relevant employees 

(the “Relevant Employees”) who, because of office or employment, are 

likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information in relation 

to the Group’s securities had been requested to follow such code when 

dealing in the securities of the Company. All Relevant Employees, after 

specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed that they had complied with 

the required standard set out in the said code during the Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that the Group 

maintains effective risk management (include material environmental, 

social and governance risks, if any) and internal control systems and review 

of their effectiveness through the Audit Committee at least annually. 

The Board oversees the Company’s senior management in the design, 

implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal 

control systems and acknowledges that such systems are designed to 

manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 

objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss. Internal Audit Department is 

responsible for reviewing relevant financial, operational and compliance 

controls and risk management functions, and reporting its findings and 

advice to the Audit Committee.
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
(Cont’d)

Internal Audit

Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee and is 

independent of the Company’s management, with key tasks to:

(1) assess and monitor internal controls of the Group with unrestricted 

direct access right to any levels of management whenever it 

considered necessary;

(2) conduct comprehensive internal audits of the practices and 

procedures, income and expenditures, and internal control of all 

business units of the Group on a regular basis; and

(3) carry out special reviews and investigations on areas of concern 

identified by the management for corrective actions.

Internal Audit Department produces an annual internal audit plan 

based on a risk assessment methodology for the Audit Committee’s 

approval. Internal audits are carried out on a regular basis according to 

the approved plan. Internal audit reports summarising audit findings 

and recommendations are prepared from time to time for the Audit 

Committee’s review and discussion. Management is responsible for 

ensuring that control weaknesses highlighted in internal audits are rectified 

within a reasonable period. Internal Audit Department would monitor the 

proper implementation of corrective measures.

During the Year, Internal Audit Department had conducted six internal 

audits, relevant reports had been submitted to the Audit Committee for 

consideration. The Audit Committee was satisfied with the scope and 

quality of works done, and the extent and frequency of communication 

of internal audit reports by the Internal Audit Department. The Audit 

Committee was also satisfied with the effectiveness of the internal audit 

function of the Group.

Pursuant to Whistleblowing Policy of the Group, employees and other 

stakeholders can report the possible improprieties in relation to financial 

reporting, internal control or other matters of the Group to Head of Internal 

Audit Department, who shall then report to the chairman of the Audit 

Committee. Internal Audit Department has not received any report during 

the Year.
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 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
(Cont’d)

Risk Management

Risk Management Framework

The Company established an Enterprise Risk Management Framework that 

includes a risk management policy and procedures, as well as a designated 

risk management officer who helps to deploy the risk management process 

across the business.

Risk Management Process

Our risk management process includes risk identification, risk assessment 

and prioritisation, risk owner appointment, risk treatment and upward 

reporting and monitoring of identified risks to the Audit Committee. A 

corporate risk register has been established to track and document the 

identified risks, risk owners, mitigating actions and control measures, and 

facilitates continuous update of risk treatments.

Reviews were conducted twice a year to follow up on the significant risks 

and related actions as documented in the corporate risk register, and the 

results reported to the Audit Committee. The risk management assessment 

results were reported to the Board through the Audit Committee. The 

Company will continue to enhance and standardise our approach to 

manage risks.

Subsequent to the Year, the Audit Committee had reviewed the 

effectiveness and adequacy of risk management (include material 

environmental, social and governance risks, if any) system for the Year 

and the Board was satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the 

risk management (include material environmental, social and governance 

risks, if any) system of the Group and considered that the Company had 

complied with the Code Provisions in respect of risk management during 

the Year.
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
(Cont’d)

Internal Control

Annual Review

Based on the annual assessment made by the Independent Auditors and 

the works done by Internal Audit Department, the Audit Committee and 

the Board were satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the system 

of internal control of the Group and concluded that:

(1) the Company had complied with the Code Provisions in respect of 

internal control during the Year;

(2) a framework of prudent and effective controls had been established 

to identify, evaluate and manage the risks;

(3) internal control and accounting systems of the Group were effective 

and adequate;

(4) significant risks and control failings or weaknesses (if any) that 

may influence the Group and the changes since last annual review 

had been identified, evaluated and managed through the ongoing 

monitoring process;

(5) material transactions of the Group were executed with the 

management’s authorisation;

(6) the Company’s processes for financial reporting and Listing Rules 

compliance were effective; and

(7) the resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s 

accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and their 

training programmes and budget were adequate.
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( i v )

https://www.chineseestates.com

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had established a shareholders’ communication policy 

(the “Policy”) and the Board had undertaken to review the Policy at least 

annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Policy sets out the framework 

in place to promote two-way communication with shareholders. It also 

aims to set out the provisions with the Company’s objective of providing 

the shareholders of the Company timely, ready and equal access to the 

Company’s information from time to time so as to allow shareholders to 

exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow shareholders to 

share with the business affairs of the Company.

Under the Policy, channels for communication mainly include: (i) 

holding general meetings; (ii) publication of financial reports, notices, 

announcements or circulars at the Company’s website and the Stock 

Exchange’s website; (iii) disseminating latest information of the Group or 

press releases issued by the Company through the Company’s website; 

and (iv) maintaining a continuing dialogue with shareholders and 

stakeholders by allowing them to raise their enquiries to Investor Relations, 

contact information is disclosed in “Corporate Information” of this annual 

report and the Company’s website at https://www.chineseestates.com.

The Company acknowledges tha t genera l  meet ings a re good 

communication channel with shareholders that the Directors and the 

chairmen of the Board Committees are encouraged to attend and answer 

questions from shareholders at general meetings. The chairmen of the 

Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 

Committee as well as the Independent Auditors had attended the annual 

general meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2024 (the “2024 AGM”) 

to answer questions from shareholders.

At the commencement of each general meeting, the chairman of the 

meeting had explained the procedures for conducting a poll to the 

shareholders and the shareholders were allowed to raise any question 

concerning the poll procedures. At each of the meetings, separate 

resolutions were proposed by the chairman of the meeting and put forward 

to the shareholders for poll voting. Details of poll results are available at the 

Company’s website.
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1  

2  

3  

4  

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS 
(Cont’d)

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside 

information as set out in the corporate communications manual to 

ensure inside information remains confidential until the disclosure of such 

information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such 

information is efficiently and consistently made. Such manual also provides 

guidance for coordinating the disclosure of material information to investors, 

analysts and media, identifies who could speak on the Company’s behalf, 

and outlines the responsibility for communication with various stakeholder 

groups.

As the Policy includes various channels for shareholders and stakeholders 

to communicate their views on matters affecting the Company, the Board 

considered it was effective and adequate during the Year in its annual 

review.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy for the Company that aims to 

set out the principles and guidelines of the Company in relation to the 

declaration, recommendation and payment of dividends to its shareholders 

(the “Dividend Policy”).

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company does not have any pre-

determined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of dividends should be 

in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. When 

considering dividend declaration or recommendation, the Board shall take 

into account the following factors:

(1) business condition and strategy of the Group;

(2) capital requirement for the Group’s existing/potential project or 

investment;

(3) earnings, financial and cash flow position and distributable reserves 

of the Company and the Group; and

(4) other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (Cont’d)

The declaration and payment of dividends is subject to the provisions of 

the Bye-laws of the Company, the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as 

amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws, rules and 

regulations.

The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may not be used 

as a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be 

declared or paid by the Company in future.

The Board has the sole discretion to recommend or not to recommend 

final dividends to the shareholders for approval; and to declare or not to 

declare any other dividends, including but not limited to interim and/or 

special dividends, after taking into consideration the factors as stated in (1) 

to (4) above.

The Dividend Policy may be updated, amended, modified and/or cancelled 

from time to time as the Board may think fit and necessary.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convene a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less 

than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of 

voting at general meetings of the Company can at all times submit a signed 

written requisition, specifying the purpose, to the Board or the Company 

Secretary to request the convening of a special general meeting (“SGM”) 

and deposit the requisition at the principal office of the Company in Hong 

Kong or the registered office of the Company in Bermuda, the addresses 

are disclosed in “Corporate Information” of this annual report.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to 

convene the SGM, the requisitionist(s), or any of them representing more 

than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene a SGM, 

but any SGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three 

months from twenty-one days of the deposit.
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(https://www.chineseestates.com)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Cont’d)

Put Forward the Proposals at Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting 

rights of all shareholders having a right to vote at the general meeting at 

the date of the requisition or shareholders not less than 100 in total can 

submit a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to 

propose a resolution at the general meeting (the “Written Requisition”).

The Written Requisition must be accompanied by (i) the proposed 

resolution; and (ii) a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect 

to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business to be 

dealt with at the general meeting. The Written Requisition must contain 

the signatures of all the requisitionist(s). The Written Requisition must 

be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or the 

registered office of the Company in Bermuda, the addresses are disclosed 

in “Corporate Information” of this annual report, not less than six weeks 

before the general meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of 

a resolution and not less than one week before the general meeting in the 

case of any other requisition.

Provided that if, after a copy of the Written Requisition requiring notice of 

a resolution has been deposited at the principal office of the Company 

in Hong Kong or the registered office of the Company in Bermuda, an 

annual general meeting is called for a date which is six weeks or less after 

the copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the 

time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the 

purposes thereof.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably 

sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the 

resolution and circulating the statement given by the requisitionists to all 

shareholders in accordance with the requirements under the applicable 

laws and rules.

Propose a Candidate for Election as a Director at an Annual 

General Meeting

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a 

Director had been established and published at the Company’s website 

(https://www.chineseestates.com).
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investor.relations@chineseestates.com

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Cont’d)

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders can raise their enquiries to the Board or the Company 

Secretary in writing by sending such written enquiries to the principal 

of f ice of the Company in Hong Kong at the address disc losed 

in “Corporate Information” of this annual report or by email at 

investor.relations@chineseestates.com. Shareholders also have right to raise 

questions at general meetings.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional 

documents.

DEVIATIONS FROM CODE PROVISIONS

Chairman/Non-executive Director Attending General Meeting

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai, the Chairman of the Board and a NED, was unable to 

attend the 2024 AGM as he had business engagement. Mr. Chan, Kwok-

wai, the chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, 

was elected as the chairman of the 2024 AGM to ensure effective 

communication with shareholders of the Company at the 2024 AGM. The 

then chairman of Nomination Committee, Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping had also 

attended the 2024 AGM.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that corporate governance principles and practices 

are essential to the business communities. Ongoing effort will be put 

to review its corporate governance practices from time to time so as 

to accommodate the changing circumstances. The Company will strive 

to maintain and strengthen the standard and quality of its corporate 

governance.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

57二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

5

7 8

46

47

The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”) present 

to the shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated 

financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the 

“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Company acted as an investment holding company 

and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in property investment and 

development, building and property management, brokerage, securities 

investment, money lending and cosmetics distribution and trading.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year, discussion on 

the Group’s future business development and description of possible 

risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found in the 

“Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Furthermore, the financial risk 

management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in Note 5 

to the consolidated financial statements. Particulars of important event(s) 

affecting the Group that has/have occurred since the end of the Year (if 

any) are contained in the “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. 

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year using financial key 

performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Operation Review” 

of this annual report. Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies 

and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders, and compliance 

with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on 

the Group are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”, the “Corporate 

Governance Report”, the “Directors’ Report” and the “Environmental, Social 

and Governance Report” of this annual report.

OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and contribution to profit for the Year from operations 

analysed by principal activities are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and associates as at 

31 December 2024 are set out in Notes 46 and 47 to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income on pages 111 to 112.

During the Year, the Board did not declare any interim dividend (2023: nil).

The Board resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK3 

cents per share (2023: nil) for the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 

years is set out on pages 258 to 259.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties of the Group as at 31 December 2024 

are set out on pages 260 to 264.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the Year are set out in 

Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the Year, the Group did not acquire any investment properties 

(2023: nil); the Group disposed of two investment properties with total 

carrying amount of approximately HK$2,844,986,000 (2023: disposed of 

an investment property of approximately HK$27,602,000 (presented under 

assets classified as held for sale)).

Other movements in investment properties during the Year are set out in 

Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to 

approximately HK$10,000 (2023: HK$10,278,000).
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GROUP BORROWINGS AND INTEREST 
CAPITALISED

Details of secured bank and other borrowings repayable within one year or 

on demand and long-term secured bank borrowings are shown in Note 34 

to the consolidated financial statements.

During the Year, interest capital ised amounted to approximately 

HK$21,546,000 (2023: HK$10,988,000) by the Group.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out on 

pages 116 to 120.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, 

calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as 

amended), amounted of approximately HK$11,737,912,000 (2023: 

HK$13,882,680,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Movement in the share capital of the Company during the Year is set out in 

Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist under the laws of Bermuda, being the 

jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had 

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Year, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked 

agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the 

management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 

Company’s businesses were entered into or existed during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers 

amounted to less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers 

amounted to less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year or up to the date of this Directors’ Report are:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms. Chan, Lok-wan

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai (Chairman)

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai

Mr. Leung, Yun-fai

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

 (resigned on 12 June 2024)

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan, Ms. Chan, Lok-wan and Mr. Lau, Ming-wai will retire 

from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant to Bye-

law 111 of the Bye-laws of the Company and all being eligible will offer 

themselves for re-election.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of 

its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employer within one year 

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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* Sino Omen Holdings 
Limited

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE  
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors 

and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares 

and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, 

Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the 

register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as 

otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing 

Rules”) were as follows:

I The Company

Name of Director

Number of

Shares Held Note Capacity

Percentage of 

Issued Share 

Capital

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan (“Ms. HW Chan”) 1,430,700,768 * Interest in controlled 

corporation and interest of 

children under 18

18

74.99%

     

Note:

* These shares of the Company were indirectly owned by Sino 
Omen Holdings Limited (as disclosed under “Substantial 
Shareholders’ Interests in the Securities of the Company”), the 
entire issued share capital of which was held by Ms. HW Chan as 
the trustee of her minor children Lau, Chung-hok, Lau, Sau-wah 
and Lau, Sau-yee.
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1

* 
Sino 

Omen Holdings Limited
Sino Omen Holdings Limited Solar 
Bright Ltd.

Solar Bright Ltd.

XV

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE  
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS 
(Cont’d)

II Associated corporations of the Company

Name of Director

Name of Associated 

Corporations

Number of 

Share(s) Held Note Capacity

Percentage of 

Issued Share 

Capital

Ms. HW Chan Sino Omen Holdings Limited 50,000 * Interest of children under 18

18

100%

Ms. HW Chan Solar Bright Ltd. 1 * Interest in controlled 

corporation and interest of 

children under 18

18

100%

      

Note:

* Ms. HW Chan (as the trustee for her minor children Lau, Chung-
hok, Lau, Sau-wah and Lau, Sau-yee) directly held the entire 
issued share capital of Sino Omen Holdings Limited. Sino Omen 
Holdings Limited directly held the entire issued share capital of 
Solar Bright Ltd.. Therefore, Ms. HW Chan as the trustee for her 
said minor children was also regarded as interested in the entire 
issued share capital of Solar Bright Ltd..

The interests stated above represent long position. The percentage shown 

was the number of shares the relevant Director was interested in expressed 

as a percentage of the number of issued shares as at 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors and chief executives 

of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any interests 

or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the 

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 

XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2024.

During the Year, none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company 

nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age were granted or had 

exercised any right to subscribe for any securities of the Company or any of 

its associated corporations.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN 
THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as are known to any Directors or chief 

executives of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or 

chief executives of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by 

the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to 

the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be 

interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Name of Substantial Shareholders

Number of 

Shares Held Notes Capacity

Percentage of 

Issued Share 

Capital

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (“Mr. Joseph Lau”) 1,430,700,768 Interest of spouse and 

interest of children under 18

18

74.99%

Sino Omen Holdings Limited 

 (Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)

 

1,430,700,768 * Interest in 

controlled corporation

74.99%

Solar Bright Ltd. 

 (Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)

 

1,430,700,768 * Beneficial owner and interest 

in controlled corporation

74.99%

Century Frontier Limited 

 (Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)

 

476,425,000 * Beneficial owner 24.97%

Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited 

 (Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)

 

230,984,820 * Beneficial owner 12.10%
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* Solar Bright Ltd. Century Frontier Limited
Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited

Century Frontier 
Limited Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments 
Limited 476,425,000 230,984,820

Solar Bright Ltd.
723,290,948 Solar Bright 
Ltd. 1,430,700,768

Sino Omen Holdings Limited Solar 
Br ight L td.
1,430,700,768

336

 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN 
THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

Notes:

 Mr. Joseph Lau was deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 
shares that his spouse, Ms. HW Chan, and his minor children, Lau, 
Chung-hok, Lau, Sau-wah and Lau, Sau-yee, were interested or deemed 
to have interests.

* Solar Bright Ltd. held the entire issued share capital of Century 
Frontier Limited and Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited and 
therefore was deemed to be interested in 476,425,000 shares of the 
Company held by Century Frontier Limited and 230,984,820 shares 
of the Company held by Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited 
respectively. In addition, Solar Bright Ltd. directly held 723,290,948 
shares of the Company. As such, Solar Bright Ltd. was interested or 
deemed to have interested in a total of 1,430,700,768 shares of the 
Company. Sino Omen Holdings Limited held the entire issued share 
capital of Solar Bright Ltd. and therefore was deemed to be interested 
in 1,430,700,768 shares of the Company, which were referred to in 
the interests of Ms. HW Chan as disclosed under “Directors’ and Chief 
Executives’ Interests in the Securities of the Company and Associated 
Corporations”.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31 December 

2024, no short positions were recorded in the register kept by the 

Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

There were no arrangements to which the Company or any of the 

Company’s subsidiaries was a party to enable the Directors to acquire 

benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the 

Company or any other body corporate during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, each Director shall be entitled to 

be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or 

liabilities (to the extent allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda 

(as amended)) which such Director may sustain or incur in or about the 

execution of the duties of the Director’s office or otherwise in relation 

thereto. The Company has provided indemnity to independent non-

executive directors of the Company (“INEDs”) by issuing a letter to each 

of the INEDs. The Company has also arranged appropriate directors’ 

and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of 

the Group which was in force during the Year and up to the date of this 

Directors’ Report.
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York Place

Laforet

The ONE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING 
BUSINESSES

During the Year, Ms. HW Chan and Mr. Lau, Ming-wai had personal and/or 

directorship interests in private companies engaged in property investment 

business and securities investment business; Ms. HW Chan had personal 

and/or directorship interests in private companies engaged in money 

lending business and property development business; and Mr. Lau, Ming-

wai had personal and directorship interests in a private company engaged 

in property management business. As such, they were regarded as being 

interested in such businesses, which competed or might compete with the 

Group.

In addition, Mr. Joseph Lau, a former executive Director, Chairman of the 

Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, had through the then 

private companies wholly-owned by him acquired the retail shops of York 

Place, Excelsior Plaza (include Laforet) and Southorn Centre (also known as 

Wanchai Computer Centre) from the Group in 2010, certain floors and car 

parking spaces constituted part of the properties known as Silvercord and 

the properties known as The ONE from the Group in 2015 as well as the 

properties known as Windsor House from the Group in 2016 (collectively 

the “Private Properties”). Ms. HW Chan was a director of and deemed to 

have interests in the companies directly or indirectly holding the Private 

Properties during the Year. There might be potential leasing competition 

for existing and prospective tenancies between the Private Properties and 

investment properties held by the Group. In order to manage such potential 

leasing competition, Mr. Joseph Lau had provided certain undertakings and 

the Company had agreed with the Stock Exchange to implement certain 

measures for monitoring the compliance of such undertakings. Details of 

such undertakings and monitoring measures were set out in the circulars 

of the Company dated 18 June 2010, 23 September 2014, 7 January 

2015 and 15 January 2016. The INEDs had carried out an annual review 

on the compliance of the said undertakings and monitoring measures and 

confirmed that such undertakings and monitoring measures were duly 

complied with and considered adequate monitoring measures were in 

place to avoid the potential leasing competition during the Year.

The Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties and will act honestly and 

in good faith in the interests of the Company and will avoid any potential 

conflict of interests and duties. The Company comprises three INEDs and 

all of them are members of the audit committee of the Company, so that 

the interests of its shareholders can be adequately represented.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in 

any businesses apart from the Group’s businesses, which competed or was 

likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.
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(1)  

14A

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as the agreement(s) disclosed under the heading “Connected 

Transactions” below and the facility agreement(s) entered into between 

the Group and Ms. HW Chan as disclosed under “Material Related Party 

Transactions” in Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements, there 

were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in 

relation to the Company’s businesses, to which the Company or any of the 

Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end of the Year or at 

any time during the Year, and in which a Director or an entity connected 

with a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor 

there were any other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance 

in relation to the Company’s businesses between the Company or any 

of the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its 

subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1) Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected 

Transactions

The Group had entered into the following tenancy agreements with 

a connected person of the Company. The entering into the relevant 

tenancy agreements as well as the rental payments, the service 

charges and rates payments, the fit-out administration fee payments 

and the dedicated lift maintenance payment thereof (where 

applicable) constituted connected transactions and/or continuing 

connected transactions for the Company. These transactions were 

exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement, 

but were subject to the reporting, announcement and (to the extent 

constituting continuing connected transactions for the Company) 

annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(1) Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected 

Transactions (Cont’d)

Name of the parties to 
the transaction(s)

Date and principal terms of 
the transaction(s) Caps for the Year

Name of the connected person and 
nature of connected person’s interest in 
the transaction(s)

    
Date of Announcement: 28 March 2022

Landrich (H.K.) Limited (“Landrich”) 
 (an indirect wholly-owned 
 subsidiary of the Company)
 (Tenant)

 
 
 

Chinese Estates, Limited (“CEL”) 
 (a direct wholly-owned 
 subsidiary of the Company)
 (Tenant)

 
 
 

Windsor House Limited (“WHL”)
 (Landlord)
 

Tenancy agreement dated 28 March 2022 entered 
into between Landrich and WHL in relation to 
leasing of Room 3602 on the 36th floor of Chubb 
Tower, Windsor House at a monthly rental of 
HK$169,500 for a term of 3 years from 1 April 
2022 to 31 March 2025 in connection with the 
sale of Nos. 14–18 Ma Kok Street redevelopment 
project in Tsuen Wan

WHL

36 3602 169,500

14 18

Tenancy agreement dated 28 March 2022 entered 
into between CEL and WHL in relation to renewal 
leasing of the whole of 19th floor, the whole of 
20th floor and the whole of 21st floor of Chubb 
Tower, Windsor House at an aggregate monthly 
rental of HK$2,350,000 and for a term of 3 years 
from 1 November 2022 to 31 October 2025 for 
the purpose of headquarter of the Group

WHL

19 20 21
2,350,000

For service charges and 
rates payments
– HK$7,450,000

 
– 7,450,000

For fit-out administration 
fee payments
– HK$550,000

– 550,000

For dedicated lift 
maintenance payment
– HK$500,000

– 500,000

WHL

At the date of the announcement, WHL was a 
company indirectly wholly-owned by Ms. HW Chan 
(an executive Director, the chief executive officer 
of the Company and a trustee of the substantial 
shareholders of the Company (who are her minor 
children)) as trustee for her minor children

WHL

Date of Announcement: 13 March 2023

CEL
 (Tenant)

 

WHL
 (Landlord)
 

Tenancy agreement dated 13 March 2023 entered 
into between CEL and WHL in relation to renewal 
leasing of the whole of 39th floor of Chubb 
Tower, Windsor House at a monthly rental of 
HK$1,090,000 for a term of 2 years 4 months and 
19 days from 13 June 2023 to 31 October 2025 
for the purpose of headquarter of the Group

WHL
39

1,090,000

For service charges and 
rates payment
– HK$3,300,000

– 3,300,000

For fit-out administration 
fee payment
– HK$500,000

– 500,000

WHL

At the date of the announcement, WHL was a 
company indirectly wholly-owned by Ms. HW Chan 
(an executive Director, the chief executive officer 
of the Company and a trustee of the substantial 
shareholders of the Company (who are her minor 
children)) as trustee for her minor children

WHL
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(2) Continuing Connected Transactions

On 16 August 2023, CEL entered into a contract for services with 

Ms. HW Chan regarding the provision of (i) leasing administration 

services (including without limitation matters relating to dealing 

with tenants, rent collection and taking legal actions, but excluding 

services in relation to the referral of potential tenants and the 

negotiation with existing and/or potential tenants regarding terms 

of lease of properties), (ii) sale administration services (including 

without limitation the appointment of and coordination with 

estate agents for such sale but excluding any sale agency service), 

(iii) property management services (including matters relating to 

management, maintenance, operation, servicing and repairs of 

properties), (iv) property administration services (including without 

limitation accounting, recruitment, human resources administration 

works, taxation, marketing and information technology services) 

(the “Property Administration Services”), (v) asset management 

and maintenance services (including property, household and other 

management and maintenance services in relation to properties 

and assets) (the “Asset Management and Maintenance Services”), 

(vi) rental services (including rental of motor vehicles, car plates, 

vessels, car parking spaces, premises and such other rental services) 

(the “Rental Services”), (vii) advisory and consultancy services 

(including general advisory, consultancy, administration, liaison, 

personnel support services and such other services (including 

without limitation accounting, human resources administration 

works, information technology and taxation services) ancillary and/

or incidental thereto) (the “Advisory and Consultancy Services”), and 

(viii) other ordinary services (including without limitation securities 

trading brokerage services) to Ms. HW Chan, her associates and/or 

relatives for a term of 3 years commencing from 1 November 2023 

to 31 October 2026 (the “Contract”). The cap of the service charges 

payable by Ms. HW Chan to CEL for the Year under the Contract was 

set at HK$62,900,000 as disclosed in the Company’s announcement 

dated 16 August 2023.

(2) 

(i)

(ii)

( i i i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

62,900,000
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0.1% 5%

14A

14A.55

(2)

(2)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(2) Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

As at the date of the relevant announcement, Ms. HW Chan was 

an executive Director, chief executive officer of the Company and 

a trustee of the substantial shareholders of the Company (who 

are her minor children), Ms. HW Chan was a connected person 

of the Company. Accordingly, the Contract and the transactions 

contemplated thereunder constituted continuing connected 

transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules. As the 

applicable percentage ratios in respect of the caps under the 

Contract exceeded 0.1% but were less than 5% on an annual basis, 

the entering into of the Contract and the transactions contemplated 

thereunder were only subject to reporting, announcement and 

annual review requirements but were exempt from the shareholders’ 

approval requirement pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Having reviewed the above continuing connected transactions, the INEDs, 

pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules on the requirement to carry out 

an annual review on the continuing connected transactions, confirmed that 

the transactions were made in the ordinary and usual course of business 

of the Group (other than household management and maintenance 

services under the Asset Management and Maintenance Services, the 

Property Administration Services, the Rental Services and the Advisory and 

Consultancy Services under (2) above); on normal commercial terms; 

and in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms 

that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of 

the Company as a whole. For continuing connected transactions under 

(2) above, having considered the reasons and benefits in respect of the 

provision of household management and maintenance services under the 

Asset Management and Maintenance Services, the Property Administration 

Services, the Rental Services and the Advisory and Consultancy Services 

as mentioned in the Company’s announcement dated 16 August 2023, 

the INEDs were of the view that, although the provision of such services 

contemplated under the Contract were not in the ordinary and usual 

course of business of the Group, the terms of such services were fair and 

reasonable so far as the Group were concerned and on normal commercial 

terms, and were in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a 

whole.
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The auditors of the Company, pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, 

provided and confirmed in their letter made in accordance with Hong 

Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance 

Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 

Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s 

Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing 

Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

that the above continuing connected transactions:

(1) nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that causes the auditors 

of the Company to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 

transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(2) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the 

Group, nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that causes the 

auditors of the Company to believe that the transactions were not, 

in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the 

Group;

(3) nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that causes the auditors 

of the Company to believe that the transactions were not entered 

into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant 

agreements governing such transactions; and

(4) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing 

connected transactions, nothing has come to the auditors’ attention 

that causes the auditors of the Company to believe that each of the 

continuing connected transactions has exceeded the annual cap set 

by the Company disclosed in relevant announcement.

Save as aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-exempted 

connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction 

under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’ 

Report.

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Material Related Party Transactions” for 

the Year as disclosed in Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements 

constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or non-

exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Material Related Party Transactions” constituted 

connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined 

in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the relevant 

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.

3000

740

14A.56

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

45

14A
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates two retirement benefit schemes:

(1) the provident fund scheme as defined in the Occupational 

Retirement Schemes Ordinance, Chapter 426 of the laws of Hong 

Kong (the “ORSO Scheme”); and

(2) the provident fund scheme as defined in the Mandatory Provident 

Fund Schemes Ordinance, Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong 

(the “MPF Scheme”).

Both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are defined contribution 

schemes and the assets of both schemes are managed by their respective 

trustees accordingly.

The ORSO Scheme is available to the Group’s full-time permanent staff 

employed in Hong Kong before 1 December 2000. Contributions to 

the ORSO Scheme are made by the Group at 5%, 7.5% or 10% of the 

scheme members’ basic salaries, the more year of service, the higher 

percentage of contribution. Staff members are entitled to 100% of the 

Group’s contributions together with accrued returns after completing 10 

years of service or more, or attaining the retirement age. They are entitled 

to a reduced scale between 30% to 90% of the Group’s contributions 

after completing a period of service of at least 3 years but less than 10 

years. The ORSO Scheme allowed any forfeited contributions (made by the 

Group for any staff member who subsequently left the ORSO Scheme prior 

to vesting fully in such contributions) to be used by the Group to offset the 

current level of contributions of the Group.

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 64 and with 

at least 60 days of service under the employment of the Group in Hong 

Kong. Contributions are made by the Group at 5% based on the staff’s 

relevant income. The maximum relevant income for contribution purpose 

is HK$30,000 per month. Staff members are entitled to 100% of the 

Group’s contributions together with accrued returns irrespective of their 

length of service with the Group, but the benefits are required by law to be 

preserved until the retirement age of 65. 
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (Cont’d)

The Group provides an additional portion (the “Additional Portion”) for 

those who joined the MPF Scheme in order to match up their retirement 

benefits with that of the ORSO Scheme by providing those MPF Scheme 

members with basic salaries over HK$30,000 and/or years of service over 5. 

Contributions to the Additional Portion are made by the Group at 5%, 7.5% 

or 10% of the staff’s basic salary less the Group’s mandatory contribution 

under the MPF Scheme.

The Group’s total cost for the schemes charged to consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024 

amounted to approximately HK$7,983,000 (2023: HK$8,548,000). In 

addition, an amount of forfeited employer’s contributions for the schemes 

amounted to approximately HK$205,000 (2023: HK$408,000) that was 

utilised towards reducing the Group’s contributions during the Year. As at 

31 December 2024, the available balance to reduce future contributions 

amounted to approximately HK$84,000 (2023: HK$18,000).

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and 

within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained the 

prescribed amount of public float during the Year and up to the date of this 

annual report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by 

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB”) who would retire at the 

conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, 

offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the 

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint HLB 

as the auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan, Hoi-wan

Director

Hong Kong, 28 February 2025



73二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report (“this Report”) 

captures the ESG performance of the Company (or “Chinese Estates”) and 

its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) during the reporting period. The 

information collected during report preparation process and disclosed in 

this Report will serve as the basis of the Group’s ESG strategy, management 

and future improvement.

Reporting Standard

This Report was prepared in accordance with the requirements as set out 

in Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”), 

Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing 

Rules”).

Reporting Period

Unless otherwise specified, this Report covers the Group’s progress and 

performance on ESG issues from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 

(the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Scope and Boundary

Unless otherwise specified, the reporting scope of this Report only 

covers the Group’s operations in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. 

The reporting principles of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”, “Balance” and 

“Consistency” as set out in the Guide underpin the preparation of this 

Report, the contents of this Report and the presentation of information.

ESG

ESG

ESG

C2

ESG
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Cont’d)

Reporting Scope and Boundary (Cont’d)

Reporting Principles

  

Materiality

The materiality assessment was conducted to identify material 

issues during the Reporting Period, thereby adopting the confirmed 

material issues as the focus for the preparation of this Report. For 

further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder 

Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

  

Quantitative

To measure the effectiveness of ESG related policies, the Group has 

adopted the Guide and relevant guidelines published by the Stock 

Exchange, in measuring and presenting quantitative environmental 

and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”). Details of the 

standards used are described in the relevant sections of this Report.

ESG

(

)
  

Balance

This Repor t a ims to prov ide an unbiased and ba lanced 

representation of the Group’s ESG performance. It avoids selections, 

omissions, or presentation formats that may inappropriately 

influence a decision or judgment by the report reader.

ESG

  

Consistency

Unless otherwise stated, the Group uses consistent reporting 

standards and methodologies to allow for meaningful comparisons 

of ESG data over time.

ESG
  

Board Approval

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has approved this 

Report on 28 February 2025.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Cont’d)

Board Statement

The Group considers sustainability as a strategic approach to create long- 

term business value. To achieve sustainable development, we strive to 

address ESG concerns by integrating ESG principles into our operation 

and management process. A well-structured ESG management approach 

helps us to identify the ESG related risks and ensure daily operations are 

aligned with the Group’s ESG practices. Chinese Estates has a solid ESG 

governance structure which comprises of the Board and the Sustainability 

Working Group (the “Working Group”). As the highest governing authority 

in the Group, the Board has ultimate responsibility for all sustainability 

related matters, providing vision and strategic direction for our sustainability 

activities, formulating corresponding business strategies and policies, 

and overseeing overall ESG management and reporting. The Board 

also regularly reviews the Group’s sustainability risks and opportunities, 

performance and progress.

Under the Board, the Working Group plays a vital role in overseeing the 

Group’s sustainability strategies, daily operations and risk management. 

The Working Group comprises of department heads and managers from 

key divisions, including Administration, Building Management, Company 

Secretarial, Human Resources, Leasing, Marketing, Project Development 

and Internal Audit. The Working Group has the strategic and operational 

responsibility to manage sustainability issues, monitor the progress of our 

sustainability activities and ensure the Group stays on track and in balance 

with the three sustainability dimensions of economic, environmental and 

social impacts at all times. Under delegated authority from the Board, 

the Working Group is responsible for monitoring sustainability matters 

in operations, reviewing stakeholders’ feedback and updating respective 

policies. We listen to our stakeholders and consider their views, comments 

and recommendations on ESG management. Our efforts in understanding 

and managing the ESG related risks enable us to achieve our objective 

of creating greater values for all stakeholders. All ESG related matters are 

reported to the Board on regular basis.

In prior years, based on the preliminary qualitative environmental targets 

set, we have further benchmarked against our peers, analysed our historical 

environmental data, and developed our quantitative environmental 

targets. These targets help ensure that our approach to environmental 

management and our initiatives to enhance environmental performance 

can be carried out effectively and consistently throughout the Group. In 

addition, we recognised that our climate resilience is critical to our business 

operation and competitiveness in the long run. We conducted a more in-

depth climate assessment to identify and analyse the risk level of both 

physical and transition risks related to the Group in order to understand the 

potential impacts to our business.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Cont’d)

Approach to Sustainability

A. Stakeholder Engagement

To understand stakeholders’ expectations and ESG related issues 

that are relevant and important to the Group, we are committed to 

maintaining constant communication with our stakeholders. This 

Report captures the highlights of our sustainability performance and 

achievements in the Reporting Period.

Chinese Estates engages with stakeholders to understand their 

expectations and to address their concerns regarding ESG related 

issues of the Group. We constantly engage with our key stakeholders 

through diverse communication channels to collect their opinions. 

The table below shows various communication channels with our 

key stakeholders:

Key Stakeholders Communication Channels Issues of Concern

   

Community and the Public

• Corporate website
 
• Company’s publications
 

• Social concerns and charity events
 
• Climate change mitigation and 

adaptation
 

   

Customers/Tenants

• Day-to-day communication through 
frontline employees

 
• Management service surveys
 
• Customer hotline
 

• Quality of service
 
• Customer data and privacy protection

   

Employees

• Intranet
 
• Channels for employees’ feedback 

such as forms and suggestion boxes
 
• Employee trainings and meetings
 
• Performance appraisals
 
• Team building activities
 

• Employees’ benefits
 
• Company activities
 
• Training and development
 
• Occupational health and safety
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Key Stakeholders Communication Channels Issues of Concern

   

Government and Regulatory 
 Bodies

• Regulatory documented information
 
• Regular meetings
 

• Compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations

 
• Business integrity and ethics
 

   

Industry Associations
• Annual and regular meetings
 
• Events
 

• Stable business relationships
 
• Business development
 

   

Non-governmental 
 Organisation (“NGO”)
 Partners

 

• Meetings
 
• Sponsorships and donations
 
• Volunteer activities and charitable 

activities
 

• Social concerns and charity events
 

   

Shareholders/Investors

• Circulars/announcements/ 
notices/publications

 
• Financial reports
 
• General meetings
 
• Investor relations enquiry
 
• Corporate website
 

• Corporate governance and risk control
 
• Investment returns
 
• Sustainable operations
 

   

Suppliers/Contractors/
 Service Providers/
 Professional Advisors

 

• Ongoing direct engagements
 
• Procurement process
 
• Regular meetings
 
• On-site audit management system
 

• Stable business relationships
 
• Business integrity
 
• Supplier evaluation and management
 

   

The Board and
 Senior Management

• Intranet
 
• Regular meetings
 
• Trainings and seminars
 

• Compliance operation
 
• Risk management
 
• Business development
 
• Financial performance
 

   

ABOUT THIS REPORT (Cont’d)

Approach to Sustainability (Cont’d)

A. Stakeholder Engagement (Cont’d) A. 
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Approach to Sustainability (Cont’d)

B. Materiality Assessment

To better understand our stakeholders’ expectation and opinions, we 

conducted a materiality assessment for the Reporting Period with the 

support of an independent consultant. We first identified a list of ESG 

related topics that are potentially material to the day-to-day business 

operation of the Group. A survey was also conducted for both 

internal and external stakeholders in prioritising the importance of 

the identified ESG topics to both the Company and its stakeholders. 

Having considered the survey results, peer benchmarking exercise 

results and compliance requirements, certain sustainability issues 

have been identified as material to the Group. The results serve as a 

guide to the Group on the ESG management and disclosure of this 

Report. The results were discussed in the Working Group meeting 

and were endorsed by the Board.

1
2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10
11

12
13

14

15

16

17

Materiality Matrix
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Approach to Sustainability (Cont’d)

B. Materiality Assessment  (Cont’d)

Aspect Material sustainability issues

  

Environment

1. Energy efficiency
 

 
2. Waste management
 

 
3. Use of materials
 

 
4. Responding actions to climate risks
 

 
5. Environmental compliance
 

  

Employment

6. Employment policies and labour rights
 

 
7. Diversity and equal opportunity
 

 
8. Occupational health and safety
 

 
9. Employee training
 

 
10. Prevention of child labour and forced labour
 

  

Operations

11. Responsible supply chain management
 

 
12. Products/service quality and safety
 

 
13. Tenant satisfaction, customer service quality and complaint handling
 

 
14. Intellectual property rights
 

 
15. Tenant/visitor privacy and data protection
 

 
16. Anti-corruption
 

  
Community 17. Community investment
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We are committed to achieving and maintaining a high standard of 

corporate governance to safeguard the interests of our investors and other 

stakeholders. Our corporate governance practices are in strict compliance 

with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the laws of Hong 

Kong) and relevant anti-corruption laws. To uphold the highest standard 

of corporate governance, the Board and management are dedicated to 

ensuring corporate integrity and business ethics in all our business activities. 

All management and staff must abide by the standards of operating ethics 

and employee conduct set forth in the Group’s Code of Practice (the “Code 

of Practice”). Our employees should avoid any conflict of interest and 

ensure all business decisions are made objectively and in the interests of 

the Group. No employee should accept advantages, gifts or entertainment 

from our current and future business partners in contravention of the Code 

of Practice. Any acts of non-compliance may lead to strict disciplinary or 

legal action.

To ensure the accountability and openness of our management, our 

employees are encouraged to report any misconduct and malpractices 

concerning financial reporting, internal control or other related matters. A 

whistleblowing policy is brought into place to provide reporting channels 

and guidance for our employees to report any suspected cases, and to 

provide reassurance to whistleblowers of the protection that the Group will 

extend to them against unfair dismissal or victimisation for any genuine 

reports made under this policy. During the Reporting Period, no reported 

case was received by Internal Audit Department/the Audit Committee.

To raise internal awareness on anti-corruption, we organised anti-

corruption training to our directors and staff from time to time. During 

the Reporting Period, the anti-corruption training was provided to all new 

joiners of the Group and a total of 19 staff participated in the training with 

19 accumulated training hours. We provided case studies and practical 

tips to ensure our employees can uphold ethical standard under real-life 

situations.

During the Reporting Period, no concluded legal cases relating to 

corruption were brought against the Group. For more information about our 

corporate governance policies and practices, please refer to the “Corporate 

Governance Report” of this annual report.
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OPERATIONS

To achieve higher operational efficiency, Chinese Estates actively 

communicates with employees, tenants, visitors and suppliers to 

understand their needs and expectations. The Group makes every effort 

to provide quality products and services to our tenants and visitors while 

ensuring a healthy and safe environment for our tenants and visitors.

A. Commitment to Product and Service Quality

Chinese Estates strives to offer high-quality products and services 

with excellence and creativity. We strictly abide by all relevant laws 

and regulations regarding product safety, anti-competition behaviour, 

advertising and labelling. We have formulated the Product and 

Services Responsibility Policy to communicate our expectations and 

requirements on delivering high-quality products and services in our 

project development as well as building and property management 

businesses. The policy also demonstrates our commitment on 

safeguarding the environment, as well as the safety and health of our 

tenants and visitors.

A holistic quality control system and assurance procedures are in 

place to manage the quality of products and services. When it comes 

to property planning, design and development, where we control 

the quality through careful selection and close monitoring of our 

contractors and suppliers, we also communicate to them about our 

commitment to the environment such that environmental impact is 

considered throughout the properties’ life cycles.

We are committed to safeguarding the health of our tenants and 

visitors. During the Reporting Period, Windsor House (Public Area 

of Office Building) and The ONE (Common Area of Shopping Mall) 

were awarded the Indoor Air Quality Certificate (Excellent Class) by 

the Environmental Protection Department, while Windsor House 

(Public Area of Shopping Mall) and Harcourt House (Public Area 

on G/F, 3/F to 6/F, 10/F to 21/F and 24/F) obtained the Indoor 

Air Quality Certificate (Good Class). In addition, Windsor House was 

certified with the standards of the Quality Water Supply Scheme for 

Buildings – Fresh Water (Management System) (Silver) by the Water 

Supplies Department for 2023 to 2025. These achievements show 

our efforts in providing quality products and services.
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OPERATIONS (Cont’d)

B. Tenant Communication and Satisfaction

It is essential to improve our customer satisfaction. While we are 

building trust with our tenants and visitors, we do not compromise 

our professionalisms and business ethics.

Collecting feedback is vital to the enhancement of customer 

experience and our business growth. To improve our products and 

services, we listen to our tenants and visitors and take every opinion 

seriously. We have established multiple communication channels 

for our tenants and visitors to provide valuable feedback. During the 

Reporting Period, we conducted management service surveys in 11 

of our managed properties and achieved an average mark of 81/100 

in the overall performance of management service.

In addition, our frontline employees are equipped with adequate 

knowledge and skills in handling complaints from tenants and visitors. 

We strive to respond to their inquiries and complaints promptly with 

follow-up actions to ensure that tenants and visitors are satisfied with 

the solutions. During the Reporting Period, we received 122 service-

related complaints (2023: 128).

C. Tenant and Visitor Safety

The safety of tenant and visitor is our top priority. During the 

Reporting Period, the Group has adopted various preventive 

measures in its properties to safeguard the health of owners and 

users. For instance, we intensify disinfection in common areas, and 

provide hand sanitizers and disinfectants in most of the entrances of 

our managed properties.
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OPERATIONS (Cont’d)

D. Supply Chain Management

To support our diversified operational activities, we engage a diverse 

range of contractors and suppliers. We have high expectation on 

our suppliers and we require them to uphold the same level of 

business ethics and conduct as we do. Among all contractors and 

suppliers, we consider those who support our building and property 

management as well as property development to be of higher 

environmental and social risks. We have formulated our Supplier 

Code of Conduct and required the aforementioned contractors and 

suppliers to acknowledge it as part of the contractual agreement. 

The Supplier Code of Conduct outlines our minimum requirements 

for supplier behaviour, covering compliance of laws and regulations, 

health and safety, non-discrimination, labour practices, anti- 

corruption, employee, etc. We have a standard tendering process to 

manage contracts, consultants and to source building materials for 

our development projects. We concern environmental and safety 

risks throughout the whole value chain. As such, we have clearly 

stated our requirements on the environmental and occupation safety 

and health compliance on the tender contract.

The Group adopts a fair and transparent approach to select, monitor 

and evaluate our contractors. A contractor assessment tool is in place 

to regularly assess the performance of contractors for our building 

and property management business. Besides, property managers 

and estate officers conduct regular inspections to contractors works. 

Clarification and explanation are required in case our requirements 

are not met by any contractor. Depending on the severity of the 

issue, contractor who failed to take corrective actions may result in 

termination of the contract. During the Reporting Period, there were 

287 active property management and/or property development 

related contractors, of which 262 located in Hong Kong and 25 

located in United Kingdom (newly disclosed during the Reporting 

Period) (2023: total of 331 active contractors of which all located in 

Hong Kong). All of them have undergone the contractor assessment 

procedures of the Group.
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OPERATIONS (Cont’d)

E. Tenant/Visitor Privacy and Data Protection

Chinese Estates is aware of the emerging concern of data privacy 

from our tenants and visitors. We inform our tenants and visitors 

the purposes for which their personal data are collected and ensure 

that the data collected are not excessive. The Group has established 

Privacy Policy to provide clear instructions and guidelines to our 

employees on handling personal data. We also offer data protection 

training to all employees in orientation and refresher programmes 

to make sure that our policies are effectively communicated to 

employees in different positions. The Group strictly complies with 

all relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the 

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the laws of Hong 

Kong). During the Reporting Period, there was no non-compliance 

regarding the consumer data protection and privacy of tenant and 

visitor data.

F. Intellectual Property Rights

Chinese Estates respects the intellectual property rights and upholds 

all applicable laws and regulations. These include but are not limited 

to Trade Marks Ordinance (Chapter 559 of the laws of Hong Kong), 

Registered Designs Ordinance (Chapter 522 of the laws of Hong 

Kong), Patents Ordinance (Chapter 514 of the laws of Hong Kong) 

and Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the laws of Hong 

Kong). Our Information Technology Department verifies and confirms 

all hardware and software purchased or installed are licensed to 

ensure that our daily operation does not violate any intellectual 

property provisions.

ENVIRONMENT

Recognising the environmental impacts arising from our day-to-day 

business operations, Chinese Estates makes every effort to mitigate those 

impacts so as to minimise the harm to our environment. We have been 

taking various measures to reduce the adverse impacts of air emissions, 

wastewater discharge, waste generation and natural resource consumption. 

Furthermore, we promote the efficient use of resources, such as energy, 

water and other raw materials in our daily operations to fulfil our 

commitment to the environment.

Chinese Estates strictly complies with all the relevant provisions of 

environmental laws and regulations. These include but are not limited to 

the Buildings Energy Efficiency Ordinance (Chapter 610 of the laws of 

Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the laws of Hong 

Kong) and Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the laws of 

Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there were no cases of breach of 

related laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

To reaffirm our commitment to environmental protection, we have set 

the environmental targets through a progressive process involving desktop 

research, historical data review and peer benchmarking. The Working 

Group monitors the environmental performance and reviews the progress 

of the targets. The details of our targets for Group 1 Portfolio* on various 

environmental aspects, including greenhouse gas (GHG) emission, energy, 

water and waste are as follows:

Environmental Targets for Group 1 Portfolio*

*
  

GHG Emission Reduce indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) intensity by 19.8% by 2030 against the base year 2019

2 19.8%
  

Energy Reduce electricity consumption intensity by 13.2% by 2030 against the base year 2019

13.2%
  

Water Reduce water consumption intensity by 7.7% by 2030 against the base year 2019

7.7%
  

Waste Maintain paper consumption level below the baseline level, which is 122,000 kg in 2019

122,000
  

Environmental Performance of Group 1 Portfolio*
*

Unit 2024 2023

Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) intensity

2

Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 

 (tCO2e)/square feet

0.01 0.01

    

Electricity consumption intensity Gigajoule (GJ)/square feet 0.06 0.06

    

Water consumption intensity Cubic metre (m3)/square feet 0.06 0.08

    

Paper consumption(Note) Kilogramme (kg) 124,000 94,000

    

Note: Paper consumption is rounded up to the nearest thousand for the 
presentation here.
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ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

We take environmental impacts into account in the entire lifecycle of our 

business projects, including planning, design, development and operation. 

We have formulated the Environmental Policy to guide our employees to 

act in an environmentally responsible manner during business operation. 

The policy has demonstrated our commitment to assessing and monitoring 

the environmental implications of our operations and to integrate 

environmental consideration in our property investment, development 

projects as well as building and property management businesses. We also 

communicate our Environmental Policy with our consultants, contractors 

and other stakeholders to promote sustainability throughout the value 

chain. Meanwhile, various measures are in place in different business units 

to manage our environmental impacts. At self-owned or managed sites, 

we adopt green initiatives and promote environmental awareness. In our 

offices, we strive to create a green workplace for our employees.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to monitor the 

environmental targets and made progress in most aspects in achieving 

the targets by 2030. The Group noted an increase in paper consumption 

during the Reporting Period and recognised the importance of addressing 

this trend and will continue to monitor regularly the usage patterns and will 

implement new measures to reduce paper consumption.

A. Energy and Carbon Management

Buildings contribute to 90% of the city’s electricity consumption 

and 60% of the city’s carbon footprint . As a property developer 

and property manager, Chinese Estates is obliged to play our part to 

reduce electricity and energy consumption across our portfolio. In 

this regard, we implement energy-saving initiatives to better manage 

our use of energy. For instance, we conduct regular energy audit at 

the properties that we manage, including Windsor House, Harcourt 

House, Wanchai Computer Centre, The ONE, Excelsior Plaza, 

Causeway Place, York Place and i-home, to analyse their energy 

consumption, and identify opportunities to reduce energy usage and 

carbon footprint.

 Carbon Neutral@HK, Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan 2050, “Chapter 4: 

Decarbonisation Strategies • Targets • Actions”, https://www.eeb.gov.hk/

sites/default/files/pdf/cap_2050_en.pdf (2021)

https://www.eeb.gov.hk/sites/default/files/pdf/cap_2050_tc.pdf
https://www.eeb.gov.hk/sites/default/files/pdf/cap_2050_tc.pdf
https://www.eeb.gov.hk/sites/default/files/pdf/cap_2050_en.pdf
https://www.eeb.gov.hk/sites/default/files/pdf/cap_2050_en.pdf
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A. Energy and Carbon Management (Cont’d)

To demonstrate our commitment to reducing energy usage, 

we support the Charter on External Lighting launched by the 

Environment and Ecology Bureau. We are committed to minimising 

the light nuisance and energy wastage by switching off unnecessary 

outdoor lighting at night. During the Reporting Period, The ONE and 

Wanchai Computer Centre were honoured with the Platinum Award, 

while Excelsior Plaza and Causeway Place were honoured with the 

Gold Award. Besides, we actively engaged in green events organised 

by NGOs, such as the Earth Hour by World Wide Fund (WWF) in 

March 2024, to educate and encourage our managed properties’ 

owners and tenants to reduce energy consumption.

Besides, we often educate the tenants of our managed properties for 

green senses by encouraging them joining in some environmental 

friendly activities.

To create an environmentally friendly atmosphere and encourage 

green behaviour at our workplace, the Group appoints the Green 

Office Team to formulate and implement energy conservation 

strategies at offices. The Green Office Team adopts various measures 

to enhance the employees’ awareness of energy-saving. For example, 

stickers are posted next to light switches and electronic appliances 

to remind employees to turn off idle electronic appliances and lights. 

Reminder emails are also sent out to communicate these initiatives 

to our employees. To ensure the green office initiatives are carried 

out effectively, the Green Office Team will review all initiatives twice 

a year.

B. Climate Change

In the context of emerging climate change, extreme weather is 

more likely to pose greater challenges among all industries and 

our business operations. As an environmentally responsible and 

sustainable company with a long-term vision, we continue to be 

proactive in strengthening our climate resilience and adaptation in 

response to the potential climate risks. The Group has identified 

significant climate-related issues to the Group’s operation and 

implemented the Climate Change Policy to outline the commitment 

to managing climate change risks and set out approach on mitigation, 

adaptation and resilience to tackle these issues.
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ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

B. Climate Change (Cont’d)

Physical Risks

From the climate risk assessment, we observed that flooding and 

extreme wind or typhoon are the most relevant climate hazards 

to our operations. To mitigate and minimise the operational 

and financial impacts of climate risks, we implement various 

countermeasures for the respective physical risks.

Extreme precipitation and sea level rise may lead to an increase 

in the occurrence of flooding, which may result in widespread 

devastation to our properties located near the coastal area or rivers, 

increasing the operational expenditure for repair and maintenance. 

To prevent massive damage to our business operations, we 

implement a range of mitigation measures. For example, we will 

conduct a flood risk assessment and avoid property development in 

a flood zone; consider implementing property-level flood protection 

strategies, including water barriers to stop flooding from street 

into the properties, flood resistant building materials and installing 

CCTV to monitor the street water level around the properties so as 

to identify flooding and immediately report to Drainage Services 

Departments for any blockage; flood insurance, emergency plans in 

response to flood events; and set up a warning system.

As the intensity and frequency of extreme wind events increases, 

extreme wind or typhoon has also been considered as another 

relevant physical risk. Especially, windows or glass curtain walls are 

susceptible to shattering due to strong wind, disrupting business 

operations and threatening the physical safety of any person. As a 

responsible company, we ensure all of our buildings are structurally 

safe under any circumstances, including extreme weather conditions. 

To enhance the overall resilience of our properties against extreme 

wind or typhoon exacerbated by climate change, we will conduct 

regular facade inspection and maintenance, strengthen the existing 

wind resilience measures, and adopt wind-resistant building designs 

for properties.
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B. 

ESG

ESG

ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

B. Climate Change (Cont’d)

Transition Risks

With the more stringent ESG reporting and climate regulations, 

the Group may incur increased compliance costs to fulfill the 

climate policies and regulations. Failure to meet certain climate-

related requirements may expose the Group to the risk of claims 

and litigation, which may result in a decline in corporate reputation. 

Therefore, the Group will regularly monitor regulatory changes in 

laws, policies and regulations to ensure compliance and also consult 

professional entities to improve our compliance with climate change 

disclosures.

In addition, the investors and stakeholders may favor companies well 

prepared for climate change or divesting from companies failing to 

implement effective measures to manage climate risks. The Group 

has been maintaining high transparency on ESG issues to build trust 

and confidence among investors and other stakeholders and closely 

communicating with stakeholders to understand their concerns and 

expectations.

Opportunities

The Group recognises that climate change poses risks and also 

presents opportunities to its operation. It has been exploring 

opportunities to improve resource efficiency and reduce waste, 

for example, dual flush toilets and water-saving tapes have been 

installed in the Group’s certain self-owned or managed properties to 

promote the efficient use of water and reduce operating costs. The 

Group will continue to explore further opportunities that may arise 

from new climatic conditions.
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The ONE

The ONE

The ONE

O • Park1 5

ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

C. Waste Management

The Group is committed to diverting waste from landfill sites. 

As such, we implement different waste management initiatives 

in the properties and offices we own or manage to minimise 

waste generation. We actively promote reusing and recycling to 

maximise the lifetime of useful materials. The Group also engages 

conscientious recycling contractors to collect and process the 

recyclable materials responsibly.

At our managed properties, we encourage our tenants and residents 

to practise waste separation at source. We have placed multiple 

recycling bins in the properties under our management, such as The 

ONE and Windsor House.

To reduce food waste, the Group has been collaborating with our 

business partners and suppliers to initiate a food waste reduction 

programme. A food waste recycling machine in The ONE treats the 

food waste collected from the catering tenants of The ONE. The 

liquid-form food waste recycled product from the recycling machine 

is then donated to O • Park1 (located at Organic Resources Recovery 

Centre Phase 1, No. 5 Sham Fung Road, Siu Ho Wan, North Lantau) 

for their further green electricity generation. During the Reporting 

Period, we also appealed our tenants to join in the “Share the Pie 

Share the Love” event, organised by an NGO, to donate and share 

their extra mooncakes to those in need before Mid-Autumn Festival 

2024.

At our offices, waste reduction initiatives are also in place to create 

an environmentally friendly working environment and cultivate green 

minds. We established e-communication channels to substitute the 

use of paper to promote a paperless working environment. This aims 

to minimise paper wastage at the source, and can also increase the 

efficiency in our daily communication within and outside the Group.
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D. 

ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

C. Waste Management (Cont’d)

To encourage recycling at our offices, not only do we set up 

collection points for paper recycling, but we also place boxes around 

the offices to collect reusable stationaries, such as file folders, 

single-sided used paper and pens. Used printer cartridges are 

returned to suppliers. Retired but functional electronic appliances, 

such as computers, printers and fax machines, are donated to NGOs 

to support those in need.

D. Use of Resources

Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to 

using resources efficiently and promoting recycling in our community. 

Energy and water are signif icant parts of natural resources 

consumption in our business activities. To manage our impacts on 

energy and water, we adopt different measures to promote the 

effective use of energy, water, and other raw materials. For examples, 

we approach some potential tenants and encourage them to rent the 

vacant roof space in Windsor House for installing their solar panels to 

provide green energy to HK Electric.

Also in our Fanling Organic Farm which produces organic vegetables 

and sells in low cost to our office colleagues, with this income to be 

used in some other charity purposes. Furthermore, we also installed 

some solar panels in this Organic Farm to provide green energy for 

the operation of the Farm, as well as aligning the green purpose of 

the Organic Farm.

Besides, we use carpets that are produced from recycled materials 

in a number of our commercial properties and conserve the use of 

water by installing dual flush toilets in some of the properties we 

own or manage.
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ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

D. Use of Resources (Cont’d)

The environmental metrics for 2024 and 2023 is tabulated below:

2024 2023

Unit Group 1 
Portfolio*

Group 2 
Portfolio* Projects*

Group 1 

Portfolio*

Group 2 

Portfolio* Projects*

* * * * * *

Energy consumption1

1

Electricity Kilowatt Hour (kWh) 32,578,201 5,193,046 418,917 31,004,233 5,318,407 135,808

       

GJ 117,282 18,695 1,508 111,615 19,146 489

        

Towngas GJ 0 16 0 0 19 0

        

Energy consumption intensity GJ/HK$ million properties-

related revenue

537 645

        

GHG emissions2

2

Scope 1 – Direct emission tCO2e 0 1 0 0 0 0

1 –         

Scope 2 – Indirect emission tCO2e 18,348 2,365 151 17,974 2,451 53

2 –         

Scope 3 – Other emission 

 (business travel)

tCO2e 14 9

3 –       

Total GHG emission tCO2e 20,879 20,487

        

GHG emissions intensity tCO2e/HK$ million  

properties-related revenue

82 101
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2024 2023

Unit Group 1 
Portfolio*

Group 2 
Portfolio* Projects*

Group 1 

Portfolio*

Group 2 

Portfolio* Projects*

* * * * * *

Non-hazardous waste

Waste collected Litres (L) 27,886,224 9,445,680 0 23,512,524 9,154,080 0

       

Tonnes3 – – 1,788 – – 1,023
3

        

Paper consumption4 Kg 124,341 3,356 280 94,308 3,616 338
4

        

Paper recycled Kg 6,104 240 0 6,552 241 0

        

Metal/Aluminium recycled Kg 881 0 0 868 0 28,700

        

Plastic recycled Kg 1,278 25 0 1,177 32 0

        

Dry mixed recycled5 Kg 4,538 0 0 N/A N/A N/A
5

        

Glass recycled6 Kg 1,400 0 0 N/A N/A N/A
6

        

Food waste recycled L 912 N/A N/A 816 N/A N/A

        

Water consumption

Water m3 123,008 67,216 5,698 143,747 52,232 2,784

        

Water consumption intensity m3/HK$ million properties-

related revenue

765 976

 

        

D. 

ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

D. Use of Resources (Cont’d)

The environmental metrics for 2024 and 2023 is tabulated below: 

(Cont’d)
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* 

(a)
The ONE

Laforet
(b Oxford Street 61-67

Soho Street 11-14

 Chic
i-home Manhattan Avenue

MOD 595
York Place

14–18 Fleet Street 120

1 

2 

2023
2023

2023
(IPCC) (AR6)

2023)

3 

4 (i)
(ii)

5 

6 

ENVIRONMENT (Cont’d)

* Notes to reporting boundary for environmental metrics

Group 1 Portfolio refers to properties that are owned by Chinese Estates, 
and properties owned by Chinese Estates’ substantial shareholder which 
Chinese Estates is managing as an agent. We consider Group 1 to be 
remained in our portfolio for a long period of time. Group 1 Portfolio 
includes: (a) Chinese Estates’ headquarters, The ONE, Silvercord, Windsor 
House, Causeway Place, Excelsior Plaza (include Laforet), Wanchai 
Computer Centre and Harcourt House (which are all located in Hong 
Kong); and (b) 61–67 Oxford Street and 11–14 Soho Street (which are 
located in United Kingdom and newly disclosed during the Reporting 
Period).

Group 2 Portfolio refers to properties that are currently not owned by 
Chinese Estates, but the owners have appointed a subsidiary of Chinese 
Estates to be the property manager (other than those covered in Group 1 
Portfolio). For electricity and water consumption, we only cover areas that 
we have control. General waste collected refer to those collected from 
the entire property. Group 2 Portfolio includes: Chic Castle, Evergreen 
Garden, i-home, Indihome, Manhattan Avenue, Miami Crescent, MOD 
595, One South Lane, One WanChai, Sunrise Villa, The Bellevue Place 
and York Place.

Projects refer to development, redevelopment and other ongoing 
construction projects that are owned by Chinese Estates. Projects in the 
Reporting Period include: Nos. 14–18 Ma Kok Street, Tsuen Wan (which 
is located in Hong Kong) and 120 Fleet Street (which is located in United 
Kingdom and newly disclosed during the Reporting Period).

1 Energy conversion is based on including but not limited to “How 
to prepare an ESG Report – Appendix II: Reporting Guidance on 
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

2 GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent 
and are based on, including but not limited to, the “The Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” issued by the 
World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable 
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report – Appendix II: Reporting 
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, “2023 
Sustainability Report” published by CLP Holdings Limited, “Sustainability 
Report 2023” published by Hong Kong Electric and “Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report 2023” published by The Hong Kong and 
China Gas Company Limited, and the global warming potential values 
from The Intergovernmental on Climate Change (IPCC) Synthesis Report 
(AR6) (2023).

3 Waste collected for projects include construction waste and general waste 
for the Reporting Period.

4 The increase paper consumption during the Reporting Period was due to 
(i) enhanced data calculation methodology adopted resulting in refined 
paper consumption data; and (ii) the paper consumption of properties in 
United Kingdom being newly included during the Reporting Period. For 
details, please refer to the paragraph “Use of Resources” in this section.

5 Dry mixed recycled includes paper, plastic and metal being collected and 
recycled and is newly disclosed during the Reporting Period.

6 Glass recycled is newly disclosed during the Reporting Period.
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57

57B

EMPLOYMENT

Employees play a critical role in the success of the Group. Chinese Estates 

endeavours to create an equal, healthy and inclusive workplace for our 

employees to grow together with the Group. Our Workplace Employment 

Policy outlines the guidance to prohibit any discrimination and harassment, 

to offer healthy and safe workplaces, as well as to provide comprehensive 

trainings and professional development to employees. Our HR Operation 

Manual outlines the policies in relation to the compensation and dismissal, 

recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, and other benefits 

and welfare. Those policies are reviewed regularly by the management to 

ensure the rights of employees within the company are protected. With 

dignity and respect, we recognise employees from diverse backgrounds, 

and we comply with the applicable laws and regulations including but not 

limited to the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong 

Kong).

Chinese Estates strictly prohibits the use of child and forced labour in all 

our business activities. Stringent background check will be conducted on 

applicants during the hiring process to avoid accidental recruitment of child 

and forced labour. During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied 

with relevant laws and regulations relating to preventing child and forced 

labour, including but not limited to the Employment of Children Regulations 

(Chapter 57B of the laws of Hong Kong).

We also require our suppliers and contractors to align with our commitment 

to ethical labour practice by confirming the compliance on no child or 

forced labour in the Supplier Code of Conduct and such requirements also 

forms part of the contractual agreement with the suppliers and contractors.



96 CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

 

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 

A. 

EMPLOYMENT (Cont’d)

A. People

Equal Opportunities

The Group adheres to providing employees with a pleasant and 

harmonious working environment that can improve productivity 

and staff morale. Our employees are required to comply with the 

guideline of equal opportunities specified in the Code of Conduct 

and to treat everyone with respect and dignity. We adhere to the 

non-discrimination policy during the recruitment process. Applicants 

are assessed based on their skill, ability and working experience 

regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, religion, race, disability, marital or 

family status, or any other characteristics protected by law. We assure 

that our recruitment process remains fair and competitive and we 

provide equal opportunities to employees in making all employment 

decisions by us.

Remuneration

To attract and retain talent, we provide employees with a fair 

and competitive remuneration package. Appraisal is conducted 

annually by department heads. Salaries are reviewed based on the 

performance and experience of the employees. Our promotion 

policies are performance-based. Employees are rewarded with a 

year-end discretionary bonus based on market conditions when 

certain individual performance levels are met. Our remuneration 

packages and policies are reviewed regularly to assure that 

employees are assessed and rewarded based on their capabilities, 

responsibilities and performance.
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EMPLOYMENT (Cont’d)

A. People (Cont’d)

Workforce Composition (Note)

476
2024

486
2023

僱員總數

人數 人數

Total Number of Workforce

No. of people No. of people

19 39859
2024

19
2023

41849

2024

2023

2024

2023

按僱傭類別劃分的僱員總數

高級經理或以上 經理或助理經理 高級主任或以下

人數 人數

人數 人數

人數

人數

Total Number of Workforce by Employment Category

Senior Manager or Above Manager or Assistant Manager Senior Supervisor or Below

No. of people

No. of people

No. of people

No. of people

No. of people

No. of people

277 199
2024

287
2023

2024

199
2023

按性別劃分的僱員總數

男性 女性

人數

人數

人數

人數

Total Number of Workforce by Gender

Male Female

No. of people

No. of people 

No. of people

No. of people

181

229253
4942

208

2024 2023

按年齡組別劃分的僱員總數

30歲以下

30歲至50歲

50歲以上

人數人數

Total Number of Workforce by Age Group

No. of people No. of people

<30 years old

30–50 years old

>50 years old
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EMPLOYMENT (Cont’d)

A. People (Cont’d)

Workforce Composition (Cont’d)

441 35
2024

443
2023

2024

43
2023

按僱傭類型劃分的僱員總數

全職 兼職

人數

人數

人數

人數

Total Number of Workforce by Employment Type

Full-time Part-time

No. of people

No. of people

No. of people

No. of people

27.4%
2024

33.6%
2023

總僱員流失率
Total Employee Turnover Rate

27.0% 28.1%
2024

28.4%
2023

2024

41.1%
2023

按性別劃分的僱員流失率

男性 女性

Employee Turnover Rate by Gender

Male Female

52.7%

31.9%
30.7%

19.1%
27.3%

72.2%

按年齡組別劃分的僱員流失率
Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group

2023

2024
2023

2024
2023

<30 years old
30歲以下

30-50 years old
30歲至50歲

>50 years old
50歲以上

2024
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A. 

B. 

282

509

59I

5

6 37

34.5

EMPLOYMENT (Cont’d)

A. People (Cont’d)

Workforce Composition (Cont’d)

27.5%

2024

33.6%

2023

12.5%

2024

N/A
不適用

2023

按地理位置劃分的僱員流失率

香港 英國

Employee Turnover Rate by Geographical Region

Hong Kong United Kingdom

Note:  The workforce composition has newly included staff in the United 
Kingdom during the Reporting Period. 

B. Occupational Health and Safety

Chinese Estates strives to provide a safe and health workplace 

by managing the inherent risks in our operations. We comply 

with all applicable laws and regulations including the Employees’ 

Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the laws of Hong Kong), 

the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of 

the laws of Hong Kong) and relevant safety practices stipulated in 

Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations (Chapter 59I of the laws of 

Hong Kong).

To ensure the health and safety of our building management front-

line employees, regular random safety inspections are conducted. 

Property managers and estate officers are required to report any 

injuries at work, including our employees and contractors and to 

submit an incident report to the Human Resources Department for 

record. Besides, we offered some of our training workshops through 

online self-paced learning as well as some training courses organised 

by other organizations (i.e. Labour Department) to safeguard our 

employees’ safety.

During the Reporting Period, there were 5 confirmed injury 

incidents (2023: 6). 37 lost days due to work injury or occupational 

diseases was recorded (2023: 34.5). No workplace fatalities for 

our employees was recorded in the past three years (including the 

Reporting Period).
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C. 

100%

  

EMPLOYMENT (Cont’d)

C. Career and Personal Development

To improve service quality and maintain the competitiveness of 

our employees, we provide trainings to employees in delivering 

exceptional services to tenants and visitors and to cope with business 

needs. In addition, we encourage employees to pursue further 

education for self-enhancement or career development.

New hire orientation is provided to new staff to support them in 

getting familiar with our corporate culture and understand their duties 

and skills required for their roles. On-the-job training is provided to 

enhance employees’ job-related techniques and consolidate industry 

knowledge.

Our HR Operation Manual includes the Educational and Training 

Sponsorship Scheme which supports employees’ continuing 

education and skills training. Employees enrolled in qualified courses 

with satisfactory performance are eligible to apply for the sponsorship 

with reimbursement up to 100% of the tuition fee. These include 

higher education courses relevant to employees’ job duties organised 

by local educational institutions. The external training programmes 

enable employees to enhance their professionalism and maximise 

their potential, as well as become well-rounded in their careers 

within the Group.

In alignment between our business needs and interest of our 

employees, we regularly offer training that is tailored to individuals 

and industry-specific. Training topics consist of the integral of various 

business segments to equip employees with the necessary skills 

and knowledge to manage the complex business scenario. During 

the Reporting Period, we organised trainings and seminars on topics 

related to staff wellness and occupational health.

Building and property management is one of the key business 

segments which depends on specialised knowledge and practical 

skills that goes beyond the professional qualification. Therefore, 

we continuously support the back-office employees and front-

line employees in attending relevant trainings organised by various 

authorities including Labour Department, Occupational Safety and 

Health Council and Property Management Services Authority.
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C. Career and Personal Development (Cont’d)

Development and training data* of the Group in 2024 and 2023 are 

as follows:

Unit

2024 2023

Percentage of Employees Received Training by Gender

Male % 13.4 21.6

Female % 19.6 32.7

Percentage of Employees Received Training by Employment Category

Senior Manager or Above % 47.4 89.5

Manager or Assistant Manager % 33.9 73.5

Senior Supervisor or Below % 11.8 17.7

Average Training Hours Per Trained Employee by Gender

Male Hours 1.1 1.7

Female Hours 1.0 1.6

Average Training Hours Per Trained Employee by Employment Category

Senior Manager or Above Hours 1.0 2.0

Manager or Assistant Manager Hours 1.0 1.7

Senior Supervisor or Below Hours 1.1 1.5

* Development and training data covers Building Management 
Department and Human Resources Department for the Reporting 
Period.

C. 

*

*  
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COMMUNITY

Chinese Estates is dedicated to creating values for society while striving for 

company growth. We are keen to engage in various charitable activities, 

donation and sponsorship events to show our love and care to the 

society. Our Community Investment Policy demonstrates our commitment 

to making a positive social impact through integrating the community 

development plan with business operations. Besides, the Community 

Investment Policy summarise the focus areas for our community 

programmes, namely environmental protection and conservation and youth 

and children development.

We strive to nurture a culture of social responsibility through partnership 

with NGOs in organising community activities to promote a caring culture in 

the society. To support the Government’s vision on addressing the housing 

needs of young people, the Group joined hands with a NGO to launch a 

youth hostel project, namely Joseph’s House, which has begun operations 

during 2023.

Employees are welcomed to join the Chinese Estates Volunteer Team to 

interact with people from different sectors of the community and help the 

people in need. We also encourage our employees to give back to society 

by joining different volunteer and charitable activities. During the Reporting 

Period, we participated in 23 charitable activities, contributing to a total 

of 1,139 volunteering hours by a total of 225 staff and participants and 

covering donation on the charitable events and projects having the reach to 

the needy. These includes:

Organisation Charitable Activities

Chinese YMCA of Hong Kong Master Peace Knitting

Master Peace

Hong Kong Dog Rescue Charity Market @ The ONE

 @ The ONE

UNICEF Charity Run 2024/25 “HERO RUN” Kick-off Ceremony

 2024/25 HERO RUN  

Zero Carbon Park Food TranSmarter Tour

Lok Sin Tong Territory-wide Flag Day 2024

 2024

23 225

1,139
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COMMUNITY (Cont’d)

With the consideration beyond financial return, Chinese Estates integrates 
community investment into business operation. We leverage our resources 
to support the local community by offering shopping mall spaces that are 
under our management to different organisations for hosting exhibitions, 
charity sales and publicity events. For instances, during the Reporting 
Period, WINDSOR sponsored promotional channels and venue to Ocean 
Park Conservation Foundation Hong Kong and its Hong Kong Island 
Region Flag Day respectively. The ONE sponsored venue for organising 
the charitable activities shown above including Master Peace Knitting, 
Charity Market @ The ONE and Charity Run 2024/25 “HERO RUN” Kick-off 
Ceremony; sponsored venue and/or promotion channels for Hong Kong 
Cancer Fund’s Pink Revolution and colorectal cancer awareness campaigns, 
Carbon Reduction Action organised by Environment and Ecology Bureau 
and Environmental Campaign Committee, donor recruitment by Ronald 
McDonald House and etc.

We believe that the business – community partnership will provide long- 
term benefits to the society and foster a friendly and caring culture in the 
Company.

Case study: Community Involvement Impacting Positive Changes

The Group has partnered with Hong Kong Baptist University to organise educational visit for students from Integrated 
Communication Management to The ONE and introduced practical event management including event setup, loading, lighting 
and electricity planning and etc. This hands-on experience provided valuable and first-hand insights that are crucial for students’ 
future careers. By offering these unique opportunities, the Group aims to support the local university to bridge the gap between 
academic learning and real-world application and empowers the next generation of professionals.

The ONE

The ONE
Master Peace @ The 

ONE 2024/25 HERO RUN
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REASONS FOR NOT REPORTING CERTAIN 
“COMPLY OR EXPLAIN” PROVISIONS OF  
THE GUIDE

“Comply or explain” Provisions Reasons

A. Environmental

A. 

Aspect A1: Emissions

A1

KPI A1.1

A1.1

The types of emissions and respective emissions data. During the Reporting Period, there was no significant 

emission of NOx, SOx and other pollutants in our 

operations.

KPI A1.3

A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 

where appropriate, intensity.

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant 

production of hazardous waste in our operations.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2

KPI A2.4

A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing 

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) 

set and steps taken to achieve them.

 

During the Reporting Period, there was no issue in 

sourcing water for our operations.

KPI A2.5

A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products 

(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per 

unit produced.

The issue of packaging materials is considered not 

significant in our operations.

B. Social

B. 

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6

KPI B6.1

B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject 

to recalls for safety and health reasons.

During the Reporting Period, no products sold or 

shipped subject to recalls for safety and health 

reasons.
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31/F, Gloucester Tower 
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street
Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese Estates 

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 

to as the “Group”) set out on pages 111 to 257, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair 

view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 

2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 

cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared 

in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 

Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We 

are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of 

Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

111 257 Chinese Estates 

Holdings Limited
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19 23

 

9,719,164,000

1,731,776,000

 

 

– 

– 

– 

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is that matter that, in our professional judgment, was of 

most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 

the current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed 

the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Notes 19 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements

T h e  m a n a g e m e n t  h a s 

e s t i m a t e d  t h e  f a i r  v a l u e 

o f  t he  G roup ’s  i n ves tmen t 

properties to be approximately 

H K $ 9 , 7 1 9 , 1 6 4 , 0 0 0  a s  a t 

31 December 2024 with a net 

loss on fair value changes for the 

year ended 31 December 2024 

recorded in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive 

i n c o m e  o f  a p p r o x i m a t e l y 

HK$1,731,776,000. Independent 

external valuations were obtained 

in respect of all of the portfolio 

of the Group, and also of the 

investment properties held by the 

associates of the Group, in order 

to support the management’s 

estimates.

The valuations are dependent 

on certain key assumptions that 

require significant management 

judgment inc luding, but not 

l imited to, reversionary yield 

and rental income from future 

reversion leases in light of current 

market conditions.

Ou r  p rocedu res  i n  r e l a t i on to 

m a n a g e m e n t ’ s  v a l u a t i o n  o f 

investment properties included, but 

were not limited to:

– eva luat ing the independent 

external valuers’ competence, 

capabilities and objectivity;

– a s s e s s i n g  t h e  v a l u a t i o n 

methodologies used and the 

r easonab leness  o f  t he  key 

assumptions and parameters 

based on our knowledge of the 

property industry and using our 

auditors’ valuation experts; and

– checking, on sample basis, the 

accuracy and relevance of the 

input data used.

We found the key assumptions were 

supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL 
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the information included in the annual report, but 

does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ 

report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the 

Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 

our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 

or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 

have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the 

Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 

report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 

HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 

responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 

liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process.
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90  

• 

• 

 

• 

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 

report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance 

with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) 

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards 

or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 

also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the directors.
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• 

 

 

• 

•  

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 

also: (Cont’d)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 

report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on 

the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of 

the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 

we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we 

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 

we determine that matter that was of most significance in the audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period and is therefore 

the key audit matter. We describe this matter in our auditors’ report unless 

law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 

so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 

of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent 

auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat

Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 28 February 2025

 

P05467
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 7 336,812 479,589
Cost of goods and services provided (56,586) (49,257)  

Gross profit 280,226 430,332
Other income 9 25,801 24,851
Investment income (expenses), net 10 20,710 (65,461)
Administrative expenses (348,203) (333,872)
Gain (loss) on disposals of equipment, net 64,366 (31)
Fair value changes on investment properties (1,731,776) (31,007)
Finance costs 11 (213,425) (223,373)
Other gains and losses 12 (110,489) 6,585
Share of results of investments accounted  

for using the equity method
 

(111,174) 296,273  

(Loss) profit before tax (2,123,964) 104,297
Income tax credit (expense) 13 16,044 (27,158)  

(Loss) profit for the year 14 (2,107,920) 77,139  

Other comprehensive (expenses) income
Items that will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss
 

Gains and losses on investments in equity 
instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

 

(57,158) (129,871)
Surplus on revaluation of property 5,862 –
Share of other comprehensive expenses  

of investments accounted for using  
the equity method

 

(323) (181)  

(51,619) (130,052)  

Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

 

Exchange differences on translation  
of foreign operations

 
(77,747) 281,501

Reclassification adjustment related to 
foreign operation disposal of

 
98,247 –

Share of other comprehensive expenses  
of investments accounted for using  
the equity method

 

(5,318) (830)  

15,182 280,671  

Other comprehensive (expenses) income  
for the year (net of tax)

 
(36,437) 150,619  

Total comprehensive (expenses) income 
for the year

 
(2,144,357) 227,758
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (2,108,331) 76,832
Non-controlling interests 411 307  

(2,107,920) 77,139
  

Total comprehensive (expenses) income
 for the year attributable to:

 

Owners of the Company (2,144,768) 227,451
Non-controlling interests 411 307  

(2,144,357) 227,758
  

(Loss) earnings per share (HK$) 18
Basic and diluted (1.105) 0.040

  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Investment properties 19 9,719,164 13,957,718

Property, plant and equipment 20 52,811 169,745

Right-of-use assets 21(a) 39,293 85,056

Intangible assets 22 – –

Investments accounted for using  

the equity method 23 1,862,087 2,036,149

Advances to associates 24 59,332 60,013

Financial assets measured at fair value  

through profit or loss 25 54,315 60,359

Financial assets measured at fair value  

through other comprehensive income

 

26 138,522 195,680

Advances to investee companies 27 345,690 419,905

Pledged deposit 28(a) 28,980 –

Deposits and prepayments 29 – 4,904

Deferred tax assets 30 – 877  

12,300,194 16,990,406  

Current assets

Stock of properties 31 23,316 23,316

Financial assets measured at fair value  

through profit or loss 25 365,643 339,319

Advances to investee companies 27 64,017 211,507

Inventories 32 4,650 4,079

Debtors, deposits, other receivables and 

prepayments 29 164,977 204,431

Securities trading receivables and deposits 28(b) 18,062 26,992

Tax recoverable 9,939 259

Pledged deposits 28(a) 1,008,194 152,929

Time deposits, bank balances and cash 28(c) 1,742,313 592,228  

3,401,111 1,555,060  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 31 December 2024 

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities

Creditors and accruals 33 499,919 182,939

Securities trading and margin payable 10,923 6,963

Deposits and receipts in advance 62,205 84,205

Lease liabilities 21(b) 36,890 43,275

Tax liabilities 15,644 6,568

Borrowings 34 1,655,774 2,191,525

Derivative financial instrument – 99  

2,281,355 2,515,574  

Net current assets (liabilities) 1,119,756 (960,514)  

Total assets less current liabilities 13,419,950 16,029,892
  

Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company

Share capital 35 190,762 190,762

Property revaluation reserve 5,862 –

Financial assets measured at fair value  

through other comprehensive income 

reserve

 

 

138,360 195,818

Contribution reserve 206,627 206,627

Statutory reserve 4,402 4,402

Special reserve 2,499,685 2,499,685

Capital redemption reserve 138,062 138,062

Translation reserve (539,078) (554,260)

Retained profits

– proposed finial dividend  57,229 –

– others  9,364,825 11,530,408  

12,066,736 14,211,504

Non-controlling interests 24,008 23,597  

Total equity 12,090,744 14,235,101  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 31 December 2024 

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 34 1,272,684 1,660,323

Amounts due to associates 36 11,559 21,431

Amounts due to investee companies 36 13,885 13,885

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders 36 275 275

Lease liabilities 21(b) 1,795 38,684

Deferred tax liabilities 30 29,008 60,193  

1,329,206 1,794,791  

13,419,950 16,029,892
  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 28 February 

2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan, Hoi-wan

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.

Chan, Lok-wan

Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to owners of the Company

   

Share 

capital

Property

revaluation

reserve

Financial assets 

measured 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income reserve

Contribution

reserve

Statutory

reserve

Special

reserve

Capital

redemption

reserve

Translation

reserve

Retained

profits Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (iv))

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)

At 1 January 2023 190,762 – (1,743,622) 206,627 748 2,499,685 138,062 (834,931) 13,522,203 13,979,534 23,309 14,002,843

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 76,832 76,832 307 77,139

Gains and losses on investments in  

equity instruments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income

 

 

– Listed equity investment – – – (65,222) – – – – – – (65,222) – (65,222)

– Unlisted investments – – – (64,649) – – – – – – (64,649) – (64,649)

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – – – – 281,501 – 281,501 – 281,501

Share of other comprehensive expenses of 

investments accounted for using  

the equity method

 

– – (181) – – – – (830) – (1,011) – (1,011)

Total comprehensive (expenses) income  

for the year – – (130,052) – – – – 280,671 76,832 227,451 307 227,758

Transfer of reserve upon disposal/

derecognition of the investments in  

equity instruments measured at fair value  

through other comprehensive income

 

 

 

– – 2,069,492 – – – – – (2,069,492) – – –

PRC statutory reserve – – – – 3,654 – – – (3,654) – – –

Dividend paid to a non-controlling 

shareholder – – – – – – – – – – (19) (19)

Unclaimed dividends forfeited (note (v)) (v) – – – – – – – – 4,519 4,519 – 4,519             

At 31 December 2023 190,762 – 195,818 206,627 4,402 2,499,685 138,062 (554,260) 11,530,408 14,211,504 23,597 14,235,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to owners of the Company

   

Share 

capital

Property

revaluation

reserve

Financial assets 

measured 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income reserve

Contribution

reserve

Statutory

reserve

Special

reserve

Capital

redemption

reserve

Translation

reserve

Retained

profits Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (iv))

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)

At 1 January 2023 190,762 – (1,743,622) 206,627 748 2,499,685 138,062 (834,931) 13,522,203 13,979,534 23,309 14,002,843

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 76,832 76,832 307 77,139

Gains and losses on investments in  

equity instruments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income

 

 

– Listed equity investment – – – (65,222) – – – – – – (65,222) – (65,222)

– Unlisted investments – – – (64,649) – – – – – – (64,649) – (64,649)

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – – – – 281,501 – 281,501 – 281,501

Share of other comprehensive expenses of 

investments accounted for using  

the equity method

 

– – (181) – – – – (830) – (1,011) – (1,011)

Total comprehensive (expenses) income  

for the year – – (130,052) – – – – 280,671 76,832 227,451 307 227,758

Transfer of reserve upon disposal/

derecognition of the investments in  

equity instruments measured at fair value  

through other comprehensive income

 

 

 

– – 2,069,492 – – – – – (2,069,492) – – –

PRC statutory reserve – – – – 3,654 – – – (3,654) – – –

Dividend paid to a non-controlling 

shareholder – – – – – – – – – – (19) (19)

Unclaimed dividends forfeited (note (v)) (v) – – – – – – – – 4,519 4,519 – 4,519             

At 31 December 2023 190,762 – 195,818 206,627 4,402 2,499,685 138,062 (554,260) 11,530,408 14,211,504 23,597 14,235,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to owners of the Company

   

Share 

capital

Property

revaluation

reserve

Financial assets 

measured 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income reserve

Contribution

reserve

Statutory

reserve

Special

reserve

Capital

redemption

reserve

Translation

reserve

Retained

profits Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (iv))

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)

At 1 January 2024 190,762 – 195,818 206,627 4,402 2,499,685 138,062 (554,260) 11,530,408 14,211,504 23,597 14,235,101

(Loss) profit for the year – – – – – – – – (2,108,331) (2,108,331) 411 (2,107,920)

Gains and losses on investments in  

equity instruments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income

 

 

– Unlisted investments  – – – (57,158) – – – – – – (57,158) – (57,158)

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – – – – (77,747) – (77,747) – (77,747)

Reclassification adjustment related to  

foreign operation disposed of

 

– – – – – – – 98,247 – 98,247 – 98,247

Surplus on revaluation of property – 5,862 – – – – – – – 5,862 – 5,862

Share of other comprehensive expenses of 

investments accounted for using  

the equity method

 

– – (323) – – – – (5,318) – (5,641) – (5,641)

Total comprehensive income (expenses)  

for the year – 5,862 (57,481) – – – – 15,182 (2,108,331) (2,144,768) 411 (2,144,357)

Transfer of reserve of an associate – – 23 – – – – – (23) – – –             

At 31 December 2024 190,762 5,862 138,360 206,627 4,402 2,499,685 138,062 (539,078) 9,422,054 12,066,736 24,008 12,090,744
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

Attributable to owners of the Company Attributable to owners of the Company

   

Share 

capital

Property

revaluation

reserve

Financial assets 

measured 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income reserve

Contribution

reserve

Statutory

reserve

Special

reserve

Capital

redemption

reserve

Translation

reserve

Retained

profits Total

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (ii)) (note (iii)) (note (iv))

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv)

At 1 January 2024 190,762 – 195,818 206,627 4,402 2,499,685 138,062 (554,260) 11,530,408 14,211,504 23,597 14,235,101

(Loss) profit for the year – – – – – – – – (2,108,331) (2,108,331) 411 (2,107,920)

Gains and losses on investments in  

equity instruments measured at fair value 

through other comprehensive income

 

 

– Unlisted investments  – – – (57,158) – – – – – – (57,158) – (57,158)

Exchange differences on translation of  

foreign operations – – – – – – – (77,747) – (77,747) – (77,747)

Reclassification adjustment related to  

foreign operation disposed of

 

– – – – – – – 98,247 – 98,247 – 98,247

Surplus on revaluation of property – 5,862 – – – – – – – 5,862 – 5,862

Share of other comprehensive expenses of 

investments accounted for using  

the equity method

 

– – (323) – – – – (5,318) – (5,641) – (5,641)

Total comprehensive income (expenses)  

for the year – 5,862 (57,481) – – – – 15,182 (2,108,331) (2,144,768) 411 (2,144,357)

Transfer of reserve of an associate – – 23 – – – – – (23) – – –             

At 31 December 2024 190,762 5,862 138,360 206,627 4,402 2,499,685 138,062 (539,078) 9,422,054 12,066,736 24,008 12,090,744
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

(i) 

65,222,000

3333
65,104,000

118,000

1,745,755,000

 

323,737,000

(ii) 

100%

(iii) 

50%
10%

(iv) 

(v) 

4,519,000

 

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, all listed equity investment 
classified as financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) was disposed and the loss on fair 
value change of approximately HK$65,222,000 representing realised 
loss on the disposal of the shares of China Evergrande Group (listed on 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)) (stock 
code: 3333) (“Evergrande Shares”) of approximately HK$65,104,000 
and the transaction costs of the disposal of approximately HK$118,000 
was recorded in financial assets measured at FVTOCI reserve. During 
the year ended 31 December 2023, the cumulative fair value loss and 
the transaction costs in the financial assets measured at FVTOCI reserve 
that related to the disposed Evergrande Shares, which amounted to 
approximately HK$1,745,755,000, was transferred to retained profits 
upon completion of the disposal.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) derecognised an unlisted equity 
instrument measured at FVTOCI, the cumulative fair value loss of 
approximately HK$323,737,000 in the financial assets measured at 
FVTOCI reserve that related to the unlisted equity instrument was 
transferred to retained profits.

(ii) The contribution reserve represented the excess amount paid by 
Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan, who is a trustee of substantial shareholders of the 
Company (“Trustee of Substantial Shareholders”), as the purchaser 
in relation to the Group’s disposals of debt securities in 2020, at the 
consideration of 100% of principal amount over the prevailing market 
bid price of the debt securities disposed of was directly recognised in the 
reserve as it is deemed as the contribution from the Company’s equity 
participant.

(iii) The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”) statutory reserve fund. Appropriations to such reserve 
fund are made out of profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial 
statements of the PRC subsidiaries. The amount should not be less 
than 10% of the profit after tax as recorded in the statutory financial 
statements unless the aggregate amount exceeds 50% of the registered 
capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be used to 
make up prior year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into 
the PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of capitalisation issue.

(iv) The special reserve represented the difference arising from the aggregate 
of the share capital and premium amount of the former holding 
company and the Company upon redomicile of the holding company as 
a Bermuda Company in 1989 and is non-distributable.

(v) During the year ended 31 December 2023, unclaimed dividends 
forfeited represented dividends declared by the Company on or before 
31 May 2017 remaining unclaimed by shareholders of the Company 
on 21 August 2023, and the unclaimed dividends amounted to 
approximately HK$4,519,000 were forfeited and transferred to retained 
profits.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements.
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2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

(Loss) profit before tax ( ) (2,123,964) 104,297

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 60,718 58,791

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 45,763 45,811

Impairment loss of land and building 4,234 –

Interest expenses 205,633 221,846

Interest income from other financial assets (56,722) (36,066)

Dividend income from unlisted equity 

investment (26,005) (76,000)

Allowance for credit losses recognised  

in respect of trade receivables

 

19 –

Allowance for credit losses recognised  

in respect of other receivable

 

20 –

Unrealised loss arising from change in  

fair value of bonds

 

12,609 65,863

Unrealised (gain) loss arising from change in 

fair value of structured products and 

 derivative financial instruments

 

 

(127) 99

Unrealised loss arising from change in  

fair value of investments held-for-trading 20,508 29,820

Unrealised loss (gain) arising from change in 

fair value of club and corporate debentures 2,890 (1,760)

Realised loss (gain) arising from change in  

fair value of financial assets measured at 

fair value through profit or loss

 

 

443 (4,921)

(Gain) loss on disposals of equipment, net (64,366) 31

Share of results of investments accounted for 

using the equity method 111,174 (296,273)

Allowance for credit losses recognised in 

respect of advances to associates

 

7 50

Reversal of allowance for credit loss 

recognised in respect of advance to  

an associate

 

– (7,376)

Fair value changes on investment properties 1,731,776 31,007

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 37 100,142 –

Transaction costs in respect of disposal of  

an investment property 6,086 –

Exchange loss (gain), net 39,438 (1,778)

Distributions from a financial asset measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive 

income

 

 

– (754)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating cash flows before movements in 

working capital 70,276 132,687

(Increase) decrease in inventories (571) 563

Decrease (increase) in debtors, deposits,  

other receivables and prepayments 46,734 (14,150)

(Increase) decrease in financial assets measured 

at fair value through profit or loss

 

(56,978) 137,159

Decrease in securities trading receivables and 

deposits 8,924 14,021

Increase in creditors and accruals 294,199 884

Increase (decrease) in securities trading and 

margin payable

 

3,961 (2,771)

Decrease in deposits and receipts in advance (16,566) (1,952)

Decrease in derivative financial instrument (99) –  

Cash generated from operating activities 349,880 266,441

Income tax paid, net (13,415) (16,779)  

Net cash generated from  

operating activities 336,465 249,662  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities

Dividends received from associates – 27,900

Interest received from other financial assets 45,191 36,783

Payments for investment properties (312,711) (274,595)

Payments for purchases of equipment and 

leasehold improvement

 

(14,356) (21,814)

Net cash inflow arising from disposal of 

 a subsidiary

 

37 1,010,352 –

Net proceeds from disposal of an investment 

property

 

1,589,016 27,602

Net proceeds from disposals of equipment 71,620 –

Advances to associates (10) (48)

Advances from associates 47,375 49,057

Advances/repayments from investee  

companies

 

268,400 80,730

Advance to an investee company (13,765) (535,000)

(Increase) decrease in pledged deposits (884,276) 332

Net proceeds from disposals of financial assets 

measured at fair value through profit or loss 375 24,090

Net proceeds from disposal of a financial asset 

measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income

 

 

– 44,544

Distributions from a financial asset measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive 

income – 266,205  

Net cash generated from (used in) 

investing activities 1,807,211 (274,214)  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2024 2023

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Financing activities

Interest on bank and other borrowings paid (232,063) (230,461)

Payments for lease liabilities (including interest) (46,038) (45,640)

Bank and other borrowings raised 2,348,554 995,231

Loan from a director raised 97,579 282,210

Repayments of bank and other borrowings (3,022,878) (2,140,385)

Repayment of loan from a director (97,579) (282,210)

Dividend paid to a non-controlling shareholder – (19)  

Net cash used in financing activities 39 (952,425) (1,421,274)  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and  

cash equivalents

 

1,191,251 (1,445,826)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  

592,228 2,038,768

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (41,166) (714)  

Cash and cash equivalents  

at 31 December

 

1,742,313 592,228
  

Analysis of the balances of cash and  

cash equivalents

Time deposits, bank balances and cash 1,742,313 592,228
  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated 

financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda 

with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. 

The addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal 

office in Hong Kong are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate 

Information” of this annual report. The Company is indirectly 

owned as to 74.99% by Sino Omen Holdings Limited, a company 

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands of which the entire issued 

share capital is held by Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan as the trustee of her 

minor children, Lau, Chung-hok, Lau, Sau-wah and Lau, Sau-yee. 

Further details of the substantial shareholders of the Company 

are disclosed in the paragraph headed “Substantial Shareholders’ 

Interests in the Securities of the Company” in the section headed 

“Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong 

Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is same as the functional currency of 

the Company and all amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand 

(HK$’000) except otherwise indicated.

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding and the 

principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are set 

out in Notes 46 and 47 respectively.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRSs

The accounting policies adopted in these consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 are consistent 

with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 except 

as described below.

1. 

Sino Omen 

Holdings Limited

74.99%

46 47

2. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2. 

 

16

 

 

1

 

 

1

 

7

 

7

5   

 

 

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRSs (Cont’d)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments 

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and revised 

Interpretation (“Int”) (“Amendments”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, 

including those which are mandatorily effective for the annual period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of these 

consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and 

Leaseback

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current 

or Non-current

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 

(Amendments)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HK Int 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements  

– Classification by the Borrower of 

a Term Loan that Contains  

a Repayment on Demand Clause

The application of the Amendments had no material impact on the 

Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and 

prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated 

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

2. 

 

9  

7

 
2

 

10  

28

 

 
4

 

18

3

21  1

 

 

11

1

 

7  

9  

10  

7  
2

5   

 

 
3

1 

2 

3 

4 

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRSs (Cont’d)

The Group has not ear ly adopted the fo l lowing new and 

amendments to HKFRSs and Int (“New and Amended HKFRSs and 

Int”) that have been issued but not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 

(Amendments)

Amendments to the Classification 

and Measurement of Financial 

Instruments2

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 

(Amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between 

an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture4

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 

Statements3

HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability1

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 

Accounting Standards  

– Volume 11

Amendments to HKFRS 1,  

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,  

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

HK Int 5 (Amendments) Presentation of Financial Statements  

– Classification by the Borrower of  

a Term Loan that Contains  

a Repayment on Demand Clause3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 
determined

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are in the process of 

assessing the potential impact of the New and Amended HKFRSs 

and Int but are not yet in a position to determine whether the New 

and Amended HKFRSs and Int will have a material impact on the 

Group’s performance and financial position and on the disclosures. 

The New and Amended HKFRSs and Int may result in changes to 

how the Group’s performance and financial position are prepared 

and presented in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

622

2

16

2

36

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with HKFRSs (which include all Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 

and Ints) issued by the HKICPA and accounting principles generally 

accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, these consolidated financial 

statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 

Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing 

Rules”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 

the historical cost basis, except for certain properties and financial 

instruments, which are measured at their fair values as explained in 

the accounting policies set out below.

Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that 

price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 

technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the 

Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability 

if market participants would take those characteristics into account 

when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 

for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 

financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-

based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 

“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for 

in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that 

have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 

realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value-in-use in HKAS 36 

“Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3. 
 

 

 

 

(a) 

(i) (ii)

(iii)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Fair value measurements (Cont’d)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements 

are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which 

the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 

significance of the inputs to the fair value measurements in its 

entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access 

at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(a) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 

statements of the Company and entities (including structured 

entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. 

Control is achieved when the Company: (i) has power over 

the investee; (ii) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) has the ability 

to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if 

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 

or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains 

control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 

control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses 

of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 

included in profit or loss from the date the Group gains control 

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

(a) 

(b) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income 

are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-

controlling interests. Total comprehensive income and expense 

of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and 

to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented 

separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 

present ownership interests entitling their holders to a 

proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 

upon liquidation.

(b) Investments accounted for using the equity method

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 

influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a 

joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in 

the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but 

is not control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

(b) 

5

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b) Investments accounted for using the equity method 

(Cont’d)

The results and assets and liabilit ies of associates are 

incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the 

equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or 

a portion thereof, is classified as held for sale, in which case 

it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. Under 

the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially 

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s 

share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an 

associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which 

includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part 

of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group 

discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional 

losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has 

incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments 

on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity 

method from the date on which the investee becomes an 

associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any 

excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of 

the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 

investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the 

carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s 

share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 

liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which 

the investment is acquired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

(b) 

36

36

9

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(b) Investments accounted for using the equity method 

(Cont’d)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence 

that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any 

objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the 

investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 

accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its 

recoverable amount (higher of value-in-use and fair value less 

costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment 

loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including 

goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the 

investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised 

in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable 

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over 

an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire 

interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being 

recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest 

in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial 

asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments“, 

the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that 

date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial 

recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of 

the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and 

any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the 

associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss 

on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts 

for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income in relation to that associate on the same basis as 

would be required if that associate had directly disposed of 

the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that 

associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal 

of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the 

gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification 

adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant 

associate.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the 

Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with 

the associate are recognised in the consolidated financial 

statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that 

are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

(c) 

(d)  

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(c) Impairment losses (other than goodwill and 

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 

carrying amounts of its tangible assets and intangible assets 

with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any 

indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less 

than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 

is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 

amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 

its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(d) Investment properties and investment properties 

under construction

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental 

income and/or for capital appreciation including properties 

under construction for such purpose and land held for a 

currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including 

any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value, 

adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease 

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 

investment properties are included in profit or loss for the 

period in which they arise.

Costs incurred for construction of investment properties under 

construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of 

the investment properties under construction.
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3.  

(d)  

16

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(d) Investment properties and investment properties 

under construction (Cont’d)

Leasehold land held for undetermined future use is regarded 

as held for capital appreciation purpose and classified as an 

investment property, and carried at fair value. Changes in fair 

value of the leasehold land are recognised directly in profit or 

loss for the period in which changes take place.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or 

when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 

from use and no future economic benefits are expected from 

its disposal. Any gain or loss arising from derecognition of 

the property (calculated as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the property) is 

included in profit or loss for the period in which the property is 

derecognised.

An owner-occupied property is transferred from property, plant 

and equipment to investment properties at fair value when it 

is evidenced by the end of owner-occupation. The difference 

between the carrying amount and the fair value at the date 

of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income 

and accounted for as a revaluation increase or decrease in 

accordance with HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”. 

On the subsequent sale or retirement of assets, the relevant 

revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

(e) 

 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 

subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant 

and equipment (other than freehold land and properties under 

development) over their estimated useful lives and after taking 

into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-

line method, at the following rates per annum:

Type Basis

Leasehold land Over the remaining lives of the 

leases

Buildings Over the shorter of the remaining 

unexpired period of the lease and 

40 years

Leasehold 

improvement

Over the shorter of the remaining 

unexpired period of lease terms 

and 6 years

Furniture, fixtures and 

equipment

3 to 10 years

Yachts and motor 

vehicles

3 to 10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any 

gain or loss arising from derecognition of the asset (calculated 

as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the 

period in which the asset is derecognised.
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3.  

(f) 

(g) 

(h) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(f) Stock of properties

Stock of properties including completed properties which are 

held-for-trading, is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value.

The cost of completed properties held for sale is determined 

by apportionment of the total development costs, including 

borrowing costs capitalised, attributable to unsold units. Net 

realisable value is estimated by the management of the Group 

based on prevailing market conditions, which represents the 

estimated selling price less estimated costs to be incurred in 

selling the property.

The amount of any write-down of or provision for completed 

properties held for sale is recognised as an expense in the 

period when the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of 

any reversal of any write-down or provision, arising from an 

increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in 

the amount of completed properties held for sale recognised 

as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(g) Inventories

Inventories comprise finished goods and raw materials for 

cosmetics products, which are stated at the lower of cost 

and net realisable value. Cost represents the invoiced cost 

of inventories. Costs are assigned to individual items on the 

weighted-average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling 

expenses.

(h) Intangible assets

Trading rights, exchange rights and trademark

Trading rights, gold and silver exchange rights and trademark 

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less any 

identified impairment loss. The amortisation period adopted 

for intangible assets is five years.
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(i) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position when a group 

entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

financial instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

are initially measured at fair value. A financial asset or financial 

liability (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant 

financing component) is initially measured at fair value plus 

or minus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 

acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant 

financing component is initially measured at the transaction 

price.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in 

their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending 

on the classification of the financial assets.

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost (except for 

debt investments that are designated as at FVTPL on 

initial recognition):

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is to hold assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give 

rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding.
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(i) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 

assets (Cont’d)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial asset; 

and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give 

rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets that are other than those 

categorised as amortised cost and FVTOCI above, are 

categorised as measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is held-for-trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 

selling in the near term;

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of 

identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern 

of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and 

effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a 

financial asset that is required to be measured at the 

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing 

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 

mismatch.
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(1) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 

assets (Cont’d)

(1) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method 

of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 

instrument and allocating interest income over 

the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 

or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life 

of the debt instrument or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period, to the net carrying amount at initial 

recognition.

Interest income is recognised using effective 

interest method for financial assets measured 

subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income 

is recognised in profit or loss and is included in 

revenue or investment income as appropriate.
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(2) 
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5(c)
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 

assets (Cont’d)

(2) Financial assets measured at FVTOCI

According to HKFRS 9, the Group may make 

an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-

instrument basis) to designate investments in 

equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at 

FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment 

is held-for-trading. A financial asset is held-for-

trading if it has been acquired principally for the 

purpose of selling it in the near term or it is a 

derivative that is not designated and effective as a 

hedging instrument.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are 

initially measured at fair value plus transaction 

costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair 

value with gains and losses arising from changes 

in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in the financial assets 

measured at FVTOCI reserve. Fair value is 

determined in the manner described in Note 5(c) 

to the consolidated financial statements.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss 

and is included in revenue.

The Group has designated all investments in 

equity instruments (listed or unlisted) that are not 

held-for-trading as at FVTOCI since the application 

of HKFRS 9.
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(i) 

(3) 

 

(i)(2)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 

assets (Cont’d)

(3) Financial assets measured at FVTPL

Financial assets measured at FVTPL comprise 

derivatives that are not designated and effective 

as hedging instruments and club and corporate 

debentures. 

Investments in equity instruments are classified 

as FVTPL, unless the Group designates such 

investment that is not held-for-trading as at 

FVTOCI on initial recognition (see (i)(2) above).

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 

cost and FVTOCI cr i ter ia (see above) are 

measured at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments 

that meet the amortised cost criteria but are 

designated as at FVTPL are measured at FVTPL. 

A debt instrument may be designated as at 

FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation 

eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement 

or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 

arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 

recognising the gains and losses on them on 

different bases.
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(i) 

(i) 

(3) 

5(c)

(ii) 

9

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 

assets (Cont’d)

(3) Financial assets measured at FVTPL (Cont’d)

F inanc ia l  asse t s  measured a t  FVTPL a re 

measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 

period, with any gains or losses arising from 

remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. 

The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 

is included in investment income. Fair value is 

determined in the manner described in Note 5(c) 

to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest income on debt instruments at FVTPL 

is recognised in profit or loss and is included in 

revenue.

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under 

expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets 

(including debtors, deposits and other receivables, 

securities trading receivables and deposits, pledged 

deposits, time deposits, bank balances and cash, and 

advances to associates/investee companies) which are 

subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The 

amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to 

reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3.  

(i) 

(ii) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from 

all possible default events over the expected life of the 

relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m 

ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 

expected to result from default events that are possible 

within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical 

credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 

specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 

and an assessment of both the current conditions at 

the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 

conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade 

receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed 

individually for significant balances or collectively using a 

provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 

loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk since 

initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 

recognised is based on significant increases in the 

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 

recognition.
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(ii) 
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• 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 

the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument 

as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 

occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of 

initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 

considers both quantitative and qualitative information 

that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 

experience and forward-looking information that is 

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into 

account when assessing whether credit r isk has 

increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in 

the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 

internal credit rating;

• signif icant deterioration in external market 

indicators of credit risk;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 

financial or economic conditions that are expected 

to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s 

ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in 

the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change 

in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a 

significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 

its debt obligations.
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(i) 

(ii) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 

the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition when contractual 

payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 

Group has reasonable and supportable information that 

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of 

the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 

appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 

amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers 

an event of default occurs when information developed 

internally or obtained from external sources indicates 

that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including 

the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that 

default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 

90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information to demonstrate that a more 

lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(i) 

(ii) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is 

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 

financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 

recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been 

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 

proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when 

the amounts are over one year past due, whichever 

occurs sooner, unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information to demonstrate a later period 

is more appropriate. Financial assets written off may 

still be subject to enforcement activities under the 

Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 

advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a 

derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 

recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability 

of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the 

loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. 

The assessment of the probability of default and loss 

given default is based on historical data and forward-

looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an 

unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is 

determined with the respective risks of default occurring 

as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in 

estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision 

matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for forward-looking information that 

is available without undue cost or effort.
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(ii) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

Measurement and recognition of ECLs (Cont’d)

 

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all 

contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that 

the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective 

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on a 

forward-looking basis whether financial assets carried at 

amortised cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 

“credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a 

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows 

of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 

observable data of the following events:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or 

borrower;

• a breach of contract such as a default or past due 

event;

• the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower 

a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 

otherwise consider; or

• it is becoming probable that the borrower will 

enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, 

or the disappearance of an active market for a 

security because of financial difficulties.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

(iii) Derecognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual 

rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, 

the financial assets are transferred and the Group has 

transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the financial assets to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, except for an 

investment in equity instrument that is classified as 

FVTOCI, the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the sum of the consideration received and 

receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument 

that is classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or 

loss previously accumulated in the financial assets 

measured at FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit 

or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(i) Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a 

group entity are classified as either financial liabilities 

or equity instruments according to the substance 

of the contractual arrangements entered into and 

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 

instrument.
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(ii)
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and measurement (Cont’d)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences 

a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial 

liabilities are generally classified into (i) financial liabilities 

at FVTPL and (ii) other financial liabilities subsequently 

measured at amortised cost. The accounting policies 

adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity 

instruments are set out below.

(1) Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL, representing those as 

held-for-trading, comprise derivatives that are not 

designated and effective as hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair 

value, with changes in fair value arising from 

remeasurement recognised directly in profit or 

loss in the period in which they arise.

(2) Other financial liabilities subsequently measured 

at amortised cost and effective interest method

Other f inancial l iabi l i t ies are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost, using the effective 

interest method. Interest expense that is not 

capitalised as part of costs of an asset is included 

in finance costs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and measurement (Cont’d)

(2) Other financial liabilities subsequently measured 

at amortised cost and effective interest method 

(Cont’d)

The effective interest method is a method of 

calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

liability and allocating interest expense over the 

relevant period. The effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash payments (including all fees and points 

paid or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life 

of the financial liability or, where appropriate, a 

shorter period, to the net carrying amount at initial 

recognition.

Interest expense is recognised using effective 

interest method for financial liabilities, other than 

those financial liabilities at FVTPL.

(3) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are 

recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 

issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity 

instruments is recognised and deducted directly 

in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or 

loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of 

the Company’s own equity instruments.
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(ii) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

(ii) Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Group’s 

obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 

cancelled or expires. The difference between the 

carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in 

profit or loss.

Except for changes in the basis for determining the 

contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate 

benchmark reform in which the Group applies the 

practical expedient, when the contractual terms of 

a financial liability are modified, the Group assesses 

whether the revised terms result in a substantial 

modification from original terms taking into account all 

relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative 

factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, 

the Group considers that the terms are substantially 

different if the discounted present value of the cash 

flows under the new terms, including any fees paid 

net of any fees received, and discounted using 

the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% 

different from the discounted present value of the 

remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. 

Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted 

for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred 

are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the 

extinguishment. The exchange or modification is 

considered as non-substantial modification when such 

difference is less than 10%.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities 

that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount 

of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at 

the present value of the modified contractual cash 

flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original 

effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred 

are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified 

financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining 

term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the 

financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date 

of modification.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date 

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting 

period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 

immediately.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current 

liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more 

than 12 months and it is not due to be realised or settled 

within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current 

assets or current liabilities.

Financial guarantee contract

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the 

issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 

payment when due in accordance with the original or modified 

terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract 

liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not 

designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of an 

asset, are measured subsequently at the higher of:

• the amount of the loss allowance determined in 

accordance with HKFRS 9 (see financial assets above); 

and

• the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, 

the cumulative amortisation recognised over the 

guarantee period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(j) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a 

short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, 

less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form 

an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial 

position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 

and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in 

nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

(k) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance 

obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or 

services underlying the particular performance obligation is 

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or 

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of 

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised 

over time by reference to the progress towards complete 

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the 

following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes 

the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as 

the Group performs;

• the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset 

that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset 

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group 

has an enforceable right to payment for performance 

completed to date.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(k) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the 

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration 

in exchange for goods or services that the Group has 

transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is 

assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In 

contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional 

right to consideration.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer 

goods or services to a customer for which the Group has 

received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) 

from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are 

accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from 

properties under operating leases, is recognised in profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Building management fee income, property management 

services income and management fee income are recognised 

in accordance with terms of respective agreements over the 

relevant period in which the services are rendered. Revenue 

from provision of building and property management services 

is recognised over time as the customer simultaneously 

receives and consumes the benefit provided by the Group’s 

performance as the Group performs.

Sales of securities investments are recognised on a trade date 

basis.

Brokerage income on dealings in securities and futures 

contracts is recognised at the point in time when the relevant 

contract notes are executed.



155二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

3.  

(k) 

(l) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(k) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the 

Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Revenue from sales of cosmetics products is recognised at the 

point in time when goods are delivered and titles have been 

passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time 

basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying 

amount at initial recognition.

(l) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 

year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in 

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because 

of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 

in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. 

The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 

the reporting period.
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3.  

(l) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(l) Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary dif ferences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 

bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 

all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 

probable that taxable profits will be available against which 

those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 

temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 

assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 

taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the 

transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible 

temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, except where the Group is able to control the 

reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 

end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 

that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability 

is settled or the asset is realised. Current and deferred tax are 

recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 

that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 

respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the 

initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 

included in the accounting for the business combination.
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3.  

(l) 

12

(m) 

16

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(l) Taxation (Cont’d)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are 

attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 

“Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-use assets and 

lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences arising from 

subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use 

assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of 

lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject 

to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of 

remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 

legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities, and when they relate to income taxes 

levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation 

authority and the entity intends to settle its current tax assets 

and liabilities on a net basis.

(m) Leasing

Definition of lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business 

combinations on or after the date of initial application, the 

Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based 

on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification 

date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not 

be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract 

are subsequently changed.
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3.  

(m) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(m) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or 

more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 

allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease 

component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of 

the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of 

the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption 

to short-term leases of assets (i.e. those leases that have a 

lease term of twelve months or less from the commencement 

date and do not contain a purchase option). The Group also 

applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption 

to lease of office equipment that are considered as low value. 

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value 

assets are recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The  G roup  r e cogn i s e s  r i g h t -o f -u se  a s se t s  a t  t he 

commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date which the 

underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are 

measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement 

of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 

the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 

incurred, estimated costs to be incurred by the lessee in 

restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the 

terms and conditions of the lease, and lease payments made 

at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain 

ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the 

recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-

line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the 

lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item 

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3.  

(m) 

9

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(m) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under 

HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to 

fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional 

lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises 

lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 

payments to be made over the lease term. In calculating 

the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the 

incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 

date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 

determinable.

The lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed lease 

payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a 

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under 

residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is 

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the 

lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities 

is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for 

the lease payments made.
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3.  

(m) 

• 

• 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(m) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee (Cont’d)

Lease liabilities (Cont’d)

The Group remeasures lease l iabi l i t ies (and makes a 

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 

whenever:

• change in the lease term or change in the assessment 

of exercise of a purchase option to purchase the 

underlying asset, in which case the related lease 

liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 

payments using a revised discount rate at the date of 

reassessment;

• change in lease payments arising from change in an 

index or rate or expected payment under a guaranteed 

residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is 

remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments 

using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item in 

the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3.  

(m) 

(n) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(m) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor (Cont’d)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part 

of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease 

modifications, including lease incentives provided through 

forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

Operating leases

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease 

as a new lease from the effective date of the modification, 

considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to 

the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new 

lease.

(n) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 

entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 

currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded at the 

rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At 

the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated 

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 

that date. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary 

item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component 

of that gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a 

fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised 

in other comprehensive income, any exchange component 

of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 

income. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 

prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 

cost in foreign currencies are not retranslated.
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3.  

(n) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(n) Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

Exchange differences arising from the settlement of monetary 

items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised 

in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for 

exchange differences arising from a monetary item that forms 

part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in 

which case, the exchange differences are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and will be reclassified from equity to 

profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 

statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 

operations are translated into the presentation currency of 

the Group (i.e. HK$) using the exchange rate prevailing at the 

end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are 

translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless 

exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in 

which case, the exchange rates at the dates of transactions 

are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised 

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognised 

in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is 

disposed of.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the 

Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal 

involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a 

foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant 

influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), 

all of the exchange differences accumulated in the translation 

reserve in respect of that operation attributable to the owners 

of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.  

(o) 

(p) 

(a) 

(b) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(o) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 

ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 

those assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases 

when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 

or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 

period in which they are incurred.

(p) Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes 

are recognised as expenses when employees have rendered 

service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans including the long 

service payment (“LSP”) under the Hong Kong Employment 

Ordinance, the cost of providing benefits is determined using 

the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations 

being carried out at the end of each annual reporting period. In 

determining the present value of the Group’s defined benefit 

obligations and the related current service cost and, where 

applicable, past service cost, the Group attributes benefit to 

periods of service under the plan’s benefit formula. However, 

if an employee’s service in later years will lead to a materially 

higher level of benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes 

the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(a) the date when service by the employee first leads to 

benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are 

conditional on further service) until

(b) the date when further service by the employee will lead 

to no material amount of further benefits under the 

plan, other than from further salary increases.
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3.  

(p) 

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(p) Retirement benefit costs (Cont’d)

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the 

effect of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and 

the return on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected 

immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position 

with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive 

income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement 

recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected 

immediately in retained earnings and will not be reclassified to 

profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period 

of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain or loss on 

settlement is recognised when settlement occurs. When 

determining past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, 

an entity shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or 

asset using the current fair value of plan assets and current 

actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered under 

the plan and the plan assets before and after the plan 

amendment, curtailment or settlement, without considering 

the effect of asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any 

economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the 

plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the 

beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability 

or asset. However, if the Group remeasures the net defined 

benefit liability or asset before plan amendment, curtailment 

or settlement, the Group determines net interest for the 

remainder of the annual reporting period after the plan 

amendment, curtailment or settlement using the benefits 

offered under the plan and the plan assets after the plan 

amendment, curtailment or settlement and the discount rate 

used to remeasure such net defined benefit liability or asset, 

taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 

liability or asset during the period resulting from contributions 

or benefit payments.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(p) Retirement benefit costs (Cont’d)

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

• service cost (including current service cost, past service 

cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and 

settlements);

• net interest expense or income; and

• remeasurement.

The ret i rement benef i t obl igat ion recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position represents the 

actual deficit or surplus in the Group’s defined benefit plans. 

Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the 

present value of any economic benefits available in the form 

of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions 

to the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties 

reduce service cost upon payment of these contributions to 

the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be 

contributions from employees or third parties, the accounting 

depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as 

follows:

• If the contributions are not linked to services (for 

example contributions are required to reduce a deficit 

arising from losses on plan assets or from actuarial 

losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the 

net defined benefit liability or asset.

• If the contributions are linked to services, they reduce 

service cost. For the amount of contribution that is 

dependent on the number of years of service, the Group 

reduces service cost by attributing the contributions to 

periods of service using the attribution method required 

by HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” paragraph 70 for 

the gross benefits. For the amount of contribution that 

is independent of the number of years of service, the 

Group reduces service cost in the period in which the 

related service is rendered.

3.  

(p) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

19 70
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(p) Retirement benefit costs (Cont’d)

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer 

mandatory provident fund (“MPF”) contributions expected to 

be offset as a deemed employee contribution towards the 

LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure 

on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is 

determined after deducting the negative service cost arising 

from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF 

contributions that have been vested with employees, which 

are deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

(q) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 

obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the 

Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 

of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 

at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 

risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 

provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 

the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value 

of those cash flows.

(r) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is 

related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control of the Group;

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel 

of the Group or the Group’s parent.

3.  

(p) 

19.93(a)

(q) 

(r) 

(i) 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(r) Related parties (Cont’d)

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following 

conditions applies:

(1) the entity and the Group are members of the 

same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 

others).

(2) one entity is an associate or a joint venture of the 

other entity (or an associate or a joint venture of 

a member of a group of which the other entity is 

a member).

(3) both entities are joint ventures of the same third 

party.

(4) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and 

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(5) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for 

the benefit of employees of either the Group or 

an entity related to the Group. If the Group is 

itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are 

also related to the Group.

(6) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a 

person identified in (i).

(7) a person identified in (i)(1) has significant 

influence over the entity or is a member of the 

key management personnel of the entity (or of a 

parent of the entity).

(8) the entity, or any member of a group of which 

it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the 

Group.

3.  

(r) 

(ii) 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) (i)

(7) (i)(1)

(8) 
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(r) Related parties (Cont’d)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or 

obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless 

of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family 

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced 

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(s) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from 

past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by 

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can 

also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not 

recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic 

resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot 

be measured reliably. A contingent liability is not recognised 

but is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow 

occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised 

as a provision.

(t) Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 

with the internal management reporting provided to the 

chief operating decision-makers. Segment assets consist 

primarily of investment properties, financial assets and other 

assets. Segment liabilities comprise financial liabilities and 

other liabilities. The Group evaluates performance on the 

basis of profit or loss from operations after tax expense and 

non-controlling interests but not including the major non-

cash items. The major non-cash items are unrealised fair 

value changes on investment properties and other properties 

together with, if applicable, their respective deferred tax.

(u) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is 

recognised as a liability in the consolidated statement of 

financial position in the period in which the dividends are 

approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where 

appropriate.

3.  

(r) 

(s) 

(t) 

(u) 
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4. 

3

1,093,000 138,522,000

195,680,000

5(c)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are 

described in Note 3, the management of the Group is required to 

make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 

other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based 

on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 

the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 

that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, 

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held suspended trading listed 

equity securities and unlisted equity securities with carrying amounts 

of approximately HK$1,093,000 and HK$138,522,000 (2023: nil 

and HK$195,680,000) respectively. These financial instruments 

do not have a quoted market price in an active market (“Unquoted 

Investments”).

Fair values of the Unquoted Investments were determined based on 

significant unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgment 

and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation 

techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions 

relating to these factors could result in material adjustments to the 

fair value of the Unquoted Investments. Details are set out in Note 

5(c).
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4. 

19

9,719,164,000

13,957,718,000

19

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

Fair value of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value based 

on the valuations performed by independent qualified professional 

property valuers. In determining the fair value, the valuers have based 

on methods of valuation which involve certain assumptions and 

estimates. Independent external valuations were obtained in respect 

of all of the portfolio of the Group, and also of the investment 

properties held by its associates in order to support management’s 

estimates. In relying on the valuation reports, the management 

of the Group has exercised its judgments and is satisfied that the 

methods of valuation are reflective of the current market conditions, 

as detailed in Note 19. Changes to these assumptions, including the 

potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social 

changes or other unexpected incidents would result in changes 

in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the 

investment properties held by its associates which were included in 

the investments accounted for using the equity method as reported 

in the consolidated statement of financial position. Corresponding 

adjustments would be made, where appropriate, to the amount of 

fair value gain or loss and share of results of investments accounted 

for using the equity method reported in the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s 

investment properties was approximately HK$9,719,164,000 

(2023: HK$13,957,718,000). Details of the fair value of investment 

properties are disclosed in Note 19.
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5. 

(a) 

(b) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value 

 through profit or loss

 

 419,958 399,678 

Financial assets measured at fair value 

 through other comprehensive income  138,522 195,680

Amortised cost 3,415,116 1,641,654
  

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 3,550,879 4,220,111

Derivative financial instrument – 99
  

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity 

investments, investments held-for-trading, bonds, derivative 

financial instruments, club and corporate debentures, advances 

to/from associates/investee companies/non-controlling 

shareholders, debtors, deposits and other receivables, 

securities trading receivables and deposits, pledged deposits, 

time deposits, bank balances and cash, borrowings, creditors 

and accruals, securities trading and margin payable, lease 

liabilities and deposits received. Details of these financial 

instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks 

associated with these financial instruments and the policies 

on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The 

management of the Group manages and monitors these 

exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 

on a timely and effective manner. There has been no change 

to the Group’s risk exposure relating to financial instruments or 

the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
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5. 

(b)  

(i) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange 

risk arising from future commercial transactions, and 

from recognised assets and liabilities. The functional 

currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries in 

Hong Kong is HK$ in which most of the transactions 

are denominated. The functional currencies of those 

subsidiaries operating in the United Kingdom and the 

PRC are Pound Sterling (“GBP”) and Renminbi (“RMB”) 

respectively in which most of their transactions are 

denominated. The Group is mainly exposed to foreign 

exchange risk in respect of exchange fluctuations 

of HK$ against GBP and RMB. The conversion of 

RMB into other currencies is subject to the rules and 

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by 

the government of the PRC. The Group currently does 

not have foreign currency hedging policy in respect 

of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group 

monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will 

consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 

should the need arise.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk on its 

foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities at 

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

United States dollar (“US$”) 357,596 311,258

GBP 1,888,258 49,621

RMB 11,373 11,949
  

Liabilities

US$ 374 –

GBP 969 –

RMB 15 565
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5. 

(b)  

(i) 

5%

5%

5%

5%

5%

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 

5% increase and decrease in HK$ against the relevant 

foreign currencies. As HK$ is pegged to US$, it is 

assumed that there would be no material currency risk 

exposure between US$ and HK$ and therefore US$ is 

excluded from the sensitivity analysis below.

5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign 

currency risk internally to key management personnel 

and represents management’s assessment of the 

reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding foreign 

currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their 

translations at the end of the reporting period for a 5% 

change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis 

includes external loans where the denomination of the 

loan is in a currency other than the functional currency 

of the lender or the borrower; but excluding exposure 

resulting from the translation of the financial statements 

of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation 

currency.

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit 

where the relevant currencies strengthen 5% against 

HK$. For a 5% weakening of the relevant currencies 

against HK$, there would be an equal and opposite 

impact on the profit.

Profit

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Impact of
GBP 90,018 70
RMB 568 569
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5. 

(b)  

(i) 

(ii) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis (Cont’d)

There would be no material impact on the Group’s 

other components of equity for the years ended 

31 December 2024 and 2023.

The net effect of the Group’s sensitivity to foreign 

currency risk was attributable to the Group’s monetary 

assets and liabilities with exposure to foreign currency 

risk at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group has variable-rate interest-bearing assets and 

liabilities including time deposits, bank balances, sales 

proceeds held by a third party and borrowings and is 

therefore exposed to cash flow interest rate risk. Details 

of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective 

notes. The Group currently does not have interest 

rate hedging policy. However, the management of the 

Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider 

hedging significant interest rate exposure should the 

need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk from its 

variable rate borrowings is mainly concentrated on 

the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate 

(“HIBOR”), compounded reference rate of a bank or 

costs of funds of a financial institution.



175二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

5. 

(b)  

(ii) 

50

1,158,000

14,024,000

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The fol lowing demonstrates the sensit iv i ty to a 

reasonable possible change in interest rates with all 

other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss (2023: 

profit) before tax (through the impact of floating rates in 

time deposits, bank balances, sales proceeds held by a 

third party and borrowings).

If the floating rates had been 50 basis points higher/

lower, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s 

loss (2023: profit) before tax for the year ended 

31 December 2024 would decrease/increase by 

approximately HK$1,158,000 (2023: HK$14,024,000). 

This was mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to 

interest rates on its variable-rate borrowings and time 

deposits.

There would be no material impact on the Group’s 

other components of equity for the years ended 

31 December 2024 and 2023.
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5. 

(b)  

(iii) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Price risk

The Group’s investments classified as financial assets 

measured at FVTPL and financial assets measured at 

FVTOCI which are measured at fair value at the end of 

each reporting period and expose the Group to price 

risk. At the end of the reporting period, the Group held 

investments in certain high yield and fixed-rate bonds. 

High yield bonds are bonds that are typically rated 

below investment grade or are unrated and therefore 

are generally more vulnerable to economic cycles as 

they typically fall more in value than investment grade 

bonds given higher default risk and higher investors 

risk adversity. For bonds with fixed-rate coupons, they 

are more susceptible to fluctuations in interest rates. As 

interest rates move upward, the value of the bonds will 

generally fall. Furthermore, the longer the tenor of the 

bonds, the more sensitive they will be to interest rate 

changes.

The management of the Group manages this exposure 

by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different 

risk profiles. In addition, the Group has appointed a 

specific team to monitor the price risk and will consider 

hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.
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5. 

(b)  

(iii) 

5%

20,998,000

19,989,000

5%

6,926,000

9,784,000

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Price risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined 

based on the exposure to price risk at the end of the 

reporting period.

If prices had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s 

loss (2023: profit) before tax for the year ended 

31 December 2024 would decrease/increase (2023: 

increase/decrease) by approximately HK$20,998,000 

(2023: HK$19,989,000). This was due to the changes 

in fair value of financial assets measured at FVTPL and 

derivative financial instrument.

If prices had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s other 

components of equity for the year ended 31 December 

2024 would increase/decrease by approximately 

HK$6,926,000 (2023: HK$9,784,000) as a result of 

the changes in fair value of financial assets measured at 

FVTOCI.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of 

the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at 

31 December 2024 in relation to each class of recognised 

financial assets is the carrying amounts of those assets as 

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 

Group’s time deposits and bank balances are deposited with 

banks of high credit quality in Hong Kong, Mainland China and 

overseas.



 

178 CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

5. 

(b)  

9

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group made transactions with counterparties with 

acceptable credit quality in conformance to the Group’s 

treasury policies to minimise credit exposure. Acceptable 

credit ratings from reputable credit rating agencies and scrutiny 

of financials for non-rated counterparties are two important 

criteria in the selection of counterparties. The credit quality of 

counterparties will be closely monitored over the life of the 

transaction. The Group reviews its financial counterparties 

periodically in order to reduce credit risk concentrations relative 

to the underlying size and credit strength of each counterparty.

In an attempt to forestall adverse market movement, the 

Group also monitors potential exposures to each financial 

institution counterparty. In addition, the Group reviews the 

recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of the 

reporting period to ensure that adequate allowance for credit 

losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the 

Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly 

reduced.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECLs 

prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime 

ECL provision for trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, 

trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit 

risk characteristics. The Group has performed historical analysis 

and identified the key economic variables impacting credit 

risk and ECL, and also considers the available reasonable and 

supportive forward-looking information.
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5. 

(b)  

19,000

29

4,964,000 4,665,000

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables that are 

individually significant have been separately assessed for 

impairment, after taking into consideration, the background 

and reputation of the customers, historical settlement records 

and past experiences at the end of each reporting period. The 

Group makes periodic assessments on the recoverability of the 

trade receivables by using a provision matrix to measure ECL. 

The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings 

of various customer segments with similar financial strength 

and any disputes with the debtors. The calculation reflects 

reasonable and supportable information that is available at 

the reporting date about past events, current conditions and 

forecasts of future economic conditions. For the year ended 

31 December 2024, allowance for credit losses in respect of 

trade receivables of approximately HK$19,000 (2023: nil) was 

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. Details are set out in Note 29.

For interest receivables from bonds, the Group makes periodic 

individual assessment on the recoverability of each bond 

based on their respective historical settlement records and 

credit rating of the respective issuer. As at 31 December 

2024 and 2023, certain bond issuers had defaulted their 

payment and/or were in severe financial difficulty and the 

Group considered the amounts were irrecoverable. The Group 

assessed and measured these amounts based on lifetime ECL 

and no provision were made in respect of these receivables for 

the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The interest 

receivables from bonds of approximately HK$4,964,000 

(2023: HK$4,665,000) were assessed based on 12m ECL 

and no provision were made in respect of these receivables 

for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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5. 

(b)  

20,000

7,000

7,326,000

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

For all other receivables, the Group measures the loss 

allowance equal to 12m ECL and assessed individually, unless 

when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 

initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 

assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised 

is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a 

default occurring since initial recognition. For the year ended 

31 December 2024, allowance for credit losses in respect of 

other receivable of approximately HK$20,000 (2023: nil) was 

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income.

The credit quality of the advances to related parties has been 

assessed with reference to historical information about the 

default rates and financial position of the counterparties. 

These balances were assessed individually based on 12m 

ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2024, allowance for 

credit losses of approximately HK$7,000 (2023: reversal 

of allowance for credit losses, net of HK$7,326,000) was 

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income.
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5. 

(b)  

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

5(b)(iii)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Investments in bonds are limited to financial institutions or 

investment counterparties with high quality. When making 

decisions on investments in bonds, the management of 

the Group has also made reference to the credit ratings 

of the issuers and guarantors (if any) which, however, 

are not an assurance as to the issuers’ and/or guarantors’ 

creditworthiness or the risks, returns or suitability of the bonds. 

Risks in particular specific to certain types of bonds held by 

the Group are: (i) high yield bonds – they in general carry 

high credit risk as they are often subject to higher risk of issuer 

default as they are typically rated below investment grade or 

are unrated; (ii) perpetual bonds – their coupon payments 

may be deferred or suspended subject to the terms and 

conditions of the bonds and they are often callable after a 

call protection period (related risk is detailed in the liquidity 

risk below); and (iii) contingent convertible bonds – issued 

by financial institutions that are deeply subordinated in the 

capital structure, typically Tier 1 or Tier 2 securities. The key 

characteristic of contingent convertible bonds is that the 

issuer can either write off the principal amount or convert it 

to shares without causing a default on the bond. There could 

be a specific hard capital ratio trigger or declaration of non-

viability event by the regulator for the write off or conversion 

to equity to happen. The Group may be exposed to a higher 

issuer credit risk and may experience substantial losses or lose 

the entire value of investment as a result of a trigger event. 

Other than the above, there may be additional risks associated 

with trading of bonds over-the-counter (“OTC”) because 

OTC transactions are generally subject to limited regulation 

and therefore less transparent in transaction details such as 

volume, price formation, etc. There may also be additional 

risks for investments located in an emerging market which may 

involve certain risks associated with political and economic 

uncertainty. In view of the specific risks above, the Group has 

appointed the specific team as disclosed in Note 5(b)(iii) 

above to closely monitor the risks.
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5. 

(b)  

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

The credit risk for pledged deposits, time deposits, bank 

balances and deposits with clearing house are insignificant 

because the counterparties are banks and clearing house with 

high credit ratings.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical location 

is mainly in Hong Kong, Europe and Mainland China. The 

Group also monitors regularly to avoid over-concentration (such 

as investment products and underlying foreign exchange, etc.) 

of the investment portfolio.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s certain bonds and listed equity securities 

were pledged to a financial institution to secure margin 

and securities facility granted to the Group. Under adverse 

market conditions, the Group may be called by the financial 

institution upon at short notice to make deposits to repay the 

margin loans. If the required deposits are not made within the 

prescribed time, the Group’s securities may be liquidated by 

the financial institution without the Group’s consent.

Certain bonds held by the Group carried fixed-rate coupon are 

accompanied with call rights, the issuers may call and redeem 

the bonds early if interest rates fall. The Group may face 

reinvestment risk when issuers exercised its right to redeem 

the bond before it matures. Besides, some bonds may not 

have an active secondary market. In case of the market in 

which the bonds are traded is illiquid, the Group may run the 

risk of either having to retain the investment until the end of 

the term or selling it before maturity at an unfavourable price.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate 

bank deposits and cash, monitoring forecast and actual cash 

flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 

financial liabilities.
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5. 

(b)  

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by the 

management of the Group. Reports with maturity dates 

of bank borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement 

are provided to the management of the Group for review 

periodically. The management of the Group will contact the 

bankers for renewals of bank borrowings whenever necessary.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual 

maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the 

agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up 

based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 

based on the earliest date on which the Group can be 

required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal 

cash flows.

At 31 December 2024

 

Weighted 

average On demand More than Total Total

effective or within 1 year but undiscounted carrying

interest rate 1 year within 5 years cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings 5.56% 1,798,532 1,337,794 3,136,326 2,928,458

Lease liabilities 4.86% 37,635 1,817 39,452 38,685

Creditors and accruals – 499,919 – 499,919 499,919

Securities trading and margin payable – 10,923 – 10,923 10,923

Deposits received – 47,175 – 47,175 47,175

Amounts due to associates – – 11,559 11,559 11,559

Amounts due to investee companies – – 13,885 13,885 13,885

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders – – 275 275 275    

Total 2,394,184 1,365,330 3,759,514 3,550,879
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5. 

(b)  

(i)

(ii)

827,830,000

613,830,000

42

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

At 31 December 2023

 

Weighted 

average 

effective 

interest rate

On demand 

or within 

1 year

More than 

1 year but 

within 5 years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Borrowings 6.58% 2,423,434 1,871,842 4,295,276 3,851,848

Lease liabilities 4.81% 46,040 39,450 85,490 81,959

Creditors and accruals – 182,939 – 182,939 182,939

Securities trading and margin payable – 6,963 – 6,963 6,963

Deposits received – 60,811 – 60,811 60,811

Amounts due to associates – – 21,431 21,431 21,431

Amounts due to investee companies – – 13,885 13,885 13,885

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders – – 275 275 275    

Total 2,720,187 1,946,883 4,667,070 4,220,111
    

In addition to the items as set out in the above liquidity risk 

tables, the maximum amount the Group could be required to 

settle under (i) financial guarantees provided by the Group 

in respect of banking facilities utilised by investee companies 

and (ii) indemnity given to a third party in relation to an 

investee company is approximately HK$827,830,000 (2023: 

HK$613,830,000) in aggregate, if such amount is claimed 

by the counterparties to the guarantees or indemnity at any 

time within the guaranteed or indemnity period. Details of the 

guarantees and indemnity are set out in Note 42.
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5. 

(b)  

766,674,000
1,031,738,000

5. 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Secured bank and other borrowings with repayment on 
demand clause are included in the “On demand or within 
1 year” time band of maturity analysis in the above liquidity 
risk tables. At the end of the reporting period, the total 
undiscounted cash flow of the borrowing(s) amounted to 
approximately HK$766,674,000 (2023: HK$1,031,738,000). 
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors 
do not believe that it is probable that the banks and financial 
institution will exercise their discretionary rights to demand 
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such 
borrowing(s) will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled 
repayment dates as set out in the loan agreement(s), details 
of which are set out in the tables below (include both interest 
and principal cash flows).

Maturity analysis – secured bank and other borrowings 
with repayment on demand clause based on scheduled 
repayments

At 31 December 2024

 

More than Total Total

Within 1 year but Over undiscounted carrying

1 year within 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liability

Borrowing 766,674 – – 766,674 729,472
     

At 31 December 2023

 

Within 

1 year

More than 

1 year but 

within 5 years

Over 

5 years

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial liability

Borrowings 641,988 124,022 265,728 1,031,738 887,654
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5. 

(b)  

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

(Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual 

maturity for its derivative financial instruments. The table 

as at 31 December 2024 has been drawn up based on 

the undiscounted gross cash inflows and outflows on the 

derivatives that require gross settlements. For cash flows 

denominated in currency other than HK$, the prevailing foreign 

exchange rate at the end of the reporting period is used to 

convert the cash flows into HK$.

At 31 December 2024

 

Total Total

Within undiscounted carrying

1 year cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative financial asset

Foreign exchange forward contracts 127

 Inflow 18,561 18,561

 Outflow (18,367) (18,367)
   

At 31 December 2023

 

Within 

1 year

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 

carrying 

amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative financial liability

Future contracts 99 99 99
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(c) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value measurements

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table analysed the financial instruments which 

are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period 

into the three-level hierarchy.

Fair value
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Bonds presented as financial assets  
 measured at FVTPL

 
 

237,385 153,963 Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets N/A

Listed investments held-for-trading  
 presented as financial assets  
 measured at FVTPL

 
 

127,073 188,545 Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets N/A

Suspended trading listed equity securities  
 presented as financial assets  
 measured at FVTPL (note (i))

 
  
 (i)

1,093 – Level 3 Market approach Change in share prices of comparable companies  
of 46.79% during the suspension period  
(note (ii)) 

46.79 (ii)  

Discount for lack of marketability of 25.26%  
(note (ii)) 

25.26 (ii)

Derivative financial instrument

 – Foreign exchange forward contracts 
 –  

127 – Level 2 Discounted cash flow: net payoffs 
 from the contracts and scheduled 
 payments estimated based on 
 foreign exchange forward rates

 
 

N/A

Club and corporate debentures presented as  
 financial assets measured at FVTPL

 
 

54,280 57,170 Level 2 Market comparison N/A
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Fair value
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Unlisted equity securities presented as  
 financial assets measured at FVTOCI

 
 

138,522 195,680 Level 3 Discounted cash flow: forecast  
 distribution, discount rate and  
 contract terms (if any)

 
 

Forecast distribution taking into account 
management’s experience and the estimated 
terminal value (note (iii)) 

 
(iii)  

Discount rates ranging from 14.73% to 22.01% 
(2023: 13.99% to 24.51%) (note (iii)) 

14.73 22.01  
13.99 24.51 ( (iii)) 

Reference to the fair value of  
 the underlying property

Fair value of the underlying property based on 
valuation model (note (iii)) 

(iii)    

558,480 595,358
  

Financial liability

Derivative financial instrument

 – Future contracts
 – 

– 99 Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets N/A

  

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, trading in 
shares of a listed equity security had been halted and 
remained suspended as at 31 December 2024. As at 
31 December 2024, the fair value of suspended trading 
listed equity security at FVTPL was determined by reference 
to the valuation carried out by an independent qualified 
professional valuer.

(ii) The higher the change in share prices of comparable 
companies during the suspension period, the higher the fair 
value. The higher the discount for lack of marketability, the 
lower the fair value.

(iii) The higher the forecast distribution, estimated terminal 
value or fair value of the underlying property, the higher the 
fair value. The higher the discount rate, the lower the fair 
value.

5. 

(c) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value measurements (Cont’d)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d)

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 
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5. 

(c) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value measurements (Cont’d)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d)

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of 

fair value hierarchy levels as at the date of the events or 

changes in circumstances that caused the transfer. During 

the year ended 31 December 2024, a listed equity security 

was transferred from Level 1 to Level 3, which was due 

to the suspension of trading of the listed equity security 

and remained suspended as at 31 December 2024. The 

Group recognised the transfer into Level 3 as at the date 

of suspension. During the year ended 31 December 2023, 

certain listed equity securities resumed trading and were 

transferred out from Level 3. Except the above, there were no 

other transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the fair 

value hierarchy during the years ended 31 December 2024 

and 2023 and no change in valuation techniques used as 

compared with those in last year.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets 

is based on quoted market prices at the end of each reporting 

period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are 

readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 

broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, 

and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring 

market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 

market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the 

current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.
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5. 

(c) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value measurements (Cont’d)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d)

The movement during the years in the balances of Level 3 fair 

value measurement is as follows:

Suspended

trading

listed equity

securities

presented as

financial assets

measured at

FVTOCI

Unlisted bond

presented as

financial assets

measured at

FVTPL

Suspended

trading

listed equity

securities

presented as

financial assets

measured at

FVTPL

Structured

product and

derivative

financial

instruments

presented as

financial assets

measured at

FVTPL

Unlisted

equity

securities

presented as

financial assets

measured at

FVTOCI

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (i)) (note (i)) (note (ii))

(i) (i) (i) (ii)

At 1 January 2023 109,766 1,396 5,672 4,005 525,780

Transfer out to Level 1 (109,766) – (5,672) – –

Purchases during the year – – – 9,812 –

Disposals during the year – – – (12,965) –

Net return of capital contribution 

 during the year  – – – – (265,451)

Net loss arising from change in 

 fair value  – (1,396) – (852) (64,649)     

At 31 December 2023 – – – – 195,680

Transfer from Level 1 – – 1,000 – –

Net gain (loss) arising from 

 change in fair value  – – 93 – (57,158)     

At 31 December 2024 – – 1,093 – 138,522
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5. 

(c) 

(i) 

(ii) 

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value measurements (Cont’d)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) The gain (loss) included in profit or loss for the relevant 
years related to unlisted bond at FVTPL, suspended trading 
listed equity security at FVTPL and structured product and 
derivative financial instruments at FVTPL held at the end of 
the reporting periods are reported as investment income 
(expenses), net.

(ii) The loss included in other comprehensive income for the 
relevant years related to unlisted equity securities at FVTOCI 
held at the end of the reporting periods are reported as 
changes of financial assets measured at FVTOCI reserve.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of the 

Group’s financial instruments that are not measured at fair 

value approximate to their fair values.
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6. 

50%

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to 

safeguard the abilities of the entities in the Group to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 

shareholders of the Company and benefits for other stakeholders, by 

pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk 

and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Directors actively and regularly review and manage the Group’s 

capital structure to maximise the returns to shareholders of the 

Company through the optimisation of the debt afforded by a sound 

capital position, and make adjustments to the capital structure in 

light of changes in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy 

remains unchanged from 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the capital structure of the Group mainly 

consists of debts, which include borrowings from banks and financial 

institution, lease liabilities, pledged deposits, time deposits, bank 

balances and cash, and total equity, comprising issued share capital, 

reserves, retained profits and non-controlling interests. The Directors 

consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class 

of capital to monitor its capital structure on the basis of a gearing 

ratio. The Group has a target gearing ratio not higher than 50%, 

determined as the proportion of net debt to equity. This ratio is 

expressed by as a percentage of net debt over the total equity. Net 

debt is calculated as total borrowings and lease liabilities (as shown 

in the consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and 

bank balances and pledged deposits.



193二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

6. 6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

The gearing ratios were as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Borrowings – current (note (i))  – (i) 1,655,774 2,191,525

Borrowings – non-current (note (i))  – (i) 1,272,684 1,660,323

Lease liabilities – current (note (ii))  – (ii) 36,890 43,275

Lease liabilities – non-current (note (ii))  – (ii) 1,795 38,684  

Total debt 2,967,143 3,933,807

Less:  Cash and bank balances and  

 pledged deposits (note (iii))

  

 (iii) (2,779,487) (745,157)  

Net debt  

 (total debt less cash and bank balances  

  and pledged deposits)

  

  187,656 3,188,650
  

Net debt 187,656 3,188,650

Less:  Securities investments and  

 treasury products (note (iv))

  

 (iv) (365,678) (342,409)  

Net (cash) debt  

 (net debt less securities investments and  

  treasury products)

 

  (178,022) 2,846,241
  

Total equity (note (v)) (v) 12,090,744 14,235,101
  

Net debt to equity ratio  

 (excluding securities investments and  

  treasury products)

 

  1.6% 22.4%
  

Net debt to equity ratio  

 (including securities investments and  

  treasury products)

 

  

Net cash 

position

20.0%
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6. 

(i) 34

(ii) 21(b)

(iii) 

(iv) 
25(i) (ii) (iii)

(v) 

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) Borrowings are detailed in Note 34.

(ii) Lease liabilities are detailed in Note 21(b).

(iii) Cash and bank balances and pledged deposits comprise time 
deposits, bank balances and cash and pledged deposits at the end 
of the reporting period.

(iv) Securities investments and treasury products comprise securities 
investments and treasury products as detailed in Notes 25(i), 
(ii) and (iii) (2023: also included a derivative financial instrument 
under current liabilities).

(v) Total equity includes issued share capital, reserves, retained profits 
and non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period.

The net debt to equity ratio decreased significantly was mainly due 

to decrease in net debt as a result of significant increase in cash and 

deposits at banks.

In relation to brokerage business, Fair Eagle Finance Credit Limited, 

Fair Eagle Futures Company Limited and Fair Eagle Securities 

Company Limited, three wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 

are required to maintain financial resources in accordance with 

the specified amount requirements that apply to them under the 

Securities and Futures Ordinance imposed by Securities and Futures 

Commission. The requirements are internally reviewed on a daily 

basis and reports are required to submit to Securities and Futures 

Commission monthly. Full compliance is observed during the year.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its 

subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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7. 

(i) 

(ii) 

7. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate amounts of commission from 

brokerage, settlement charges from brokerage, cosmetics goods sold 

less returns, building and property management services income, 

amounts received and receivable from property rental income, 

interest income from bonds and structured products, dividend 

income from listed and unlisted equity investments and gain on 

sales of investments held-for-trading. Revenue is analysed as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers:

Recognised on a point in time basis

 Brokerage and cosmetics income  13,528 14,107

Recognised on over time basis

 Building and property management  

  services income

 

51,986 51,694  

65,514 65,801  

Revenue from other sources:

 Property rental income  204,616 257,223

 Interest income from  

  –  bonds (note (i))   – (i) 10,308 8,850

  –  structured products (note (i))   – (i) - 253

10,308 9,103

 Dividend income from  

  –  listed equity investments (note (i))   – (i) 2,486 5,053

  –  unlisted equity investments (note (ii))   – (ii) 38,000 76,600

40,486 81,653

 Gain on sales of investments held-for-trading  15,888 65,809  

271,298 413,788  

Total revenue 336,812 479,589
  

Notes:

(i) The interest income from bonds and structured products and 
dividend income from listed equity investments were derived from 
financial assets measured at FVTPL.

(ii) The dividend income from unlisted equity investments was 
derived from financial assets measured at FVTOCI.
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8. 

 – (i)

(i i) (i i i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

–  

 –

 –

–  

 

 

 

–  

 

–

–  

 

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports 

reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers that are used to 

make strategic decisions.

The Group has six reportable segments – (i) property development 

and trading; (ii) property leasing for retail; (iii) property leasing for 

non-retail; (iv) listed equity investments at FVTOCI; (v) investments 

and treasury products at FVTPL; and (vi) unlisted investments, 

investment holding and brokerage, and the remaining businesses 

of the Group grouped under all other segments. The segmentations 

are based on the information about the operations of the Group that 

management of the Group uses to make decisions.

Principal activities are as follows:

Property development 

 and trading

– Property development and sales of 

 trading properties

Property leasing

 – Retail – Property leasing from retail 

 properties

 – Non-retail – Property leasing from non-retail 

 properties

Listed equity investments 

 at FVTOCI

– Listed equity securities at FVTOCI

Investments and treasury 

 products at FVTPL

– Securities investments in 

 investments held-for-trading, OTC 

 trading and structured products

Unlisted investments, 

 investment holding and 

 brokerage

– Unlisted securities investments, 

 trading and brokerage

All other segments – Cosmetics distribution and trading, 

 provision of building and property 

 management services and others

The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from 

operations after tax expense and non-controlling interests but not 

including the major non-cash items. The major non-cash items are 

unrealised fair value changes on investment properties and other 

properties together with, if applicable, their respective deferred tax.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the six 

reportable segments described above.
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8. 

10%

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Unallocated corporate assets mainly comprised right-of-use assets 

and tax recoverable (2023: also included land and building for own 

use and deferred tax assets).

Unallocated corporate liabilities mainly comprised tax liabilities, 

borrowings, amounts due to associates, amounts due to investee 

companies, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders, lease 

liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that 

operate different activities. They are managed separately because 

each business unit has different markets and requires different 

marketing strategies.

Further, the business units are also managed to operate in different 

countries separately. Revenue and results are attributed to countries 

on the basis of the property or asset location.

There was no major customer who individually accounted for 10% or 

more of the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 

2024 and 2023.
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8. 8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Operating segment information is presented below:

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Property 
development 

and trading

Property leasing
Listed 
equity 

investments 
at FVTOCI

Investments 
and treasury 

products 
at FVTPL

Unlisted 
investments, 

investment 
holding and 

brokerage
All other 

segments Consolidated
  

Retail Non-retail

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Major cash items excluding  
 in revenue
 – Hong Kong  – – – – – 141,803 – – 141,803
 – Other countries  – – – – – 52,527 – – 52,527        

– – – – 194,330 – – 194,330        

Revenue
Dividend and interest income and  
 gain on sales of investments  
 held-for-trading

 
 
 

 – Hong Kong  – 38,000 – – – 21,144 – – 59,144
 – Other countries  – – – – – 7,538 – – 7,538
Revenue from external customers
 – Hong Kong  – – 33,859 100,682 – – 2,864 62,650 200,055
 – United Kingdom  – – 32,494 37,104 – – – – 69,598
 – Mainland China  – – – 477 – – – – 477        

38,000 66,353 138,263 – 28,682 2,864 62,650 336,812        

Revenue (excluding dividend income  
 from segments of property  
 development and trading and property  
 leasing)

 
  
 

– 66,353 138,263 – 28,682 2,864 62,650 298,812
Attributable property sales from  
 an investee company

 
 

 – Hong Kong  – 12,390 – – – – – – 12,390
Attributable rental revenue from  
 associates/investee companies

 
 

 – Hong Kong  – – 15,461 50,524 – – – – 65,985
 – Mainland China  – – 50,066 5,343 – – – – 55,409        

12,390 131,880 194,130 – 28,682 2,864 62,650 432,596        

Results
Segment results
 – Hong Kong  – 44,925 30,845 94,550 – 11,023 36,999 37,248 255,590
 – United Kingdom  – – 29,849 20,748 – – 6,547 – 57,144
 – Mainland China  – – – 277 – – 3,388 – 3,665
 – Other countries  – – – – – (15,463) – – (15,463)        

44,925 60,694 115,575 – (4,440) 46,934 37,248 300,936
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Property 
development 

and trading

Property leasing
Listed 
equity 

investments 
at FVTOCI

Investments 
and treasury 

products 
at FVTPL

Unlisted 
investments, 

investment 
holding and 

brokerage
All other 

segments Consolidated
  

Retail Non-retail

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of results of investments accounted  
 for using the equity method

 
 

 – Attributable gross income  – 
  –  Hong Kong   –  – 14,960 50,177 – – – 2,399 67,536
  –  Mainland China   –  – 50,066 5,343 – – – – 55,409
 – Attributable operating cost  – 
  –  Hong Kong   –  – (1,919) (4,169) – – – – (6,088)
  –  Mainland China   –  – (18,349) (3,133) – – – – (21,482)        

44,925 105,452 163,793 – (4,440) 46,934 39,647 396,311
Other income – – 12,292 – – – – 12,292
Share of results of investments accounted  
 for using the equity method

 
 

 – Income tax and others  – – (23,835) (2,806) – – – (228) (26,869)        

44,925 81,617 173,279 – (4,440) 46,934 39,419 381,734       

Unallocated items
 Unallocated corporate expenses, net  (280,675)
 Finance costs  (213,425)
 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary  (100,142)
 Income tax credit  16,044
 Non-controlling interests  (411) 

Operating loss for the year 
 attributable to owners of 
 the Company

 
(196,875)

 Realised fair value changes on 
  disposals of investment properties 
  (including share of results of 
  investments accounted for  
  using the equity method)  
  recognised in current year

 
  
  
  

(76,913)
 Major non-cash items  
  –  Unrealised fair value changes on  

 investment properties  
 (including share of results of  
 investments accounted for  
 using the equity method)

     
  
  
 

(1,834,543) 

Loss for the year attributable to 
 owners of the Company 

 
 (2,108,331)

 

Core loss  
(excluding major non-cash items)

 

Operating loss for the year 
attributable to owners of  
the Company

 

(196,875)
Accumulated realised fair value 

changes on disposals of 
investment properties  
(including share of results of 
investments accounted for  
using the equity method)

 
 

  – Recognised in current year   – (76,913)
  – Recognised in prior years   – (215,502) 

Core loss for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company

 
(489,290) 

8. 8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
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8. 8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2024

Property 
development 

and trading

Property leasing
Listed 
equity 

investments 
at FVTOCI

Investments 
and treasury 

products 
at FVTPL

Unlisted 
investments, 

investment 
holding and 

brokerage
All other 

segments Consolidated
  

Retail Non-retail

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Segment assets
 – Hong Kong  – 484,010 1,855,858 5,211,133 – 299,202 1,263,363 147,384 9,260,950
 – United Kingdom  – – 786,905 3,475,528 – – – – 4,262,433
 – Mainland China  – 105,482 – 27,156 – – – – 132,638
 – Other countries  – – – – – 74,586 47 – 74,633
Investments accounted for  
 using the equity method
 – Hong Kong  – 49,751 349,507 1,300,725 – – 1,339 3,764 1,705,086
 – Mainland China  – – 73,153 83,848 – – – – 157,001
Advances to associates
 – Hong Kong  – 1,959 – 152 – – 2 3 2,116
 – Mainland China  – – 26,659 30,557 – – – – 57,216        

Reportable segment assets 641,202 3,092,082 10,129,099 – 373,788 1,264,751 151,151 15,652,073       

Unallocated corporate assets 49,232 

Consolidated total assets 15,701,305 

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
 – Hong Kong  – 33,370 12,971 128,727 – 1,073 12,670 14,520 203,331
 – United Kingdom  – – 16,990 352,465 – – – – 369,455
 – Mainland China  – 34 – 227 – – – – 261        

Reportable segment liabilities 33,404 29,961 481,419 – 1,073 12,670 14,520 573,047       

Unallocated corporate liabilities 3,037,514 

Consolidated total liabilities 3,610,561 

Additions to non-current assets  
 (other than financial instruments  
 and deferred tax assets)

 
  
 4 107 379,274 – – 61 7,072       
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8. 8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Other Material Items

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Reportable 

segments

Adjustments 

for unallocated 

items

Adjustments 

for realised 

fair value 

changes

Adjustments 

for major 

non-cash 

items

Consolidated 

statement of 

comprehensive 

income

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 68,121 – – – 68,121

Finance costs – (213,425) – – (213,425)

Net income (expenses) 68,121 (213,425) – – (145,304)

Depreciation of:

 – Property, plant and equipment  – – (60,718) – – (60,718)

 – Right-of-use assets  – – (45,763) – – (45,763)

Fair value changes on investment properties – – (77,092) (1,654,684) (1,731,776)

Share of results of investments accounted  

 for using the equity method

 

 68,506 – 179 (179,859) (111,174)

Income tax credit – 16,044 – – 16,044

Non-controlling interests – (411) – – (411)
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8. 8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Property 
development 

and trading

Property leasing
Listed 
equity 

investments 
at FVTOCI

Investments 
and treasury 

products 
at FVTPL

Unlisted 
investments, 

investment 
holding and 

brokerage
All other 

segments Consolidated
  

Retail Non-retail

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Major cash items excluding  
 in revenue
 – Hong Kong  – – – – 44,662 328,217 – – 372,879
 – Other countries  – – – – – 490,974 – – 490,974        

– – – 44,662 819,191 – – 863,853
        

Revenue
Dividend and interest income and  
 gain on sales of investments  
 held-for-trading

 
 
 

 – Hong Kong  – 76,000 – – – 17,255 – 600 93,855
 – Other countries  – – – – – 62,710 – – 62,710
Revenue from external customers
 – Hong Kong  – – 30,525 121,433 – – 3,032 62,769 217,759
 – United Kingdom  – – 31,613 73,652 – – – – 105,265        

76,000 62,138 195,085 – 79,965 3,032 63,369 479,589
        

Revenue (excluding dividend income  
 from segments of property  
 development and trading and property  
 leasing)

 
  
 

– 62,138 195,085 – 79,965 3,032 63,369 403,589
Attributable property sales from  
 an investee company

 
 

 – Hong Kong  – 120,229 – – – – – – 120,229
Attributable rental revenue from  
 associates/investee companies

 
 

 – Hong Kong  – – 16,248 49,916 – – – – 66,164
 – Mainland China  – – 49,140 5,960 – – – – 55,100        

120,229 127,526 250,961 – 79,965 3,032 63,369 645,082
        

Results
Segment results
 – Hong Kong  – 76,000 26,030 116,890 – (89,515) 30,189 37,556 197,150
 – United Kingdom  – – 28,865 65,059 – – 3,671 – 97,595
 – Mainland China  – – – (13) – – 3,364 – 3,351
 – Other countries  – – – – – 67,271 754 – 68,025        

76,000 54,895 181,936 – (22,244) 37,978 37,556 366,121
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Property 
development 

and trading

Property leasing
Listed 
equity 

investments 
at FVTOCI

Investments 
and treasury 

products 
at FVTPL

Unlisted 
investments, 

investment 
holding and 

brokerage
All other 

segments Consolidated
  

Retail Non-retail

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of results of investments accounted  
 for using the equity method

 
 

 – Attributable gross income  – 
  –  Hong Kong   –  – 15,789 49,529 – – – 2,294 67,612
  –  Mainland China   –  – 49,140 5,960 – – – – 55,100
 – Attributable operating cost  – 
  –  Hong Kong   –  – (1,623) (9,555) – – – – (11,178)
  –  Mainland China   –  – (19,612) (3,320) – – – – (22,932)        

76,000 98,589 224,550 – (22,244) 37,978 39,850 454,723
Other income – – 13,436 – – – – 13,436
Share of results of investments accounted  
 for using the equity method

 
 

 – Income tax and others  – – 38,616 4,839 – – – (61) 43,394        

76,000 137,205 242,825 – (22,244) 37,978 39,789 511,553
       

Unallocated items
 Unallocated corporate expenses, net  (317,153)
 Finance costs  (223,373)
 Income tax expense  (38,950)
 Non-controlling interests  (307) 

Operating loss for the year  
 attributable to owners of  
 the Company

 
 

(68,230)
 Deferred tax credit on realised  
  fair value changes on disposal of an  
  investment property recognised in  
  current year

  
   
  

528
 Major non-cash items  
  –  Unrealised fair value changes on  

 investment properties  
 (including share of results of  
 investments accounted for  
 using the equity method)

  –   
  
  
 

133,270
  – Deferred tax credit   – 11,264 

Profit for the year attributable to  
 owners of the Company

 
 76,832

 

Core loss  
 (excluding major non-cash items)

 
 

 Operating loss for the year  
  attributable to owners of  
  the Company

  
  

(68,230)
 Accumulated realised fair value  
  changes and related deferred  
  tax on disposal of an 
  investment property

 
  
  

  – Recognised in current year   – 528
  – Recognised in prior years   – 521 

Core loss for the year attributable  
 to owners of the Company

 
 (67,181)

 

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

8. 
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2023

Property 
development 

and trading

Property leasing
Listed 
equity 

investments 
at FVTOCI

Investments 
and treasury 

products 
at FVTPL

Unlisted 
investments, 

investment 
holding and 

brokerage
All other 

segments Consolidated
  

Retail Non-retail

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Segment assets
 – Hong Kong  – 700,602 1,242,024 6,116,023 – 229,910 299,745 247,838 8,836,142
 – United Kingdom  – – 951,704 6,284,203 – – – – 7,235,907
 – Mainland China  – 108,018 – 104 – – – – 108,122
 – Other countries  – – – – – 117,916 106 – 118,022
Investments accounted for  
 using the equity method
 – Hong Kong  – 43,426 392,433 1,431,632 – – 1,582 4,325 1,873,398
 – Mainland China  – – 72,258 90,493 – – – – 162,751
Advances to associates
 – Hong Kong  – 1,945 – 162 – – 3 3 2,113
 – Mainland China  – – 25,706 32,194 – – – – 57,900        

Reportable segment assets 853,991 2,684,125 13,954,811 – 347,826 301,436 252,166 18,394,355
       

Unallocated corporate assets 151,111 

Consolidated total assets 18,545,466
 

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
 – Hong Kong  – 36,717 16,128 97,335 6 284 9,945 18,844 179,259
 – United Kingdom  – – 18,447 76,429 – – – – 94,876
 – Mainland China  – 35 – 32 – – 2 – 69
 – Other countries  – – – – – 2 – – 2        

Reportable segment liabilities 36,752 34,575 173,796 6 286 9,947 18,844 274,206
       

Unallocated corporate liabilities 4,036,159 

Consolidated total liabilities 4,310,365
 

Additions to non-current assets  
 (other than financial instruments  
 and deferred tax assets)

 
  
 – 233 319,898 – – 207 402

       

8. 
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8. 

9. 

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Other Material Items

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Reportable 

segments

Adjustments 

for unallocated 

items

Adjustment 

related to 

realised fair 

value changes

Adjustments 

for major 

non-cash 

items

Consolidated 

statement of 

comprehensive 

income

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 46,425 – – – 46,425

Finance costs – (223,373) – – (223,373)

Net income (expenses) 46,425 (223,373) – – (176,948)

Depreciation of:

 – Property, plant and equipment  – – (58,791) – – (58,791)

 – Right-of-use assets  – – (45,811) – – (45,811)

Fair value changes on investment properties – – – (31,007) (31,007)

Share of results of investments accounted  

 for using the equity method

 

 131,996 – – 164,277 296,273

Income tax (expense) credit – (38,950) 528 11,264 (27,158)

Non-controlling interests – (307) – – (307)
     

9. OTHER INCOME

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other income are:

Rental services income 3,033 3,252

Leasing administration services and 

 property administration services income  4,881 5,121

Advisory and consultancy services income 45 39

Dilapidations settlement and surrender premium 

received from tenants in respect of properties  

in the United Kingdom

 

12,292 13,436

Exchange gain, net – 422
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10. 10. INVESTMENT INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss:

 

Unrealised loss arising from change in  
fair value of bonds

 
(12,609) (65,863)

Realised gain (loss) arising from change in  
fair value of bonds

 

– Change in fair value   867 (6,435)
– Exchange component of change   616 529

Net loss arising from change in  
fair value of bonds

 
(11,126) (71,769)

Unrealised gain (loss) arising from change in  
fair value of structured products and  
derivative financial instruments

 
 

127 (99)
Realised loss arising from change in  

fair value of structured products and  
derivative financial instruments

 
 

(1,773) (614)

Net loss arising from change in  
fair value of structured products and  
derivative financial instruments

 
 

(1,646) (713)

Unrealised loss arising from change in  
fair value of investments held-for-trading

 
(20,508) (29,820)

Unrealised (loss) gain arising from change in  
fair value of club and corporate debentures

 
(2,890) 1,760

Realised loss arising from change in  
fair value of a club debenture

 
– (582)

Net (loss) gain arising from change in  
fair value of club and corporate debentures

 
(2,890) 1,178

Realised loss arising from change in  
fair value of cross currency swap

 
– (1,250)

Other investment income, net 158 847

Interest income from other financial assets 56,722 36,066  

20,710 (65,461)
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11. 

5.68 5.48

21,546,000 10,988,000

12. 

  

St George Street 14
37

11. FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

Bank borrowings 216,480 229,066

Other borrowing 7,935 –

Lease liabilities 2,764 3,768  

Total interest (Note 39) 39 227,179 232,834

Exchange gain on translation of foreign currency 

bank borrowing

 

– (1,356)

Other finance costs 7,792 2,883  

234,971 234,361

Less:  Interest capitalised to investment properties  

 under construction

  

 (21,546) (10,988)  

213,425 223,373
  

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has 

capitalised borrowing costs at a rate of 5.68% (2023: 5.48%) 

per annum, amounting to approximately HK$21,546,000 (2023: 

HK$10,988,000) on qualifying assets.

12. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other gains and losses are:

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (note) (100,142) –

Impairment loss of land and building (4,234) –

(Allowance for credit losses) reversal of  

allowance for credit losses recognised  

in respect of advances to associates, net

 

 

(7) 7,326
  

Note: Loss on disposal of a subsidiary arose from the disposal of the 
entire issued share capital of State Smart Limited (“State Smart”), 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 14 August 
2024 (“State Smart Disposal”). At the time of disposal, State 
Smart held the property located at 14 St George Street, London, 
United Kingdom. Details of the State Smart Disposal are set out in 
Note 37.
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13. 

2,000,000 8.25%

2,000,000 16.5%

16.5% 16.5%

25% 25%

25%

19% 25%

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

The (credit) charge comprises:

Current tax:

Hong Kong Profits Tax 1,934 3,215

Other than Hong Kong 17,280 16,066

19,214 19,281

(Overprovision) underprovision in prior years:

Hong Kong Profits Tax (37) (124)

Other than Hong Kong (5,490) 13,454

(5,527) 13,330

Deferred tax: (Note 30) 30

Current year credit (29,731) (5,453)  

(16,044) 27,158
  

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 

of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and 

profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits 

of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates 

regime are taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). The PRC 

Enterprise Income Tax for the PRC subsidiaries are calculated at the 

PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%). The Group is 

subject to tax rate in the United Kingdom at 25% (2023: changed 

from 19% to 25%). Taxation arising from other jurisdictions is 

calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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13. 13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (Cont’d)

The income tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled 

to the (loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

(Loss) profit before tax (2,123,964) 104,297    

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of  

16.5% (2023: 16.5%)

16.5% 

16.5%  

(350,454) 16.5 17,209 16.5

Tax effect of share of results of investments 

accounted for using the equity method

 

18,344 (0.9) (48,885) (46.9)

Tax effect of income not taxable for  

tax purposes

 

(33,959) 1.6 (122,655) (117.6)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for  

tax purposes

 

353,659 (16.7) 114,011 109.3

Tax effect on accelerated accounting 

depreciation over tax depreciation  

previously over provided

 

 

131 – 2,657 2.5

Utilisation of tax losses previously  

not recognised

 

(3,506) 0.2 (1,958) (1.9)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  

28,129 (1.3) 40,356 38.7

(Overprovision) underprovision  

in prior years

 

(5,527) 0.3 13,330 12.8

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 

operating in other jurisdictions

 

 

6,854 (0.3) (444) (0.4)

Reversal on deferred tax liabilities previously 

recognised

 

(29,715) 1.4 – –

Effect on deferred tax resulting from  

change in tax rate

 

– – 13,537 13.0    

Tax (credit) charge for the year (16,044) 0.8 27,158 26.0
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14. 14. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after 

(charging) crediting:

 

Total staff costs:

Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments (131,532) (129,920)

Retirement benefit scheme contributions,  

net of forfeited contributions of  

approximately HK$205,000  

(2023: HK$408,000)

 

205,000  

408,000

(7,778) (8,140)

(139,310) (138,060)

Auditors’ remuneration for audit services:

Auditors of the Company

– Current year  (2,050) (2,128)

Other auditors

– Current year  (667) (592)

(2,717) (2,720)

Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services:

Auditors of the Company (645) (450)

Depreciation of:

– Property, plant and equipment  (60,718) (58,791)

– Right-of-use assets  (45,763) (45,811)

(106,481) (104,602)

Impairment loss of land and building (4,234) –

Exchange loss, net (39,438) –

Rental expenses from short-term leases (3,258) (3,875)

Cost of cosmetics products sold (4,959) (5,334)
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14. 

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived at after 

(charging) crediting: (Cont’d)

 

Share of tax of investments accounted for using 

the equity method (included in share of results 

of investments accounted for using the equity 

method)

 

 

– Share of tax (expense) credit of associates  (11,293) 1,786

Gross proceeds on sales of investments  

held-for-trading

 

118,308 617,279

Carrying amount of investments  

held-for-trading disposed of

 

(102,252) (550,345)

Transaction costs on sales of investments  

held-for-trading

 

(168) (1,125)

Gain on sales of investments held-for-trading 

included in revenue

 

15,888 65,809

Gross rental income from investment properties 204,616 257,223

Less:  Direct operating expenses from investment 

 properties that generated  

 rental income during the year

  

 

(13,949) (7,673)

Direct operating expenses from investment 

properties that did not generate  

rental income during the year

 

(14,398) (12,719)

176,269 236,831

(Allowance for credit losses) reversal of allowance 

for credit losses recognised, net in respect of:

 

– Other receivable (20) –

– Trade receivables (19) –

– Advances to associates (7) 7,326
  

14. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Cont’d)
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15. 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Fees and other emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight 

(2023: nine) Directors were as follows:

2024 2023  

Fee

Salaries

and other

emoluments

Retirement

benefit

scheme

contributions Total Fee

Salaries

and other

emoluments

Retirement

benefit

scheme

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai 300 – – 300 300 – – 300

Ms. Chan, Hoi-wan – 100 5 105 – 100 5 105

Ms. Chan, Lok-wan – 910 78 988 – 906 78 984

Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai  

(note (i))

 

(i) – – – – – 1,181 64 1,245

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai 240 – – 240 240 – – 240

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai 300 – – 300 300 – – 300

Mr. Leung Yun-fai  

(note (ii))

 

(ii) 300 – – 300 244 – – 244

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 300 – – 300 300 – – 300

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping  

(note (iii))

 

(iii) 134 – – 134 300 – – 300        

1,574 1,010 83 2,667 1,684 2,187 147 4,018
        

Notes:

(i) Mr. Lam, Kwong-wai resigned as executive Director with effect 
from 25 May 2023.

(ii) Mr. Leung, Yun-fai was appointed as independent non-executive 
Director with effect from 10 March 2023.

(iii) Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping resigned as independent non-executive 
Director with effect from 12 June 2024.

No Directors waived any emoluments for the years ended 

31 December 2024 and 2023.

Details of material interests of the Directors in transactions, 

arrangements or contracts entered into by subsidiaries of the 

Company are disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Report” of 

this annual report.
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16. 

(a) 

(b) 

16(a)

1,500,001 2,000,000

16. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the 

Group, none (2023: none) was a Director. The emoluments 

of the five (2023: five) individuals were as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 9,871 9,313

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 874 838  

10,745 10,151
  

The emoluments of the five (2023: five) individuals were 

within the following bands:

Number of employees

2024 2023

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1,500,001  – 2,000,000 1 2

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 2,000,001  – 2,500,000 4 3
  

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no 

emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid 

individuals, or Director, as an inducement to join or upon 

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

(b) Emoluments of senior management

The emolument(s) of one (2023: two) senior management 

(profiles are included in the section headed “Profiles of 

Senior Executives” of this annual report) has(have) been 

disclosed in the five highest paid individuals (Note 16(a)), 

while the emolument of the remaining one (2023: one) 

senior management was within the band of HK$1,500,001 to 

HK$2,000,000.
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17. 

3

18. 

17. DIVIDENDS

On 14 August 2024, the board of Directors resolved not to declare 

any interim dividend for 2024 (2023: nil).

Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK3 cents 

(2023: nil) per share has been proposed by the board of Directors 

and is subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual 

general meeting of the Company.

18. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share 

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 

data:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Loss) earnings:

(Loss) earnings for the purposes of basic and 

diluted (loss) earnings per share

 

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners 

of the Company

 

(2,108,331) 76,832
  

Number of shares

2024 2023

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of ordinary  

shares for the purposes of basic and  

diluted (loss) earnings per share 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079
  

Diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 

2024 and 2023 were the same as the basic (loss) earnings per 

share as there were no potential ordinary shares of the Company in 

issue during both years.
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19. 

162,000,000
1,590,824,000

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Completed

properties

Properties

under

construction Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value

At 1 January 2023 9,400,949 3,968,175 13,369,124

Additions 20,439 – 20,439

Costs incurred for construction – 207,530 207,530

Exchange adjustments 230,659 160,973 391,632

Increase (decrease) in fair value 

recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income

 

 

– unrealised  419,094 (450,101) (31,007)   

At 31 December 2023  

10,071,141 3,886,577 13,957,718

Additions 96,719 – 96,719

Costs incurred for construction – 274,498 274,498

Transfer from property, plant and 

equipment (Note 20)

 

20 65,326 – 65,326

Exchange adjustments (39,177) (59,158) (98,335)

Decrease in fair value recognised 

in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income

 

 

– realised  (77,092) – (77,092)

– unrealised  (1,440,227) (214,457) (1,654,684)

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37)  

37 (1,254,162) – (1,254,162)

Disposal (note) (1,590,824) – (1,590,824)   

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2024  

5,831,704 3,887,460 9,719,164
   

Note:

On 19 December 2024, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the 
disposal of a property located in the United Kingdom to an independent 
third party (“Buyer”) at a consideration of GBP162,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$1,590,824,000) (exclusive of value added tax).

Details of the disposal were set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 19 December 2024 and the circular of the Company 
dated 21 January 2025.
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19. 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

There was no change in valuation techniques used for the fair value 

measurement of the Group’s investment properties, as compared 

with those in last year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases 

to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured 

using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as 

investment properties.

As at 31 December 2024, valuations of investment properties of 

the Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China were carried out by 

Peak Vision Appraisals Limited (“Peak Vision Appraisals”) (2023: 

Peak Vision Appraisals) and the investment properties in the United 

Kingdom were carried out by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited 

(“LCH (Asia-Pacific)”) (2023: Moore Transaction Services Limited 

(“Moore Transaction”)), all are independent qualified professional 

property valuers. The valuers have recent relevant experience in the 

valuations of similar properties in the relevant locations.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group 

discussed with the independent qualified professional property 

valuers about the appropriate valuation techniques and key inputs for 

Level 3 fair value measurements.

The valuat ion reports for the investment propert ies as at 

31 December 2024 were signed by the respective directors of 

Peak Vision Appraisals and LCH (Asia-Pacific) (2023: Peak Vision 

Appraisals and Moore Transaction), who are members of The Hong 

Kong Institute of Surveyors and/or the Royal Institution of Chartered 

Surveyors. The valuations were performed in accordance with “The 

HKIS Valuation Standards” published by The Hong Kong Institute 

of Surveyors and/or “International Valuation Standards” published 

by the International Valuation Standards Council and/or “The RICS 

Valuation – Global Standards” published by the Royal Institution of 

Chartered Surveyors for both years.
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19. 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

The fair value of each investment property is individually determined 

at the end of each reporting period based on its market value and 

by adopting investment method, direct comparison method and/or 

residual method, as appropriate. The investment method relying on 

the capitalisation of rental income is based upon estimates of future 

results and a set of assumptions specific to each property to reflect 

its tenancy status. The fair value of each investment property reflects, 

among other things, rental income from current term leases, term 

yield rate, assumptions about rental income from future reversion 

leases in light of current market conditions and reversionary yield 

rate. Judgment by the valuers is required to determine the principal 

valuation factors, including term yield rate and reversionary yield 

rate. Such yield rates were adopted after considering the investment 

sentiments and market expectations of properties of similar nature. 

Direct comparison method assumes each of these properties is 

capable of being sold in its existing state with the benefit of vacant 

possession and by making reference to comparable sales evidence as 

available in the relevant markets. Combination of direct comparison 

method and investment method takes the valuation results of the 

direct comparison method and investment method when arriving 

at the fair value of the properties. For investment properties under 

construction at fair value, their fair values are determined by residual 

method by deducting the estimated total outstanding redevelopment 

costs and an allowance for developer’s risk and profit from the gross 

development value of the proposed redevelopment.
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19. 

13

3

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

The following tables analysed the investment properties which 

are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period 

into the three-level hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value 

Measurement” which is further elaborated in Note 3.

Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value 

measurements:

Completed properties 5,831,704 – – 5,831,704

Properties under construction 3,887,460 – – 3,887,460    

At 31 December 2024  

9,719,164 – – 9,719,164
    

Completed properties 10,071,141 – – 10,071,141

Properties under construction 3,886,577 – – 3,886,577    

At 31 December 2023  

13,957,718 – – 13,957,718
    



219二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

19. 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

Details of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on 

investment properties which are categorised as Level 3 fair value 

measurement at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Fair value Valuation techniques
Significant
unobservable inputs Range

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties held for investment 
in Hong Kong

4,651,110 5,924,050 Combination of direct 
comparison method and 
investment method

(1) Reversionary yield; 
  

(2) Market rent per square foot; and 
  

(3) Selling price per square foot 
  

3.25% to 4.25% (2023: 2.75% to 3.75%)
3.25 4.25  

2.75 3.75
HK$14 to HK$180 

(2023: HK$15 to HK$188)
14 180  

15 188
HK$44 (2023: HK$50)
44 50

Properties under construction 
in Hong Kong

1,184,000 1,010,000 Residual method (1) Selling price per square foot; and 
  

(2) Budgeted construction costs  
  to be incurred 
  

HK$10,203 (2023: HK$11,264)
10,203 11,264
HK$298,061,000 

(2023: HK$484,974,000)
298,061,000  

484,974,000

Properties held for investment 
in the United Kingdom

1,153,477 4,147,091 Combination of direct 
comparison method and 
investment method

(1) Reversionary yield; and 
  

(2) Market rent per square foot 
  

3.90% to 4.50% (2023: 3.00% to 4.00%)
3.90 4.50  

3.00 4.00
GBP6 to GBP9 (2023: GBP5 to GBP8)
6 9  

5 8

Properties under construction 
in the United Kingdom

2,703,460 2,876,577 Residual method (1) Budgeted construction costs  
  to be incurred; 
  

(2) Market rent per square foot; 
  

(3) Reversionary yield; 
  

(4) Discount rate; and 
  

(5) Long-term growth rate 
  

GBP309,240,000 
(2023: GBP311,619,000)

309,240,000  
311,619,000

GBP4 to GBP7 (2023: GBP3 to GBP5)
4 7  

3 5
3.80% to 5.25% (2023: N/A)
3.80 5.25  

4.75% (2023: 4.50% to 5.88%)
4.75 4.50 5.88
N/A (2023: 2.00%)

2.00

Properties held for investment 
in Mainland China

27,117 – Investment method (1) Reversionary yield; and 
  

(2) Market rent per square meter 
  

2.50% (2023: N/A)
2.50
RMB171 (2023: N/A)

171  

Total 9,719,164 13,957,718
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19. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

Reversionary yield is the rate taking into account the capitalisation 

of potential rental income, nature of the property and prevailing 

market conditions. Market rent per square foot/meter is the market 

rent and selling price per square foot is the market selling price 

taking into account the direct comparable market transactions to the 

related properties. Budgeted construction costs to be incurred are 

the construction costs to be expended to complete the properties. 

Discount rate applied reflects the current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the property. Long-term 

growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts.

The fair value measurements are negatively correlated to the 

reversionary yield, the budgeted construction costs to be incurred 

and the discount rate, while positively correlated to the market rent 

per square foot/meter, the selling price per square foot and the long-

term growth rate.

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

• Higher the reversionary yield, the lower the fair value

• Higher the budgeted construction costs to be incurred, the 

lower the fair value

• Higher the discount rate, the lower the fair value

• Higher the market rent, the higher the fair value

• Higher the selling price, the higher the fair value

• Higher the long-term growth rate, the higher the fair value
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19. 19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

Movements of investment properties which are categorised as 

Level 3 fair value measurement during the years are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 13,957,718 13,369,124

Additions 96,719 20,439

Costs incurred for construction 274,498 207,530

Transfer from property, plant and equipment  

(Note 20)

 

20 65,326 –

Exchange adjustments (98,335) 391,632

Decrease in fair value recognised  

in the consolidated statement of  

comprehensive income

 

– realised – (77,092) –

– unrealised – (1,654,684) (31,007)

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) 37 (1,254,162) –

Disposal (1,590,824) –  

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 9,719,164 13,957,718
  

There were no t ransfers into or out of Level 3 fa i r va lue 

measurement during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 

2023.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, their current use 

equates to the highest and best use of the properties.
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20. 20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold/
freehold

land Buildings
Leasehold

improvement

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment

Yachts and
motor

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 January 2023 58,537 10,405 68,995 51,193 140,722 329,852
Additions – – 88,445 3,985 341 92,771
Disposals/written off – – – (193) – (193)
Exchange adjustments 1,480 269 20 17 – 1,786      

At 31 December 2023 60,017 10,674 157,460 55,002 141,063 424,216
Additions – – 12,831 2,470 – 15,301
Disposals/written off – – (351) (1,115) (112,002) (113,468)
Transfer to investment 

properties (Note 19)
 

19 (64,802) (10,719) – – – (75,521)
Surplus on revaluation 5,662 200 – – – 5,862
Exchange adjustments (877) (155) (8) (24) – (1,064)      

At 31 December 2024 – – 169,932 56,333 29,061 255,326      

Depreciation and 
impairment

At 1 January 2023 4,051 1,075 68,737 27,124 94,921 195,908
Charge for the year 463 253 28,987 5,411 23,677 58,791
Elimination upon  

disposals/written off – – – (162) – (162)
Exchange adjustments (69) (1) 6 (2) – (66)      

At 31 December 2023 4,445 1,327 97,730 32,371 118,598 254,471
Charge for the year 114 169 39,133 5,334 15,968 60,718
Elimination upon transfer  

to investment properties  
(Note 19)

 
19

(7,370) (2,825) – – – (10,195)
Impairment loss recognised  

for the year 2,881 1,353 – – – 4,234
Elimination upon  

disposals/written off – – (220) (655) (105,720) (106,595)
Exchange adjustments (70) (24) (5) (19) – (118)      

At 31 December 2024 – – 136,638 37,031 28,846 202,515      

Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2024 – – 33,294 19,302 215 52,811

      

At 31 December 2023 55,572 9,347 59,730 22,631 22,465 169,745
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21. 

(a) 

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITIES

The Group leases assets including properties and equipment. 

Most of the leases of properties for both years are negotiated for 

terms ranging from one to three years while leases of equipment 

are negotiated for five years. In determining the length of the non-

cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract 

and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. 

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented 

below:

(a) Right-of-use assets

Properties Equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2023 140,395 1,944 142,339

Additions 38,933 – 38,933

Written off on expiry of lease (51,158) – (51,158)   

At 31 December 2023 and  

31 December 2024 128,170 1,944 130,114   

Depreciation

At 1 January 2023 49,886 519 50,405

Charge for the year 45,423 388 45,811

Elimination upon written off  

on expiry of lease (51,158) – (51,158)   

At 31 December 2023 44,151 907 45,058

Charge for the year 45,374 389 45,763   

At 31 December 2024 89,525 1,296 90,821   

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2024 38,645 648 39,293
   

At 31 December 2023 84,019 1,037 85,056
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21. 

(b) 

11 14

52,643,000

53,151,000

21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITIES (Cont’d)

(b) Lease liabilities

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities payable within a period of:

Less than one year 36,890 43,275

More than one year but within two years 1,795 36,891

More than two years but within five years – 1,793  

38,685 81,959

Less: Amounts due within one year (36,890) (43,275)  

Amounts due after one year 1,795 38,684
  

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are 

disclosed in Notes 11 and 14.

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December 

2024 was approximately HK$52,643,000 (2023: HK$53,151,000).
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22. 22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trading and

exchange

rights Trademark Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2023,   

31 December 2023 and   

31 December 2024

 

 

2,705 14,300 17,005   

Amortisation and 

 impairment

At 1 January 2023,   

31 December 2023 and   

31 December 2024

 

 

2,705 14,300 17,005   

Carrying amounts

At 31 December 2024 – – –
   

At 31 December 2023 – – –
   

The above intangible assets have definite useful lives. Such intangible 

assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over five years.
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23. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests in associates:

Cost of investments in associates

– unlisted  283,928 283,928

Share of post-acquisition profits/losses and 

other comprehensive income/expenses,  

net of dividends received

 

 

1,578,159 1,752,221  

1,862,087 2,036,149
  

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 December 

2024 are set out in Note 47.

The Company provided corporate guarantees to secure bank 

borrowings granted to its associates in prior years. The fair value of 

the financial guarantee contract at initial recognition was determined 

by an independent qualified professional valuer, and was recognised 

as investments accounted for using the equity method and financial 

guarantee liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial 

position.

The investment properties held by the Group’s principal associates 

were revalued as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Peak Vision 

Appraisals. Peak Vision Appraisals continues to adopt investment 

method and/or direct comparison method as the valuation 

methodologies for both years. The valuation methods and significant 

assumptions applied in determining the fair values of investment 

properties are detailed in Note 19.

All of the associates are accounted for using the equity method in 

these consolidated financial statements.

The information below reflects the amounts presented in the 

unaudited financial statements of associates which were prepared 

in accordance with HKFRSs adjusted for the differences arising from 

accounting policies and different financial year-end dates between 

the Group and the associates, if any.

23. 

47

19
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23. 23. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (Cont’d)

Interests in associates

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s 

material associate, Finedale Industries Limited, is set out below:

Finedale Industries Limited

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets 3,473,000 3,870,000

Current assets 133,711 92,515

Current liabilities (80,906) (77,424)  

Net assets 3,525,805 3,885,091
  

Revenue 130,879 128,360
  

(Loss) profit for the year (254,296) 286,943
  

Total comprehensive (expenses) income for the year (254,296) 286,943
  

Reconciliation of the summarised financial 

information presented to the carrying amount  

of its interest in the associate:

 

Net assets at 1 January 3,885,091 3,688,139

Total comprehensive (expenses) income  

for the year

 

(254,296) 286,943

Dividends declared (104,990) (89,991)  

Net assets at 31 December 3,525,805 3,885,091
  

Interest held by the Group 33.33% 33.33%

Group’s interest in the associate and  

the carrying amount

 

1,175,269 1,295,031
  

Dividends received from the associate  

during the year

 

34,997 29,997
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23. 

24. 

23. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD (Cont’d)

Interests in associates (Cont’d)

Aggregate financial information of associates that are not individually 

material:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Group’s share of results for the year (26,409) 200,625

Group’s share of other comprehensive  

expenses for the year

 

(5,641) (1,011)  

Group’s share of total comprehensive  

(expenses) income for the year

 

(32,050) 199,614
  

Group’s aggregate interests in these associates  

and the carrying amounts

 

686,818 741,118
  

Dividends received from associates  

during the year

 

22,250 70,075
  

24. ADVANCES TO ASSOCIATES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing advance to an associate 46,582 46,906

Interest-free advances to associates 12,750 13,107  

59,332 60,013
  

The advances to associates are unsecured. The Group will not 

demand for repayment within one year from the end of the reporting 

period and the amounts are therefore shown as non-current. 

The interest-bearing advance to an associate bears interest at the 

prevailing market rate.
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25. 

365,551,000

342,508,000

12,987,000  

55,621,000

7,101,000

25,077,000

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments held-for-trading (note (i)) (i) 128,166 188,545

Bonds (note (ii)) (ii) 237,385 153,963

Derivative financial instruments (note (iii)) (iii) 127 –

Club and corporate debentures (note (iv)) (iv) 54,280 57,170  

419,958 399,678
  

Analysed for reporting purpose as:

Non-current 54,315 60,359

Current 365,643 339,319  

419,958 399,678
  

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying amount of 

investments held-for-trading and bonds was approximately 

HK$365,551,000 (2023: HK$342,508,000), including investments 

held-for-trading and bonds with aggregate carrying amount of 

approximately HK$12,987,000 (2023: HK$55,621,000) which were 

available to be loaned to financial institution for earning lending fee 

income and the same or substantially the same securities would 

be returned to the Group, pursuant to the terms and conditions 

contained in the securities pooled lending agreements, of which 

investments held-for-trading of approximately HK$7,101,000 (2023: 

investments held-for-trading and bonds of HK$25,077,000) were on 

loan at the end of the reporting period.
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25. 

(i) 

127,073,000
188,545,000

1,093,000

5(c)

(ii) 
2.500 13.000

1.000 13.000
28,741,333

22,091,333
5.125

7.500 6.375 7.125

844,452
846,494
21,200,000
9,000,000

(iii) 

5(c)

(iv) 
5(c)

54,315,000  

60,359,000

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR 
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) The investments held-for-trading comprised equity securities 
listed in Hong Kong or elsewhere. As at 31 December 2024, 
carrying amount of approximately HK$127,073,000 (2023: 
HK$188,545,000) were traded in active markets and their fair 
values were determined based on the quoted market bid prices 
available on the respective stock exchanges in Hong Kong or 
elsewhere. The remaining with carrying amount of approximately 
HK$1,093,000 (2023: nil) was suspended trading listed equity 
securities which were measured at fair value with reference to 
valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional 
valuer, details of the fair value measurements are disclosed in 
Note 5(c).

(ii) The bonds denominated in US$ include zero coupon bond and 
the remaining bonds carry interests at fixed rates ranging from 
2.500% to 13.000% (2023: 1.000% to 13.000%) per annum, 
of which bonds with notional amount of US$28,741,333 (2023: 
US$22,091,333) are callable. The bonds denominated in GBP 
carry interests at fixed rates ranging from 5.125% to 7.500% 
(2023: 6.375% to 7.125%) per annum and are callable.

The listed bonds are traded in active market and stated at fair 
values at the end of the reporting period. Their fair values are 
determined with reference to market bid prices quoted by financial 
institutions and brokers.

The maturity dates of the bonds with material carrying amounts 
denominated in US$ and GBP are as follows:

Notional amount Maturity

US$844,452 2028
US$846,494 2029
US$21,200,000 Perpetual
GBP9,000,000 Perpetual

(iii) As at 31 December 2024, the derivative financial instruments 
represented foreign exchange forward contracts, which were 
measured at fair value with reference to valuation carried out by 
an independent qualified professional valuer, details of the fair 
value measurements are disclosed in Note 5(c).

(iv) The club and corporate debentures are stated at fair values at the 
end of the reporting period. Details of the fair value measurements 
are disclosed in Note 5(c).

Included in non-current assets, there were financial assets measured 

at FVTPL of approximately HK$54,315,000 (2023: HK$60,359,000). 

They were included in non-current assets according to their intended 

holding periods.
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26. 
 

72,126,000

84,992,000

43,773,000

78,208,000

5(c)

27. 
 

64,017,000

211,507,000

26. FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED 
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities 138,522 195,680
  

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount mainly comprised 

investments in a property investment in Hong Kong of approximately 

HK$72,126,000 (2023: HK$84,992,000) and a proper ty 

development project in Hong Kong of HK$43,773,000 (2023: 

HK$78,208,000).

For unlisted equity securities measured at fair value, details of the fair 

value measurements are disclosed in Note 5(c).

The financial assets measured at FVTOCI were included in non-

current assets according to their intended holding periods.

27. ADVANCES TO INVESTEE COMPANIES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest-bearing advance to an investee company 338,765 –

Interest-free advances to investee companies 70,942 631,412  

409,707 631,412
  

The advances to investee companies are unsecured. As at 

31 December 2024, except for amounts of approximately 

HK$64,017,000 (2023: HK$211,507,000) which were expected to 

be recovered within one year and were shown as current, the Group 

would not demand for repayment for the remaining amounts within 

one year from the end of the reporting period and the amounts were 

therefore shown as non-current.
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28. 

(a) 

1 ,008 ,194 ,000

152,929,000

28,980,000

(b) 

(c) 

28. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Pledged deposits

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks and 

f inancial inst i tut ion to secure credit faci l i t ies granted 

to the Group. Deposi ts amount ing to approximately 

HK$1,008,194,000 (2023: HK$152,929,000) have been 

pledged to secure short-term borrowings and are therefore 

classified as current assets. The remaining deposit amounting 

to approximately HK$28,980,000 (2023: nil) has been 

pledged to secure long-term borrowings and is therefore 

classified as non-current asset.

The pledged deposits carry interest at prevailing market 

deposit rates. The pledged deposits will be released upon the 

repayment of relevant borrowings.

(b) Securities trading receivables and deposits

Securities trading receivables and deposits are mainly amounts 

due from clearing house, brokers and clients.

(c) Time deposits, bank balances and cash

The time deposits and certain bank balances carry interest at 

prevailing market deposit rates. As at 31 December 2024 and 

2023, all of the time deposits had original maturity not greater 

than three months. The Group does not hold collateral over 

the deposit balances.
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29. 

11,324,000

6,607,000

29. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS, OTHER 
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 11,347 6,611

Less: Allowance for credit losses (23) (4)  

11,324 6,607

Deposits and prepayments 40,762 54,683

Interest receivables from bonds  

(net of allowance for credit losses)

 

4,964 4,665

Other receivables 107,927 143,380  

164,977 209,335
  

Analysed for reporting purpose as:

Non-current – 4,904

Current 164,977 204,431  

164,977 209,335
  

Included in debtors, deposits, other receivables and prepayments 

are trade receivables of approximately HK$11,324,000 (2023: 

HK$6,607,000), which comprised rental and building management 

fee receivables billed in advance and settlements from tenants which 

are expected upon receipts of billings and receivables from property 

management services and cosmetics business.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables (net of allowance for credit 

losses) of the Group’s major businesses are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental receivables from property leasing 5,128 1,262

Receivables from building and  

property management services  4,368 3,296

Receivables from cosmetics business 1,828 2,049  

11,324 6,607
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29. 
 

29. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS, OTHER 
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)

The Group maintains a defined credit policy to assess the credit 

quality of each counterparty. The collection is closely monitored to 

minimise any credit risk associated with these trade receivables. 

Rental and building management fee in respect of leased properties 

are payable in advance by the tenants. Other trade debtors settle 

their accounts according to the payment terms as stated in the 

respective contracts.

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables (net of 

allowance for credit losses), presented based on the respective 

revenue recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 5,666 3,336

31 – 60 days 1,752 1,652

61 – 90 days 821 933

Over 90 days 3,085 686  

11,324 6,607
  

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables which are past 

due but not impaired:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 6,538 4,732

31 – 60 days 422 178

61 – 90 days 107 21

Over 90 days 2,978 574  

10,045 5,505
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29. 
 

2,644,000

574,000

29. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS, OTHER 
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (Cont’d)

Movement in the allowance for credit losses:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 4 4

Allowance for credit losses recognised  

in respect of trade receivables

 

19 –  

At 31 December 23 4
  

For those past due but not impaired receivables, although the Group 

does not hold any collateral as security, the Group has assessed the 

creditworthiness, past payment history and substantial settlement 

after the end of the reporting period, and considers that the amounts 

are still recoverable and no further credit provision is required in 

excess of allowance for credit losses.

Out of the past due balances, trade receivables over 90 days 

comprise mainly rental and building management fee receivables 

of approximately HK$2,644,000 (2023: HK$574,000), which are 

sufficiently covered by rental and/or building management fee 

deposits received from the respective tenants, and no allowance is 

required for these receivables under the Group’s allowance policy.

Trade receivables which are neither overdue nor impaired are in 

good quality.
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30. 30. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities provided (assets 

recognised) by the Group and movements thereon during the 

current and prior reporting periods:

Investment 

properties

Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation Tax losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 39,846 32,389 (10,024) 62,211

Exchange adjustments 631 1,949 (22) 2,558

(Credited) charged to the 

consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income  

(Note 13)

 

13

(11,008) 15,209 (9,654) (5,453)    

At 31 December 2023  

29,469 49,547 (19,700) 59,316

Exchange adjustments – (614) 37 (577)

Charged (credited) to the 

consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income  

(Note 13)

 

13

545 (29,124) (1,152) (29,731)    

At 31 December 2024  

30,014 19,809 (20,815) 29,008
    

For the purpose of the presentation in the consolidated statement of 

financial position, certain deferred tax liabilities and assets have been 

offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for 

financial reporting purposes:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax liabilities 29,008 60,193

Deferred tax assets – (877)  

29,008 59,316
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30. 

5,866,000

3 , 6 0 2 , 4 8 7 , 0 0 0

3,602,605,000

31. 

30. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following 

major unrecognised deferred tax assets which were not recognised 

due to the unpredictability of the future profit streams.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accelerated tax depreciation (22) (28)

Tax losses (594,410) (595,896)  

(594,432) (595,924)
  

A s  a t  31  Decembe r  2024 ,  t h e  G roup  had  no  (2023 : 

HK$5,866,000) estimated unused tax losses not recognised which 

will be expired in one to five years, and the Group’s other major 

unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$3,602,487,000 (2023: 

HK$3,602,605,000) may be carried forward indefinitely and subject 

to the confirmation from the respective tax authority.

31. STOCK OF PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the stock of properties 

were completed properties and the Directors reviewed the carrying 

amounts of the completed properties with reference to prevailing 

market conditions and the estimated selling prices provided by Peak 

Vision Appraisals.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no write-

down of completed properties was recognised in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income.
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32. 

33. 

632,000 2,516,000

32,400,000 (

315,647,000 )

32. INVENTORIES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 4,177 3,475

Raw materials 473 604  

4,650 4,079
  

All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value.

33. CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS

Included in creditors and accruals are trade payables of approximately 

HK$632,000 (2023: HK$2,516,000).

The following is the aged analysis of trade payables, presented based 

on the invoice date, at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 90 days 183 765

Over 90 days 449 1,751  

632 2,516
  

As at 31 December 2024, creditors and accruals included value 

added tax payable of approximately GBP32,400,000 (equivalent to 

approximately HK$315,647,000) received from the Buyer in relation 

to disposal of a property in the United Kingdom.
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34. 

 

0.90 1.30

0.75 1.30

1.62

1.25 1.62 1.65

34. BORROWINGS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured bank borrowings repayable within  

a period of (note):

 

Less than one year 926,302 1,303,871

More than one year but within two years 891,804 73,871

More than two years but within five years 380,880 1,586,452  

2,198,986 2,964,194  

Secured bank borrowings that contain repayment 

on demand clause (shown as current liabilities) 

but repayable within a period of (note):

 

 

Less than one year – 587,139

More than one year but within two years – 11,139

More than two years but within five years – 33,417

More than five years – 255,959  

– 887,654  

Total secured bank borrowings 2,198,986 3,851,848

Other secured borrowing repayable  

on demand or within one year

 

729,472 –  

Total secured bank and other borrowings 2,928,458 3,851,848

Less: Amounts due within one year (1,655,774) (2,191,525)  

Amounts due after one year 1,272,684 1,660,323
  

Note: The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates as set 
out in the loan agreements.

The bank borrowings denominated in HK$ are variable-rate 

borrowings which carry interest ranging from HIBOR plus 0.90% 

to 1.30% (2023: ranging from HIBOR plus 0.75% to 1.30%) per 

annum.

The borrowing(s) denominated in GBP from bank (2023: banks 

and financial institution) is(were) variable-rate borrowing(s) which 

carries(ed) interest at compounded reference rate plus 1.62% 

(2023: cost of funds of financial institution plus 1.25% or ranging 

from compounded reference rate plus 1.62% to 1.65%) per annum.
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34. 

0.35

2,198,986,000

2,964,194,000

35. 

34. BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

The other borrowing denominated in HK$ from financial institution is 

variable-rate borrowing which carries interest at cost of funds of the 

financial institution plus 0.35% per annum.

The Group’s borrowing that is denominated in currency other than 

HK$ is set out below:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

GBP 485,486 1,617,348
  

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all borrowings were guaranteed 

by the Company and/or a subsidiary of the Company.

In respect of bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately 

HK$2,198,986,000 (2023: HK$2,964,194,000) as at 31 December 

2024, the Group is required to comply with respective financial 

covenants in relation to the Group’s consolidated tangible net worth 

shall not be less than certain threshold throughout the continuance 

of the relevant borrowings and/or as long as the borrowings 

are outstanding. The Group has complied with these covenants 

throughout the reporting period.

35. SHARE CAPITAL

Movement in the share capital of the Company during the years is as 

follows:

Number of shares Share capital

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of 

HK$0.10 each

0.10

Authorised:

At 1 January and  

31 December

 

5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 500,000 500,000
    

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January and  

31 December

 

1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 190,762 190,762
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36. 
 

37. 

Oval Gymkhana Holdco Limited Oval

Oval

Oval

22,920,000 229,964,000

96,415,000

967,360,000

6,198,000 62,191,000

50,653,000

36. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES, INVESTEE 
COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING 
SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts due to associates, investee companies and non-

controlling shareholders are unsecured and interest-free. The 

associates, investee companies and non-controlling shareholders 

will not demand for repayment within one year from the end of 

the reporting period and the amounts are therefore shown as non-

current.

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

State Smart Disposal

On 14 August 2024, Capital Castle Global Limited (“Capital Castle”), 

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and Oval 

Gymkhana Holdco Limited (“Oval”), which is an independent third 

party, entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to 

which Capital Castle agreed to sell and Oval agreed to acquire the 

entire issued share capital of State Smart.

Completion of the State Smart Disposal took place immediately 

after signing of the sale and purchase agreement. At completion, 

Oval repaid on behalf of State Smart its bank debt (including 

principal, interest and related fees) (“Bank Debt”) of approximately 

GBP22,920,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$229,964,000) 

and amount due to the Group of approximately GBP96,415,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$967,360,000) to its respective 

creditors. The consideration for sale share amounted to approximately 

GBP6,198,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$62,191,000).

The cash consideration of approximately HK$50,653,000 was 

received during the year ended 31 December 2024 and the 

remaining of the consideration is expected to be received within one 

year from the end of the reporting period. The transfer of control 

over State Smart has been completed on 14 August 2024.

Upon completion, State Smart ceased to be a subsidiary of the 

Company and its financial results, assets and liabilities were ceased 

to be consolidated with those of the Group.

Deta i l s o f the Sta te Smar t D isposa l were set out in the 

announcement of the Company dated 15 August 2024 and the 

circular of the Company dated 17 September 2024.
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37. 

12

37. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Cont’d)

State Smart Disposal (Cont’d)

2024

HK$’000

The net assets of State Smart as at the date of disposal  

were as follows:

Investment properties (Note 19) 19 1,254,162

Other receivables and prepayment 7,918

Creditors and accruals (2,366)

Receipts in advance (5,103)

Tax liabilities (862) 

Net assets disposed of 1,253,749

Release of translation reserve upon disposal 98,247

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (100,142) 

1,251,854
 

Satisfied by:

Cash consideration 50,653

Consideration receivable 11,538 

Sale share consideration 62,191

Settlement of Bank Debt by Oval Oval 229,964

Settlement of amount due to the Group by Oval Oval 967,360

Expenses incurred for disposal (7,661) 

1,251,854
 

Net cash inflow arising from disposal:

Cash consideration 50,653

Settlement of amount due to the Group by Oval Oval 967,360

Expenses incurred for disposal (7,661) 

1,010,352
 

The loss on the State Smart Disposal was included in other gains and 

losses (Note 12) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income.
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38. 

26,005,000

76,000,000 57,247,000

72,172,000

39.  

38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, dividend income 

from an investee company and associates of approximately 

HK$26,005,000 (2023: HK$76,000,000) and approximately 

HK$57,247,000 (2023: HK$72,172,000) respectively have been 

settled through the current accounts with the investee company and 

associates.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in these consolidated 

financial statements, the Group did not have major non-cash 

transactions.

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising 

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified as cash flows from 

financing activities in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash 

flows.

Borrowings

Amounts
due to non-
controlling

shareholders
Lease

liabilities
Interest
payable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 4,886,932 275 88,576 17,360 4,993,143
Financing cash flows (1,145,154) (19) (45,640) (230,461) (1,421,274)
Exchange adjustments 110,070 – – 621 110,691
Dividend declared to a non-controlling shareholder  

– 19 – – 19
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new 

leases during the year
 

– – 35,255 – 35,255
Total interest (Note 11) 11 – – 3,768 229,066 232,834     

At 31 December 2023  
3,851,848 275 81,959 16,586 3,950,668

Financing cash flows (674,324) – (46,038) (232,063) (952,425)
Exchange adjustments (19,333) – – 18 (19,315)
Disposal of a subsidiary (229,733) – – (79) (229,812)
Total interest (Note 11) 11 – – 2,764 224,415 227,179     

At 31 December 2024  
2,928,458 275 38,685 8,877 2,976,295
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40. 

41. 

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the assets 

pledged by the Group to secure general banking and other loan 

facilities granted to the Group, are analysed as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 4,054,477 9,281,591

Properties – 40,281

Financial assets measured at fair value  

through profit or loss

 

231,669 –

Current pledged deposits 1,008,194 152,929

Non-current pledged deposit 28,980 –  

5,323,320 9,474,801
  

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, interests in certain subsidiaries 

of the Company have been pledged as part of the security to secure 

certain bank borrowings granted to the Group.

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised and contracted for:

Redevelopment expenditure of properties 344,813 523,046

Refurbishment of properties – 27,516

Purchases of equipment and leasehold 

improvement – 8,748  

344,813 559,310
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43. 

204,616,000 257,223,000

28,347,000

20,392,000

1,600,000 1,170,000

42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantee given to a bank in respect of banking 

facilities in lieu of the cash public utility deposit 

jointly utilised by subsidiaries

 

15,000 15,000

Guarantees given to banks in respect of banking 

facilities utilised by investee companies/

indemnity given to a third party in relation to  

an investee company

 

 

827,830 613,830  

842,830 628,830
  

No provision for financial guarantee contracts and/or deed of 

indemnity have been made as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 as 

the Directors considered the default risk is low.

43. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was approximately 

HK$204,616,000 (2023: HK$257,223,000) less outgoings of 

approximately HK$28,347,000 (2023: HK$20,392,000).

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate 

amounted to approximately HK$1,600,000 (2023: HK$1,170,000) 

for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Most of the investment properties of the Group held in Hong Kong 

have committed tenants with lease terms which ranged from two to 

three years and in the United Kingdom have committed tenants with 

lease terms of five years or above.
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43. 

44. 

5% 10%

7,983,000 8,548,000

43. OPERATING LEASES (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor (Cont’d)

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, 

showing the undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases to be received after the reporting date.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 136,248 196,937

More than one year but within two years 103,211 107,582

More than two years but within three years 71,410 63,380

More than three years but within four years 37,981 44,962

More than four years but within five years 31,662 43,788

More than five years 168,547 204,623  

549,059 661,272
  

44. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement schemes in 

Hong Kong, namely the Occupational Retirement Scheme (“ORSO 

Scheme”) and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF 

Scheme”). Contributions to the ORSO Scheme made by the Group 

are based on a percentage of scheme members’ salaries ranging 

from 5% to 10%, the more year of service, the higher percentage of 

contribution. From 1 December 2000, newly joined employees are 

compulsorily required to join the MPF Scheme. The employer and its 

employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme 

at rates specified in the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The total costs charged to the consol idated statement of 

comprehensive income of approximately HK$7,983,000 (2023: 

HK$8,548,000) represented contributions payable to these schemes 

by the Group for the year.
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45. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS

Transactions:

In prior years, the Group entered into lease agreements (“Leases”) in 

respect of leases of certain leasehold properties held by a company 

controlled by a Director and the Trustee of Substantial Shareholders 

as headquarters and premises intended to be used in connection 

with the sale of a property redevelopment project of the Group.

Under the Leases, the aggregate amount of the current rent and 

building management fee payable per month are approximately 

HK$3,610,000 and approximately HK$537,000 respectively; and the 

aggregate amount of security deposit paid as at 31 December 2024 

was approximately HK$12,937,000. At the commencement date 

of the respective Leases, the Group recognised the present value 

of the lease payments over the lease term as lease liability and the 

aggregate amount of lease liability and estimated costs to be incurred 

by the Group for restoration of the property as right-of-use asset. As 

at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying amount of the lease 

liability and the right-of-use asset of the Leases were approximately 

HK$34,294,000 (2023: HK$75,085,000) and approximately 

HK$34,088,000 (2023: HK$76,727,000) respectively. Rent 

and building management fee of the Leases for the year ended 

31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$49,758,000 

(2023: HK$51,484,000) in aggregate. The transactions of the 

Leases constituted connected transactions and continuing connected 

transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Leases were disclosed in the announcements of the 

Company dated 12 June 2020, 28 March 2022 and 13 March 2023 

and the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in the section 

headed “Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

45.  

3,610,000

537,000

12,937,000

34,294,000

75,085,000 34,088,000

76,727,000

49,758,000

51,484,000

14A
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Transactions: (Cont’d)

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in these consolidated 

financial statements, the Group had the following material 

transactions with related parties during the years:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

Income received from associates:

Interest income 1,921 1,922

Accountancy fee 120 120

Management fee 48 48

Income received from a Director and  

the Trustee of Substantial Shareholders,  

close family members of Directors and/or  

the Trustee of Substantial Shareholders, 

companies controlled by Directors and/or  

the Trustee of Substantial Shareholders and 

an entity of which the Trustee of Substantial 

Shareholders is a member of the key 

management personnel:

 

 

 

 

 

Rental services 6,903 4,414

Property management services,  

leasing administration services and  

property administration services

 

 

29,718 28,505

Advisory and consultancy services 40 39

Other ordinary services 25 74

Licence fee paid to a company controlled by

 a Director and the Trustee of

 Substantial Shareholders

 

– 7

Rent and building management fee paid to 

associates

 

4,283 4,286
  

45.  



249二零二四年年報    華人 業集團

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended 31 December 2024 

45. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Transactions: (Cont’d)

Interest income was charged at the prevailing market rates based 

on outstanding balances during the year. Accountancy fee was 

charged based on an appropriate allocation of costs incurred by 

central administrative departments of the Group. Management fee, 

licence fee, rent, building management fee and security deposit 

paid were determined based on terms similar to those applicable to 

transactions with unrelated parties.

Income from services fees of rental services, property management 

services, leasing administration services, property administration 

services, advisory and consultancy services and other ordinary 

services (the contract for services with effect from 1 November 2023 

(details were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 

16 August 2023) and the former contract for services (details were 

disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 August 

2020 and the circular of the Company dated 7 October 2020)) were 

charged at the terms agreed by both parties. These related party 

transactions constituted continuing connected transactions of the 

Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of these 

continuing connected transactions are disclosed in the paragraph 

headed “Connected Transactions” in the section headed “Directors’ 

Report” of this annual report.

In prior year, the Group entered into a facility agreement with a 

Director. At the request of the Group, the Director has agreed 

to make available to the Group a revolving loan facility of up to 

HK$2,000,000,000. During the year ended 31 December 2024, 

the Group entered into a new facility agreement (effective upon 

termination of the former facility agreement) with the Director with 

the same revolving loan facility amount and an amount equivalent 

to approximately HK$97,579,000 (2023: HK$282,210,000) was 

drawn and the loan had been fully repaid. As at 31 December 2024, 

there was no outstanding balance of loan from the Director (2023: 

nil). The facility is unsecured and interest-free. The transactions 

were fully exempted from reporting, announcement, independent 

shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements under 

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

45.  

14A

2,000,000,000

97,579,000
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TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Balances:

Save as disclosed above, at the end of the reporting period, the 

Group had balances with a Director and the Trustee of Substantial 

Shareholders, companies controlled by Directors and/or the 

Trustee of Substantial Shareholders and an entity of which the 

Trustee of Substantial Shareholders is a member of the key 

management personnel of approximately HK$20,256,000 (2023: 

HK$23,619,000) in aggregate which was included in debtors and 

other receivables.

Details of the balances with other related parties at the end of the 

reporting period are set out in Notes 24 and 36.

Key management personnel emoluments:

Remuneration for key management personnel is disclosed in Notes 

15 and 16. The remuneration of the Directors and senior executives 

is recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company 

for the approval of the board of Directors having regard to the 

performance of individuals, their respective duties and responsibilities 

in the Group and the prevailing market condition as appropriate.

45.  

20,256,000

23,619,000

24 36

15 16
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars 

of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and therefore the 

following list contains only the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 

which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/ 

operation

Class of share/ 

registered 

capital held

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital/ 

registered capital

Proportion of 

paid-up share capital/ 

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Cardin Factory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property trading

2

Chase Master Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Securities investment

2

Chinese Estates, Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000

1,000

100% – Investment holding 

and provision of 

management services

Chinese Estates (Harcourt House) 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200

200

– 100% Property investment 

Country Homes Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200 – 100% Property investment

200

Non-voting 

deferred ordinary 

HK$164,400

164,400

Non-voting 

deferred founder

HK$1,000

1,000

Evergo China Holdings Limited Bermuda/Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,775,869.10 – 100% Investment holding

100,775,869.10

46. 
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/ 

operation

Class of share/ 

registered 

capital held

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital/ 

registered capital

Proportion of 

paid-up share capital/ 

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Evergo Holdings (China)  

Company Limited

British Virgin Islands/ 

Hong Kong

Ordinary US$2,509,454

2,509,454

– 100% Investment holding

Evergo International Holdings 

Company Limited

Bermuda/Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200,000

200,000

100% – Investment holding

Express Right Limited British Virgin Islands/

United Kingdom

Ordinary US$1

1

– 100% Property investment

Fair Eagle Finance Credit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$50,000,000

50,000,000

– 100% Securities margin 

financier

Fair Eagle Futures Company  

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000

5,000,000

– 100% Broking and dealing in 

futures contracts and 

provision of 

advisory services on 

futures contracts

Fair Eagle Securities Company 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$228,000,000

228,000,000

– 100% Provision of brokerage 

and advisory services 

on securities

Globe Eagle Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

2

Hero Harmony Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

46.  46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/ 

operation

Class of share/ 

registered 

capital held

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital/ 

registered capital

Proportion of 

paid-up share capital/ 

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Hillsborough Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ 

Hong Kong

Ordinary US$1

1

– 100% Property investment

JC No. 3 (UK) Limited United Kingdom Ordinary GBP1

1

– 100% Provision of 

management services

KNIGHTLIGHTS PROPERTY 

INTERNATIONAL S.A.

Luxembourg Ordinary GBP33,000

33,000

– 100% Property investment 

Landrich (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 – 100% Property investment

1,000

Paul Y. Holdings Company Limited Cayman Islands/ 

Hong Kong

Ordinary HK$70,715,005.70

70,715,005.70

100% – Investment holding

Perfect World Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 100% Property management

10,000

Pinwheel Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$8 – 100% Property investment

8

River Court Properties Limited Isle of Man/ 

United Kingdom

Ordinary GBP2

2

– 100% Property investment

Smart Profit (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

2

Sound City Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

2

46. 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 

 

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation/ 

operation

Class of share/ 

registered 

capital held

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital/ 

registered capital

Proportion of 

paid-up share capital/ 

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Speed Win Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property trading

2

The House of Kwong Sang 

 Hong Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000

500,000

– 100% Cosmetics distribution 

and trading

Tycoon Fame Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

PRC Registered US$500,000 – 100% Property investment

(Evergo (Beijing) Corporate 

Management Co., Ltd.)

500,000

PRC Registered US$1,250,000 – 100% Property trading

(Evergo Investment Counsel  

(Beijing) Co., Ltd.)

1,250,000

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at 

the end of the reporting period or at any time during the reporting 

period.

 Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

46. 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars 

of all associates would be of excessive length and therefore the 

following list contains only the associates as at 31 December 2024 

which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

Name of associate

Place of 

incorporation/ 

operation

Class of share/ 

registered 

capital held

Issued and 

fully paid 

share capital/ 

registered capital

Proportion of 

equity attributable 

indirectly to 

the Company Principal activities

Best Profit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1

1

25% Property investment 

and trading

Direct Win Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$900 33.33% Property trading

900

Finedale Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$9,999 33.33% Property investment

9,999

Power Jade Limited  

(Business name:  

Power Jade Capital Limited)

British Virgin Islands/

Hong Kong

Ordinary US$20

20

50% Investment holding

Power Jade Capital Limited

The Kwong Sang Hong  

International Limited

Bermuda Ordinary HK$100,000

100,000

50% Investment holding

✝

Oriental Arts Building Co., Ltd.✝
PRC Registered US$24,920,000

24,920,000

50% Property investment 

and hotel operation

✝ Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise

47. 

✝ 
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 5,135,758 5,135,758
Loans to subsidiaries 2,312,499 2,323,654  

7,448,257 7,459,412  

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 6,000,113 8,627,262
Other current assets 1,702 680
Time deposits and bank balances 894,365 66,026  

6,896,180 8,693,968  

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries 962,652 101,363
Other current liabilities 1,049 513  

963,701 101,876  

Net current assets 5,932,479 8,592,092  

Total assets less current liabilities 13,380,736 16,051,504
  

Equity attributable to owners of  
the Company
Share capital 35 190,762 190,762
Capital redemption reserve 138,062 138,062
Other reserve 9 9
Retained profits 11,737,903 13,882,671  

Total equity 12,066,736 14,211,504  

Non-current liability
Loans from subsidiaries 1,314,000 1,840,000  

13,380,736 16,051,504
  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 

28 February 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan, Hoi-wan
Director

48.  

Chan, Lok-wan
Director
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

Reserve movement of the Company

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Other 

reserve

Retained 

profits

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2023 138,062 9 13,650,701

Profit for the year – – 227,451

Unclaimed dividends forfeited 

(note)

 

– – 4,519   

At 31 December 2023 138,062 9 13,882,671

Loss for the year – – (2,144,768)   

At 31 December 2024 138,062 9 11,737,903
   

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2023, unclaimed dividends 
forfeited represented dividends declared by the Company on or 
before 31 May 2017 remaining unclaimed by shareholders of 
the Company on 21 August 2023, and the unclaimed dividends 
amounted to approximately HK$4,519,000 were forfeited and 
transferred to retained profits.

49. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised 

for issue by the board of Directors on 28 February 2025.

48. 

 

4,519,000

49.  



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 

years is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results

Revenue 336,812 479,589 1,434,990 1,299,826 3,041,464
     

(Loss) profit before tax (2,123,964) 104,297 1,179,145 (3,480,360) 692,546

Income tax credit (expense) 16,044 (27,158) (26,825) (33,188) (70,282)     

(Loss) profit for the year (2,107,920) 77,139 1,152,320 (3,513,548) 622,264
     

(Loss) profit for the year 

attributable to:

 

Owners of the Company (2,108,331) 76,832 1,152,235 (3,515,305) 622,233

Non-controlling interests 411 307 85 1,757 31     

(2,107,920) 77,139 1,152,320 (3,513,548) 622,264
     

(Loss) earnings per share (HK$)

Basic and diluted (note) (1.11) 0.04 0.60 (1.84) 0.33
     

Total comprehensive (expenses)  

income for the year  

attributable to:

 

 

Owners of the Company (2,144,768) 227,451 (403,753) (14,375,706) (4,978,617)

Non-controlling interests 411 307 85 1,757 31     

(2,144,357) 227,758 (403,668) (14,373,949) (4,978,586)
     

Final and interim dividends  

per share (HK cents) 3 – – – 2
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY 

 

Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 

years is as follows: (Cont’d)

At 31 December

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 15,701,305 18,545,466 19,434,515 21,597,070 37,469,379

Total liabilities (3,610,561) (4,310,365) (5,431,672) (7,198,240) (8,689,129)     

Total equity 12,090,744 14,235,101 14,002,843 14,398,830 28,780,250
     

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 12,066,736 14,211,504 13,979,534 14,375,606 28,758,783

Non-controlling interests 24,008 23,597 23,309 23,224 21,467     

12,090,744 14,235,101 14,002,843 14,398,830 28,780,250
     

Net asset value per share 

attributable to owners of  

the Company (HK$)

 

 

6.33 7.45 7.33 7.54 15.08
     

Number of shares issued 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079 1,907,619,079
     

Note: The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share is 
based on the (loss) profit attributable to owners of the Company for the 
years and on the weighted average number of shares in issue during the 
relevant years. Diluted (loss) earnings per share was the same as the 
basic (loss) earnings per share as there were no potential ordinary shares 
of the Company in issue during the relevant years.
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The following table sets forth the Group’s major properties as at 31 December 2024:

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG

Properties held for investment

Location Lot number Usage

Category of 
the lease 

term

Group’s 
interest

1. Harcourt House
(excluding 7th, 8th, 9th, 22nd, 

23rd, 25th, 26th and 27th floors, 

rooms 1004 and 1805)

39 Gloucester Road 

Wanchai, Hong Kong

(including 113 car parking spaces)

39

7 8 9 22 23 25

26 27 1004 1805

113

Certain parts or shares of and 

in Inland Lot No. 8573

8573

Commercial Long 100%

2. Causeway Place*

Various shops on ground floor, 

mezzanine floor, 1st and 2nd floors and 

their respective portions of exterior walls, 

together with flats C, I, J, K, L, N, O, P, Q

(each including a flat roof) and H on 3rd floor 

Hong Kong Mansion

nos. 1-7 Paterson Street and 

nos. 2-10 Great George Street 

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

*

1–7

2–10

1 2

3 C I J K L N O P Q

H

Certain parts or shares of and 

in Inland Lot No. 7742

7742

Residential/

Commercial

Long 100%

* Certain shops have been sold
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES 

Location Lot number Usage

Category of 
the lease 

term

Group’s 
interest

3. Nos. 14-18 Ma Kok Street*
Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong

14 18 *

Tsuen Wan Town
Lot No. 128

128

Industrial Medium 100%

4. Nos. 86 and 88 Apliu Street
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon, Hong Kong

86 88

New Kowloon Inland 
Lot Nos. 1702 and 1703

1702 1703

Residential/
Commercial

/

Medium 100%

5. Various Portions of
No. 1 Hung To Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(including certain workshop units and

car parking spaces)

1

Certain parts or shares of and
in Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 415

415

Industrial Medium 33.33%

6. Olympian City 3
1 Hoi Wang Road

South West Kowloon, Hong Kong

(including certain private car parking spaces

and motorcycle parking spaces)

1

Certain parts or shares of and
in Kowloon Inland Lot 
Nos. 11167 and 11168

11167 11168

Commercial Medium 25%

7. Coronation Circle
1 Yau Cheung Road

South West Kowloon, Hong Kong

(including certain private car parking spaces 

and motorcycle parking spaces)

1

Certain parts or shares of and
in Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11073

11073

Commercial Medium 15%

* Under redevelopment
 

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES 

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Property held for development

Location Lot number 

Stage of 

completion 

Expected

completion

date

Approximate

site area

(square feet)

Estimated

gross 

floor area

(square feet)

Usage 

Category of 

the lease 

term 

Group’s

interest

1. Kai Tak Project

Kai Tak Area 2A

Site 2 and Site 3

Kai Tak, Kowloon 

2A

2 3

New Kowloon 

Inland Lot 

No. 6590

6590

Design and 

foundation 

in progress

Fourth quarter

of 2030

145,303 992,279* Residential/

Retail/ 

Government

Accommodation

Medium 10%

* Excluding government accommodation 
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES 

PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA

Properties held for investment

Location Usage

Category of 

the lease 

term

Group’s 

interest

1. Hilton Beijing

1 Dongfang Road, North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

1

Hotel Allocated* 50%

2. Oriental Place

9 East Dongfang Road, North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

9

Office Allocated* 50%

* Land use rights have been granted by way of allocation with unspecified expiry date.
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SCHEDULE OF PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES 

PROPERTIES IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

Properties held for investment

Location Usage

Category of 

the lease 

term

Group’s 

interest

1. 120 Fleet Street*

116–129 Fleet Street

London, EC4, United Kingdom

Fleet Street 120 *

EC4

Fleet Street 116–129

Commercial Freehold 100%

2. 61–67 Oxford Street and

11–14 Soho Street

61–67 (odd) Oxford Street and

11–14 Soho Street

London, W1, United Kingdom

Oxford Street 61–67

Soho Street 11–14

W1

Oxford Street 61–67 ( )

Soho Street 11–14

Residential/

Commercial

Freehold 100%

* Under redevelopment
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